Josef Wieland, Julika Baumann Montecinos (eds.)

# Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence

**m**etropolis

Josef Wieland, Julika Baumann Montecinos (eds.) Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence

### **Transcultural Management Series**

Edited by Josef Wieland

Volume 2

### Josef Wieland and Julika Baumann Montecinos (eds.)

## **Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence**

Metropolis-Verlag Marburg 2019

#### **Bibliographic information published by Die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek**

Die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data is available on the Internet at <a href="https://portal.dnb.de">https://portal.dnb.de</a>>.

Metropolis-Verlag für Ökonomie, Gesellschaft und Politik GmbH https://www.metropolis-verlag.de Copyright: Metropolis-Verlag, Marburg 2019 All rights reserved ISBN 978-3-7316-1351-0

### Contents

Preface
Contributors
Josef Wieland and Julika Baumann Montecinos
A Competence-based Approach to Transcultural Leadership -
Introduction to a Research Program 11
Josef Wieland
Transculturality as a Leadership Style – A Relational Approach
Thilo von Gilsa
Operationalizing Transcultural Competence.
An Analysis of Related Concepts and Methods of Measurements 43
Antonin Salice-Stephan
Transcultural by Biography.
A Comparative Study on the Transcultural Competences
of 'Biculturals' and 'Monoculturals'
Sebastian Urthaler
Transculturality and its Focus on Commonalities 113
Tobias Grünfelder
From Global to Transcultural Competence.
Derived Findings for Transcultural Competence from the
Global Competence Assessment by PISA 143

#### Contents

Julika Baumann Montecinos, Elena Hunzinger,	
Preeti Singh and Sabine Wiesmüller	
Transcultural Management in Global Firms	181
Josef Wieland and Julika Baumann Montecinos	
University Education in Transcultural Competence.	
The Example of the Global Studies Projects at	
Zeppelin University	225

6

### Preface

The globalization of individual and collective action and the cultural challenges that this entails can be observed in many different contexts. Economic, political and societal developments, such as the increasing relevance of global value chains, lead to the continuous extension and aggregation of networks of cross-border relations, as well as to their constant transformation. Diversity itself is diverse – it can refer to different national, regional, professional, sectoral, generational cultures and many other dimensions –, and realities are described as being volatile, uncertain, complex and ambiguous, particularly in a global context. This calls for a concept of leadership that goes beyond traditional assumptions on static cultural differences, but rather focuses on the determinants of practical cooperation and of learning processes with a view to creating commonalities.

Against this backdrop, the concept of transcultural leadership is gaining increasing attention among academics and practitioners. This volume presents the current state of research on this concept and the corresponding competence models. It contains a selection of articles written by scholars, research fellows and graduates at Zeppelin University's Leadership Excellence Institute. By combining innovative theoretical and conceptual approaches with topical empirical analyses, this book aims to offer a sound foundation for reflections on what it means to be a successful leader in today's and tomorrow's globalising environments.

We should like to thank all colleagues, students, practitioners and experts who have shaped our transcultural learning journey thus far by contributing to our research and teaching formats, projects and conferences in many ways. Our thanks go to Nils Geib for his considerable support in the editing process, and to all the authors and readers of this volume.

Friedrichshafen, July 2019

Josef Wieland Julika Baumann Montecinos

### Contributors

*Dr Julika Baumann Montecinos* is a researcher and lecturer at the Chair of Institutional Economics – Organizational Governance, Integrity Management & Transcultural Leadership at the Leadership Excellence Institute of Zeppelin University, Germany. She leads the research group "Transcultural Competence" and is project manager of the "Transcultural Caravan", a hub for global thinking and research (www.transcultural-caravan.org).

*Thilo von Gilsa* was a Rotary exchange student in India and did AFS community service in Paraguay, both for one year. His early international experience encouraged him to study Sociology, Politics & Economics at Zeppelin University. He studied for one semester at the University of São Paulo and wrote his Bachelor thesis about Operationalizing Transcultural Competence. Global perspective is also a part of his work as a Business Development Manager for the social start-up Volunteer Vision.

*Tobias Grünfelder* is a research fellow and doctoral candidate at the Chair of Institutional Economics – Organizational Governance, Integrity Management & Transcultural Leadership at Zeppelin University, Germany. He earned his Master of Arts degree in Politics, Administration and International Relations from Zeppelin University, Germany, and his Bachelor's degree in Philosophy and Economics from the University of Bayreuth, Germany.

*Elena Hunzinger* is a Ph.D. candidate at Zeppelin University, conducting research into leadership of multi-stakeholder partnerships for sustainable development. She was a doctoral fellow in Business Ethics at the Wittenberg Center for Global Ethics, holds an M.A. in Management and the CEMS MIM from the Nova School of Business & Economics and the Vienna University of Economics & Business, and a B.A. in Culture & Business from the University of Mannheim. She has gained project and research experience in various industries.

Antonin Salice-Stephan is a Ph.D. fellow at the Leadership Excellence Institute Zeppelin. After his B.A. in Philosophy & Economics in Bayreuth, he continued his studies in the field of Corporate Management & Economics at Zeppelin University. He now works for the in-house consultancy arm of the German armed forces, focusing on strategic projects of the German Ministry of Defence.

*Preeti Singh* is currently pursuing her doctorate at Zeppelin University in Germany. Before starting her Ph.D., she worked as an HR Business Partner in Indian multinationals. Her background is reflected in her writing, which provides a comprehensive overview of the social and psychological environment of organizations. Her multi-cultural perspective was of significant help in undertaking the study on transcultural leadership and transcultural competence.

*Sebastian Urthaler* holds a degree in Politics, Administration and International Relations from Zeppelin University, focusing on transcultural cooperation, transcultural competencies and sustainable development. He co-organized the Transcultural Leadership Summit 2017 on "Learning about Sub-Saharan Africa". Having gained significant experience at the World Bank in Washington D.C. beforehand, he joined Brunswick Group, an advisory firm specializing in so-called 'business critical' issues, in 2018.

*Prof Dr Josef Wieland* is Professor of Institutional Economics – Organizational Governance, Integrity Management & Transcultural Leadership, Director of the Leadership Excellence Institute Zeppelin and Vice-President (Research) of Zeppelin University, Germany. He is the author of, inter alia, the theory of "Relational Economics", as well as the founder and Academic Director of the "Transcultural Caravan".

*Sabine Wiesmüller* is a doctoral candidate in Business Ethics at Zeppelin University, where her research is concerned with the societal implications of Artificial Intelligence and AI governance. Furthermore, she is project lead in Zeppelin University's Bodensee Innovation Cluster for Digital Transformation where she applies her research to practice and works with companies on providing solutions for the challenges stemming from the rise of exponential technologies.

## A Competence-based Approach to Transcultural Leadership – Introduction to a Research Program

Josef Wieland and Julika Baumann Montecinos

The interest in transculturality stems from the observation that, in a globalizing world, collaboration for mutual benefit can only succeed if people with a diverse background actually cooperate. The notion of cooperation lies at the core of the transcultural approach and marks both the means of, and the claim for, a specific quality of social interaction. It connotes that, by relating the involved actors, their interests and their resources in the event of a cooperation project, it is possible to form local, temporary and transaction-specific communities of practice and to base them on emerging cultural commonalities which may be stabilized and persist if they are developed in a joint learning process.

Against this background, questions arise as to what the prerequisites and framework conditions are for people to be able to form real and concrete cooperative communities and to create cultural, social or economic commonalities in a global context. Addressing these questions on enabling factors for successful transcultural cooperation has far-reaching implications for leadership and for insights on leadership-related competences. To work on and develop these topics is what we are doing in our research program on transcultural leadership and transcultural competence as part of a theory of relational economics (cf. Wieland 2018a), and what we would like to outline briefly in this introduction to the book at hand.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Parts of this introduction go back to an interview between Josef Wieland and Julika Baumann Montecinos, which was published in the annual of the Forum Wirtschaftsethik (Wieland 2018b: 112-122).

I.

In order to understand the contributions the transcultural approach makes to the cultural and social sciences, it seems to be appropriate to distinguish it from other existing approaches. A central distinction is from the concept of intercultural management<sup>2</sup>, which focuses on the question of difference in the sense of emphasizing the distinction between one national culture and others. Interculturality aims at the frictionless interaction of individual interests, which can be established via knowledge, tolerance and reconciliation of differences. It is based on identity theory, which means that it is based on a cultural belonging to a nation. The transcultural approach is not about conciliation or reconciliation of differences and thus about their neutralization. Rather, it suggests acknowledging differences, accepting them, even enduring them, but not judging them, and, on the basis of this, attempts are made to develop local commonalities and communities of practice as something new and third. This call for a non-normative and practical approach lies at the core of the transcultural concept.

From a transculturally-oriented point of view, a rather problematic starting point of the considerations that the intercultural approach undertakes is to look at national cultures. The decision for this subject of analysis inevitably goes hand in hand with a focus on conflicts and corresponding conflict resolution mechanisms, and this lies not least in the fact that a national culture can only be conceived as a contrast to another national culture from the point of view of belonging, of identity. Contrary to that, the research program of transcultural leadership considers not the nation but a specific transaction as its conceptual starting point. To this transaction, all actors attach an expectation of benefit and therefore a common interest in its realization. That is, the necessary starting point of this form of emerging community is already established, namely this specific transaction.

In summary, the distinction between both concepts can be condensed to the question of whether the reference is nations or transactions, imply-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prominent representatives of the intercultural approach include Geert Hofstede or Fons Trompenaars. For a comparison between the intercultural and the transcultural approach see also Welsch 1999, McSweeney (2015), Wieland 2016 and Baumann Montecinos 2019.

ing correspondingly different theory architectures. Besides, a further conceptional decision refers to whether one sees national cultures as homogeneous containers or whether one includes different levels of culture in the consideration, as we do in transcultural research. Following the claim to consider what we call "the diversity of diversity" implies looking not only at national cultures, but also at regional cultures, industry cultures, professional cultures, corporate cultures, as well as, for example, at different generational or gender cultures – and, at the same time, taking into account the fact that the individuals acting in these cultures also form multilayered cultural systems in themselves that can be very diverse and that depend on specific contexts for their manifestation (cf. Baumann Montecinos 2019: 74). As Swidler (1986: 273) puts it, "[c]ulture influences action [...] by shaping a repertoire or 'tool kit' of habits, skills, and styles from which people construct 'strategies of action'".

At the same time, we note that across all cultural differences and against the background of complexity and continuous change, there are very basic capabilities that all human beings have in common: in our research program, we look at pro-social skills such as empathy or inclusive rationality that can be attributed to all humans<sup>3</sup> and that pave the way for the emergence of a transaction-related community in concrete cooperation projects. With the transcultural approach, by considering real transactions and thus the practice of different cultures, existing and, in particular, newly created commonalities come into view, in order to describe the conditions for success of effective cross-cultural cooperation.

Another distinction should also be mentioned at this point, namely that between the transcultural approach and the idea of a world ethos, which assumes that there are always certain globally agreed cultural values, such as humanity. However, according to our understanding, this approach does not adequately take into account the fact that a term such as that of humanity requires a specification, a local or context-dependent interpretation if one strives to cooperate because, as a thin, abstract concept, it is just not sufficient to enable a concrete community to develop – communities of practice rather refer to "thick" descriptions of values, which are always temporary and local.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See the article by Josef Wieland in this volume (2019: 21-41).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On the distinction between thin and thick descriptions, see Walzer 1994. On the transfer of this distinction to transcultural research, see Baumann Montecinos 2019.

This issue of local and transaction-specific community, in order to cooperate in decentralized, global spaces, and the question of the required commonalities and their formation, which is ultimately about the development of a common, resilient, but always temporary, value basis, are some of the backgrounds and ambitions of this research program.

#### II.

Against the background of the complexity of reality, in order for crosscultural cooperation to succeed, it is crucial to find a starting point for the corresponding processes of interaction and learning. After all, once cooperation has started and the mutual advantages become tangible, it can be assumed that it will continue, as there is a common interest in continuing the successful relationship. With regard to all the different cultural levels mentioned above, there may already be initial concrete commonalities of a particular group of actors with which one can begin cooperation. The decisive aspect, however, is to enable their continuation through shared practical experience. This can be traced back to the fact that values as well as ideas about what is meant by certain principles develop through practical interactions, in the course of which these ideas become constant and transform into expected behavioral norms. In this sense, norms of behavior are the result of evolution, not of deduction (cf. Tomasello 2016, 2019). This transformation of experiences into behaviours could be considered as a transcultural learning process, which allows experience to be transformed into behaviour. In order to facilitate this process of developing new commonalities, the community that emerges from successful transaction-related cooperation can be used. Such a community relates all those stakeholders who expect to benefit from the realization of a particular transaction and therefore actually cooperate across cultural diversity.

At this point, and in order to further elaborate on some basic notions of the transcultural approach, the question of how to integrate actual cultural diversity into a concept that focuses on cooperation and commonalities deserves some attention. As far as the economic consequences of cultural diversity within groups are concerned, both academics and practitioners often claim that diversity can be a productive factor in the sense that a variety of perspectives can increase creativity and innovative power in problem solving.<sup>5</sup> On the other hand, whether diversity is effectively more productive than homogeneity within a community is unlikely to be fully understood, given the costs involved. Actually, it is precisely these costs that are once again in the focus of transcultural learning processes, which aim to realize transactions as cost-effectively and as productively as possible. Accordingly, the interest in the most productive, transaction-friendly form of cooperation can be something that can be developed together and that creates community, motivating people to engage in these learning processes together.

Unlike the intercultural approach, which assumes reconciliation in terms of reaching a static equilibrium point, transculturality describes a dynamic process in which one gets temporary and fragmented matches and then develops them further. The fact that this is a continuous learning process that does not end sometime in a point of balance of mutual understanding implies that heterogeneity is expected to remain. There will always be contradictory situations and also value conflicts, both within cultures and between cultures, especially if one considers the complexity of the different levels of cultural affiliation outlined above. At this point, it should be noted that it is a fundamental and irremovable property of values that one can deny their validity in certain situations and that they may conflict with other values. Here, we actually refer to the level of thick description, and, as Walzer (1994: 6) writes, "with thickness comes qualification, compromise, complexity, and disagreement."

Against this background, this is where the non-normative attitude comes in which lies at the core of the transcultural approach and its focus on cooperation and mutual learning. The non-normative attitude is important because it is about the transaction-specific creation of shared meaning rather than bridging nation-based cultural differences. According to the transcultural approach, the starting point does not lie in discussions about fundamental definitions of values, but in a concrete problem to be solved, a transaction realized by players with pro-social skills in the form of empathy and inclusive rationality. These are the impulses and conditions for a learning process that is truly open to contributions and solutions from other cultural contexts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Examples of such approaches in diversity management research are Hewlett et al. 2013, Alvarez et al. 2011, and Stahl et al. 2009.

Accordingly, such a research interest as we are pursuing here, inherently includes the study of cultural diversity and describes the relationship between transculturality and diversity as a relationship of mutual conditionality and enablement (cf. Baumann Montecinos 2019: 17f., 336ff.): Basic cultural ideas and pro-social capabilities that are shared at the thin level reflect themselves in concrete transactions and thus in varying local and situational manifestations at the level of thick description, as interim results of manifold continuous processes of adaptation and development. At the same time, the diversity of these concrete manifestations provides the context in which cooperation takes place, which, in turn, enables the emergence of new commonalities through a temporary transaction-related community and the learning processes associated with it.

#### III.

On the question of the practical relevance of such a transcultural approach, we note that transculturality is not simply a method of personnel development in international corporations, but also an element of private and public value creation. The reference to value creation applies in two ways: Firstly, we refer to reducing friction, in particular transaction costs, which of course requires a high degree of coordination. On the other hand, it is also about the question of successful innovation, which means a process of discovery for new products, new distribution channels, new ways of approaching customers and the like. While the transaction cost perspective is somewhat passive, innovation management emphasizes the active, productive aspect of private and public value creation, which, in turn, is of particular importance in the context of transcultural cooperation.

This is based on the observation that the reality of many large companies is shaped by the fact that a large part of the value creation process does not take place in the company's own country and the number and formats of cooperation partnerships diversify (cf. Wieland & Baumann Montecinos 2018). At the same time, it can be observed within organizations that, for example, teams are becoming ever more heterogeneous, and that, in times of digitalization, joint projects can be realized over large physical distances. In the framework of these developments, transculturality lies at the root of doing business globally and of creating value across borders as it facilitates economic performance by enabling cooperation. For example, we have outlined how this can be handled through a Transcultural Values Management System, which integrates normative decisions at the level of global strategic management on the one hand and local diversity at the operational implementation level on the other, describing the leadership competences that are required to successfully relate central and decentralised processes that shape global corporations, as well as to enable the corresponding organizational learning processes (cf. Wieland & Baumann Montecinos 2018). This focus on strategic management and on organizational learning marks some paradigmatic changes to intercultural management, which is traditionally considered to be part of HR management, that are very significant, not least because this new approach also has consequences for the selection and development of leaders.

If one understands a firm as a relational network of resources and of stakeholders possessing these resources (cf. Wieland 2018a), then cultural competence is to be considered such a resource, either of individuals or of organizations themselves. In this respect, cultural competence contributes to the value creation process of these organizations. Leadership in such networks must be essentially directed to realize and coordinate the relationing and the proportioning of resources, in order to enable cooperative processes of value creation. This can only succeed in global networks if the leaders' decisions are accepted voluntarily by their followers, as the relationships in such networks are not based on contracts in the classic sense and cannot be enforced via a directorate or status. Furthermore, it is undisputed that the innovative forces in such an organization cannot be mobilized through authority and status either. This means that leadership must strive to connect resources and people in such a way that they actually achieve the highest levels of productivity and value creation for those involved and for the organization - hence we call this approach "relational leadership" (cf. Wieland 2018a), and to look at this in the context of transcultural cooperation has its special attraction and relevance. Transcultural leadership is then both the prerequisite for, and the result of, social interaction, and transcultural competence thus becomes a question of the entire organization and not just of specific functions. Transculturality and leadership belong together; they develop simultaneously. Under the conditions of global value creation and the successful "relationalization" of the necessary resources, transculturality and leadership are two sides of the same coin.

#### IV.

The transcultural research program is still in its infancy compared to the intercultural approach. The intercultural discussion already has a long tradition, while the transcultural discussion is just beginning to take off. In the meantime, we have achieved some conceptual clarity with transcultural research, not least the publications in the Transcultural Management Series, and, in particular, the present volume on Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence. The next steps are also already outlined: It is now necessary to further operationalize and apply the conceptional clarity in order to make the next learning steps from established practice. This involves questions such as the identification of the necessary skills and abilities of a transculturally competent person as well as governance mechanisms for structuring the complexity of possible transactions. Initial approaches can be found in this volume, including the results of an empirical study with two global companies and the description of the Global Studies Projects of Zeppelin University, which provide a concretization of the transcultural approach in the context of university education. Finally, this is where another important distinction from the intercultural approach becomes apparent: research projects such as those of the description of individual and organizational transcultural competence or of Global Studies Projects can only be realized with a transcultural method in the sense of interaction within a global network. While intercultural management can easily be operated from the perspective of one particular country, in the sense of "me and the others", for the transcultural approach, on the contrary, "all others" must be brought together from the outset. It is certainly justified to call this a great challenge - and a great opportunity to get closer to a description of the reality of global cooperation relationships.

The fact that, despite all the abstraction and complexity, the subject of transculturality is nevertheless very accessible, has a high degree of individual and social plausibility and therefore offers a field for interdisciplinary research, can be understood as an encouragement. The assertion that it is not enough for successful cooperation to know the differences to the other, but rather that it is crucial to develop commonalities and community, seems reasonable – and thereby compatible with the research programs of various disciplines. We look forward to building on that, transculturally.

#### References

- Alvarez, J., Forrest, D., Sanz, I. & Tena, J. d. D. (2011): Impact of importing foreign talent on performance levels of local co-workers, in: Labour Economics, 11, Amsterdam: Elsevier B.V., 287-296.
- Baumann Montecinos, J. (2019): Moralkapital und wirtschaftliche Performance. Informelle Institutionen, Kooperation, Transkulturalität, Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler.
- Hewlett, S. A., Marshall, M. & Sherbin, L. (2013): How Diversity Can Drive Innovation, in: Harvard Business Review, Harvard: Harvard Business Publishing, 30.
- McSweeney, B. (2015): Hall, Hofstede, Huntington, Trompenaars, GLOBE: Common Foundations, Common Flaws, in: Sánchez, Y. & Brühwiler, C.F. (eds.): Transculturalism and Business in the BRIC States: a Handbook, Surrey, Burlington: Gower Publishing, 13-58.
- Stahl, G., Maznevski, M. L., Voigt, A. & Jonsen, K. (2009): Unraveling the effects of cultural diversity in teams: A meta-analysis of research on multicultural working groups, in: Journal of International Business Studies, 41, Academy of International Business, 690-709.
- Swidler, A. (1986): Culture in Action: Symbols and Strategies, in: American Socio-logical Review, Vol. 51, 273-286.
- Tomasello, M. (2019): Becoming Human. A Theory of Ontogeny, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Tomasello, M. (2016): A Natural History on Human Morality, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Walzer, M. (1994): Thick and Thin: moral argument at home and abroad, Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Welsch, W. (1999): Transculturality The puzzling form of cultures today. in: Featherstone, Mike & Lash, Scott (eds.): Spaces of culture: City, nation, world, London: SAGE, 194-213.
- Wieland, J. (2019): Transculturality as a Leadership Style A Relational Approach, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 21-41.
- Wieland, J. (2018a): Relational Economics. Ökonomische Theorie der Governance wirtschaftlicher Transaktionen, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Wieland, J. (2018b): Transkulturelle Führung und Kooperation Grundzüge und Perspektiven des Forschungsprogramms der "Transcultural Management Studies", in: Simon, F., Baumann Montecinos, J. & Singer, L.-M. (Redaktion): Forum Wirtschaftsethik, Jahresschrift des DNWE, 25, 112-122.

- Wieland, J. (2016): Transculturality and Economic Governance, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.): Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 12-32.
- Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (2018): Transculturality and Global Value Creation, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Sub-Saharan Perspectives on Transcultural Leadership, Marburg: Metropolis, 17-39.

### Transculturality as a Leadership Style – A Relational Approach

Josef Wieland

#### 1. Introduction

The discussion of leadership styles is concerned with the productive or counter-productive effects of individual modes of behaviour on collective performance. In the management literature intended for practitioners seeking helpful advice, relatively plausible or implausible combinations of these two parameters are logically condensed into standardised operational recipes that are attributed with a superior effectiveness for the success of the manager, their team or the organisation that they lead. This will not be the subject of the following considerations, however. Instead I will be trying to contribute something to a better theoretical and practical understanding of leadership activity and behaviour in the context of multiple cultural contexts. Culturally influenced values, convictions and traditions are crucial factors that determine individual and collective expectations of behaviour and their effectiveness in practice. This does not just apply in the context of international transactions, but also on virtually all levels of spontaneous or organised social cooperation. It is clear here that the aspect of difference plays a crucial role in any interactions that are based on cultural diversity. Yet cultural difference need not necessarily be attributed to any individual behavioural motivation in terms of identity theory. Instead it can be understood as an event in the context of a transaction that requires cooperation that, to successfully relate to other events in business, legal, moral or technical contexts, is essential for the productivity of a transaction and the efficiency and effectiveness of a cooperating team. Indeed, that is the approach I am taking here. Successfully relating events to each other, using common ground to create a sense of belonging to a cooperation project based upon cultural differences, is an essential achievement of leadership. I call such interlinking of culturally different events "transculturality" and shall refer to the ability to achieve this as "transcultural competence". Transcultural competence thus constitutes a leadership style.

Against this background I will first try to clarify some theoretical implications and challenges of my concept of transculturality. Without clarifying these terms it will hardly be possible to discuss its consequences for the leadership style of societal players. So the first part of this essay will be concerned with the question of what constitutes transculturality. This discussion will be kept at a strictly theoretical and conceptional level. The second stage is about what constitutes transcultural leadership and will concern itself with deriving some practical and applicable consequences for understanding transculturality as a style of leadership. This is based on the conviction, expressed by Kurt Lewin, that nothing is as practical as a good theory. For me, this is not just about the management and leadership of global value chains or international trade relations, although cultural diversity is paradigmatically significant for economic value creation. Rather, I shall attempt to fundamentally discuss the role of transculturality in cooperation projects. Global value chains are only one specific form that such projects may assume - and I will refer to them occasionally – but they are not the object of this discussion.<sup>1</sup> Rather, I shall aim at discussing and developing transculturality as a leadership style for any form of organized cooperation.

#### 2. What is transculturality?

#### Ι.

Culture is a term that provides a joint point of reference, a lowest – if highly abstract – common denominator for many disparate elements (including language, customs, traditions, origins, conventions, values, beliefs, preferences, artefacts, interpretations of economic or organisational

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Wieland & Baumann Montecinos 2018 for the significance of the transcultural concept for global value chains.

scenarios and so on). Hidden behind this, however, these events follow systematically different communicative codifications. With regard to the consequences for the manner in which players act and behave, language as well as moral, religious, economic and political values or beliefs and interpretations follow different decision-making logics. Manifesting itself in a specific context, every culture is characterised by the diversity of its events – not, as assumed by the theory of intercultural management, by its homogeneity.<sup>2</sup>

So if we want to consider transculturality in conceptual terms, we could follow Michael Walzer (1994) in regarding culture as a "thin" term with only a minimal meaning of its own. Consequently, culture is not a distinct decision-making logic but, instead, processes various decisionmaking logics such as legal, political, economic and ethical ones. In this sense, we can understand culture as an informal institution whose polyvalent events mark out the various unwritten rules of social coexistence. Accordingly, they enable cooperation and, at the same time, limit the range of socially desirable or simply habitual transactions and chances for cooperation available to any single player, because they define undesirability as an inverse value. These culture-based collaborative activities are not merely found at the level of nations, for example, as interactions between companies from various cultural areas described as nations. They are also found within and between companies from the same nation that are influenced by the culture of different regions, industries, professions, departments, families or individual leaders who can and should in turn be discussed as transactional actors or cooperation projects (cf. Wieland 2018: chapter 7). Transcultural leadership as a research strategy and practice is not just limited to the level of interaction between nations this is one of the fundamental differences to the concepts of intercultural and cross-cultural management. It is about any kind of social cooperation where cultural events have an impact on the success of this cooperation towards an intended transaction.

One advantage of this relational understanding of culture (as a point of reference for a large number of diverse events within cooperative transactions) lies in the fact that its basic analytical unit is not based on an ethnic notion of culture. I do not argue that events defined by this notion do not exist on a national level or are irrelevant. Indeed, we all know that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See McSweeney (2015) for an informative summary of the critical discussions.

the opposite is the case. But such a perspective is inappropriate for a theory of transculturality, because a concept of culture based on, for example, what unifies ethnicities or nations necessarily implies a difference from, and exclusion of, others. The "trans-"prefix on the other hand, aims at relating different events to each other: at creating of connections and building bridges between different events. Thus, our fundamental understanding of the nature and challenges of transculturality shifts from excluding the identity of individual players towards relational transactions that are attractors of polyvalent events (cf. Wieland 2018). This shift gives rise to the question as to how to shape the relationship of these events. "Interculturality" describes how various and distinct cultures encounter each other. Therefore, it is concerned with the static space between the closed cultures and the external consequences and conflicts associated with such encounters. Such events may and will occur in cooperation projects, but they are by no means their fundamental characteristics. "Transculturality" describes the dynamic process of relating discrete cultural events to each other, putting them in proportion with respect to a cooperative, joint, specific transaction. So it is about "belonging" to a discrete and temporary "mini society" (Alfred N. Whitehead) of reciprocal dependencies with respect to a local situation, and not about "identity" within a social group.<sup>3</sup> I agree with Michael Walzer's (1983) view that terms such as "belonging" and "relatedness" should be understood in a particularistic sense. Herder's spherical model of closed national cultures, which is the paradigmatic point of reference of intercultural management, can be put into perspective with reference to both those cultures' internal polymorphy and hybridity, and criticised with reference to the polymogenic potential of rival and incommensurable internal events of national cultures (cf. Antweiler 2011). However, from the angle of the transcultural concept discussed here, this is not the point. Rather, the reference point of our analysis is the success of cooperative transactions. This success is not possible without relating different, yet permanently interacting, cultural events to one another - not depending on - to give but one example - whether those transactions take place on a local or global level or whether they occur between or within companies. What

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For the concept of "belonging" and its distinction from the identity concept see Appadurai 1990, Rutherford 1990 and Shotter 1993 for a cultural science point of view, and Wenger 2000 for the development theory aspects of learning theory.

interests us is the temporalization of the existence and the success of the cooperative transactions themselves, as relational transactions are, by definition, attractors of different identities and decision-making logics and, therefore, cultural events (see Wieland 2018: part I).

#### II.

Transculturality means that we allow new perspectives "observed, built and contested from reality" (Baecker 2017: 11, translated by Wieland) and are ready to come to a mutual understanding about their appropriateness and fitness for the real world. Transculturality is a social process that requires productive management of differences. Consequently, mutual understanding cannot exclusively be the result of communication about differences. What is essential here is a practical, non-normative approach towards cultural differences aimed at achieving the ability to act. Each side of a cultural difference is systematically neither good nor bad. "Good" and "bad" are normative judgements ascribed to differences. Difference is simply there and needs to be recognized, accepted, tolerated and, if necessary, also endured. Cultural differences in transactions are largely not solved through discussion but made manageable by means of practical responses in specific situations. In a way, the national cultural differences, which intercultural management is interested in, will become one, but only one, event in a shared relational transaction. Experience of difference will consequently not be understood as a threat to a discrete individual constitution, to a perceived static identity, but as a process of relating all the individual constitutions to each other with respect to a particular and temporary transaction. In the first instance, the productive encounter of different, but culturally equivalent, beliefs can only be facilitated through consciously forgoing any moral judgement and exclusive claims to the truth. Thus, it is by forgoing moral judgement that one aims at obtaining the ability to negotiate. The objective is to acquire transcultural competence for creating arrangements that facilitate the first and the second step within a reciprocal learning process. Without that competence this process does not exist. What subsequently determines the manner and the pace of setting up the shared cultural capital<sup>4</sup> of a transaction society, as expressed by Whitehead, are the course of a process and the stability of its continuation. These factors also determine whether, and how far, such transaction-specific capital may be generalised as "culture" in an abstract, "thin" manner, and whether (and how far) it may in this generalized form be transferred to other transactions without further transaction or relational costs being incurred. In this way, commonalities are found or developed; transculturality is a creative process of finding or creating and continuing cultural commonalities. These commonalities, however, can only relate to, and be achieved for, individual transactions, even if this is a multitude of individual transactions. It does not attain "the full moral significance of the other culture" (Walzer 1994: 17).

#### III.

One of the fundamental problems that challenge our earlier thoughts regarding collaborative transactions as productive attractors of transcultural events lies in the fact that a possible starting point for the transcultural learning process cannot be explained from the fact or concept of transculturality itself. I also maintain that it cannot be explained from the existence of universal moral values, such as those of a humanistic world ethos. Humanity as an ethos based on practice is a "thick" concept that belongs to a specific culture and can and does express particular interests. The perhaps "thinnest" interpretation of humanity (as an ethical term) means that we ought to treat humans as humans and, consequently, in a dignified way. Such a view may well find broad acceptance in all cultures. However, with respect to what is "human" and "dignified" in specific contexts (such as human rights as an individual or collective right or the issue of slave labour regarding certain social groups) cultures may differ in terms of whom they accept as "human" and which groups should be excluded. Regrettably, dehumanisation and the negation of human dignity for certain groups or in certain local situations is also a universal strategy of moral deviance (cf. Bandura et al. 1996). Historically, however, this strategy already assumes a shared concept of a dignity proper to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Baumann Montecinos 2019 offers a proposal for the conception of such cultural capital as moral capital.

all human beings. In this regard, too, we will also find different views of what is humane with respect to a specific practical transaction and what is not. To give an example, within the European Union there are at present different views concerning what is humane with respect to the challenges of worldwide migration. One interpretation implies that it would be humane to protect the population of one's own country and to keep potential migrants in their countries of origin by all means available (including banning them from crossing borders), the argument being that it is only there that future problems can really be solved. On the other hand, there is the view that the option to emigrate to a host country in conjunction with careful assessment of the situation would be the appropriate expression of humanity, as this is the only way to address the current plight of such people. Humanity as a term in identity theory, relating here to "European values", implies a universally effective and aligned motivation that leads to, or should lead to, shared views and corresponding actions. As with all practical conclusions based on ethical principles and moral values, one may dispute this. Michael Walzer (1994: 83) believes

"...that our common humanity will never make us members of a single universal tribe. The crucial commonality of the human race is particularism: we participate, all of us, in the thick cultures that are our own (...) we can at last recognize this communality and begin the difficult negotiations it requires".

But what is this commonality in experiencing difference that can start a shared process in a sea of particularisms if universal moral principles are not fit for this task?

#### IV.

Michael Tomasello (2016) has proposed that the pro-social capabilities of empathy and inclusive rationality, being a universal resource for all people, may serve as a starting point for such a process. Referring to evolution theory, he demonstrates that, during the transition from the animal kingdom to the human realm, morality emerged from the experience of practical cooperation in specific projects, for example, hunting. Cooperative abilities were subsequently developed by all humans, for without these abilities, the human community and the cooperation it requires and which - like all of civilisation - is built on a sufficiently reliable sense of moral obligation among the members of society, could not otherwise have stabilised. A central notion for him is the "interdependence hypothesis" (ibid.: 153ff.). On the one hand, the interdependence hypothesis allows for a strict epistemological distinction between cost-benefit-analyses and a sense of moral obligation. On the other hand, it allows for the emergence of morality as a natural and self-regulating process of the creation and experience of commonality. Interdependency is defined as the recursive interaction of structure (socio-ecological conditions) and motivation (shared intention and cognitive adaptation) that leads to the emergence of an idea of a "second personal agency" and a "joint commitment". Morality from its very beginnings is a form of collective cultural rationality and not, as some economists presume, a form of individual rationality. It is the pursuit of personal interests that, through recursive learning processes, lead to an objectively given understanding and acceptance of group norms and, consequently, cooperative behaviour. The binary "I - you - I" face-to-face relationship evolves into a multiple "I – You" as part of a "We" (ibid.: 62ff.), that means, into sociality which, as an independent agent of an "objective morality" (ibid.: 148), becomes a given norm of cooperative behaviour for the group (cf. also Tomasello 2019: 189ff.). Social interactions then turn into social institutions.

"This sense of doing something together – which creates mutual expectations, and even rights and obligations – is, one could argue, uniquely human" (Tomasello 2009: 58).

Therefore, not universal values but the process of creating mutuality is the cornerstone of transcultural research and practice. A mutually understood "I and You as events of a We" that demonstrates a second personal agent leads to a commitment to an objectivised normativity (We) which can be claimed by the other and you yourself. It is a mutually produced and agreed "shared intentionality" both actors can refer to and which develops, in this way, a new collective relation based on a shared understanding of values such as respect, responsibility, trust and fairness. The unique motives and attitudes of shared intentionality thus enable humans to relate to one another in some new ways cooperatively, even morally. But these motives and attitudes do not come into being fully-fledged. They come into being through a developmental process, extended over time, in which motivation, experience and execution of self-commitment all play constitutive roles (cf. Tomasello 2019: 10).

It is this sociality of an independent collective actor that the pro-social capabilities previously mentioned relate to. For one thing, there is the capability for empathy. However, empathy becomes a pro-social capability only through affection and care towards others and loyalty to the group. For, inversely, by putting oneself in other people's shoes, empathy can also be used to inflict the greatest possible damage to those people with the greatest possible chance of success. For another thing, there is the capability for inclusive rationality (individual rationality), meaning the ability to take into account the interests of others in the cooperation (cooperative rationality) and to allow a sense of integrity and fairness towards others to take effect (cultural rationality).

It is this mechanism, as developed and proven by evolutionary biology, on which the creation of new transcultural commonalities can be built and which makes another decisive difference to the concept of interculturality. Transcultural competence does not refer to specific different cultures, but it is a generalized competence that lowers the adaptation costs for each transaction including culture events. In the sense of Birger Wernerfelt (cf. 2016), it has an "excess capacity", which means possibilities of utilization with regard to a large number of cultural groups, without generating additional information or negotiation costs. In this sense, transcultural competence is "sub-additive" (cf. ibid.: 33, 75).

V.

If we apply Tomasello's thoughts to the subject of successful transcultural cooperation for mutual advantage as discussed here, we find that it is prosocial capabilities based on evolutionary biology that can trigger the process of developing shared cultural norms of self-interested and culturally different individuals: "the process of creating, following and enforcing social norms is almost certainly a cultural universal" (Tomasello 2016: 101). Social norms are parameters for expectations that are not moral in themselves. But in their practical interaction and mutual achievement of goals, people learn to attribute a "second-personal morality" to the "second-personal agency", thus developing affection and a sense of fairness towards others. In the process, it is the ability to form a "shared intentionality" that

can transform strategic, purely self-interested cooperation into the successive development of moral or, more broadly, of cultural convictions. Let us briefly recapitulate what we have said so far about the conditions for successful transcultural cooperation:

- Calculated or strategic self-interest is a necessary, but insufficient, starting point for realising stable transcultural transactions and cooperation.
- We can and must also build on the transcultural competence of empathy (affection, care and loyalty) and inclusive rationality (cooperative and cultural rationality) that is found universally in all cultures, as only in this way has the emergence, stabilisation and evolution of these cultures and civilisations been possible.
- A recursive basis for the two previous aspects of affection and inclusive rationality is "shared intentionality", that is, people's ability "to create with others joint intentions and joint commitments in cooperative endeavours" (Tomasello 2009: XIII), the ability to share intentions with others and, in order to realise these intentions, to enter into relationships with them. I define shared intentions between social actors in a strictly particularistic sense, related to a local situation or transaction.
- It is values, motives and behaviours that lead to "shared intentions" that enable people "to relate to one another in some new ways cooperatively, even morally" (Tomasello 2019: 190).
- The ability to enter into social relationships is, as Martha Nussbaum (2001: chapter 12) puts it, a relational good. Relationality is not just aspired to for the positive effects it might have, rather, it is something that is valued in itself. For this reason, we count relationality, together with strategic self-interest, pro-social capabilities and shared intentionality, among the fundamental components of transcultural competence as a leadership style.

I shall now continue discussing these conceptual and theoretical principles in a rather more application-based context. My aim is to examine, on the one hand, their conceptual explanatory power and, on the other hand, their practical relevance.

#### 3. What is transcultural leadership?

Ι.

Now that we understand better what issues are described with the term transculturality, we can shed some light upon their significance for the leadership of people and organisations. In this regard, a lot depends on what we conceptually understand as leadership. There are various concepts, such as transactional, transformational and relational leadership (cf. Bass 1990; Wieland 2014a). Each of them has a different affinity with the subject of transculturality. For transactional-leadership concepts, shaping the relationship between financial incentive (income) and economic performance (turnover) as a contractually-based act of exchange takes centre stage. Transformational concepts, on the other hand, look at the significance of motivation, of meaning and of a shared value culture within the organisation informing the process of leading teams. Relational-leadership theories stress the societal process character of leadership (creating shared intentionality and mutuality) that results in followers voluntarily following the leader. It further results that leadership as a social exchange process is not based upon hierarchical positions and managerial authority. Rather, it exists at all levels of an organisation and may be assigned to actors interchangeably, depending on context and as a result of learning and negotiation processes. Although transactional and transformational leadership always also play a temporary role in transcultural transactions, the concept of "relational leadership" is - considering its underlying assumptions - the most suitable for understanding and shaping the management of transcultural cooperation. I have discussed this on various other occasions (cf. Wieland 2016, 2018: chapter 7).

However, the aim of the present essay is not to discuss transculturality as a leadership concept but transculturality as a leadership style. To do this, we need to look around for a different starting point for the discussion: a definition of leadership as an individual competence and skill. The following definition comes from James M. Burns (1978: 18), and is of course not the only one, but a suitable one for our purposes:

"Leadership over human beings is exercised when persons with certain motives and purposes mobilize, in competition or conflict with others, institutional, political, psychological, and other resources so as to arouse,

#### Josef Wieland

engage, and satisfy the motives of followers. This is done in order to realize goals mutually held by both leaders and followers..." (ibid.: 18)

The nature of leadership for Burns is power; power held by people to make other people pursue shared objectives in cooperative transactions that represent values, motivations (wishes, needs, hopes and expectations) and purposes shared by the leader and the follower alike (cf. ibid.: 19). This power of leaders is not the product of hierarchical positions, nor is it an ability or character trait leaders can force on followers. Rather, it is an expression and result of a social relationship between people. Leadership and followership have a relational connection with each other. In my view, this definition is particularly suitable for the purposes of understanding transculturality as a leadership style as, i) it takes a social relationship between two fundamentally autonomous and self-interested actors into account, who ii) must succeed in establishing shared objectives, motivations and values, that iii) puts them in a position to attain certain shared objectives or interests. It conveys the five universal behavioural hypotheses of a theory of successful transcultural cooperation, as developed in the previous section (personal interest, the ability to embrace empathy and inclusive rationality, shared intentionality, relationality) into the debate about those competences and learning processes that characterise a transcultural leadership style.

#### II.

Discussions of a leadership style usually examine the dominant actual behavioural patterns of an individual leader, consisting of character traits, beliefs, competences, strengths, techniques, habits, ideas and many other components. Initially the discussion is descriptive and tries to consolidate actual observable leadership behaviour into terms and definitions. In this manner, an inexhaustible and sometimes also arbitrary number of leadership styles have emerged over the last few decades. These are used by consultants and coaches to support their clients in the development of their leadership personalities and, thereby, in the performance of their teams.<sup>5</sup> The most common of these are shown in the following diagram:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For examples of literature on leadership styles, see Litwin & Stringer 1968.





Source: Own representation.

As a rule, the discussion of leadership styles takes place within the context of transactional and transformational leadership concepts that derive leadership from positions and managerial authority. It focuses on the effect and quality of leadership with regard to the team's or company's achievement of superior, above-average performance. Leadership styles are resources on competences for the purpose of improving collaborative performance. For this reason, these styles can, and should, be trained, and they should be interchanged and combined to suit the situation. In the long term, purely dictatorial managers have just as little success as managers who make no decisions and leave everything to discursive processes. There are no objections to this economic view of leadership styles. Pursuing one's own interests and the expectation of achieving an aboveaverage yield from one's resources through cooperation form one of the starting points of transcultural transactions. This is a necessary condition for seeking cooperation, but an insufficient one for explaining it. As mentioned at the beginning, culturally embedding leadership styles is fundamentally important in the field of transcultural cooperation. Professional, corporate, and industry cultures cultivate different leadership styles (participative vs. directive; paternalistic vs. democratic; coaching vs. performance orientation etc.). These styles are assessed differently in different cultures. While in contemporary Western cultures, the acceptance of hierarchy and paternalism may be dwindling, this is not the case in Eastern cultures. Instructions can be used to govern production processes to a certain degree, but not the behaviour of partners in a joint venture or of scientists in creative innovation processes.

For this reason, I would like to propose that transculturality be understood as a distinct leadership style: namely as the competence to develop social interactions that are significantly characterised by cultural diversity in such a way that they produce mutual advantages for all stakeholders: values, motivations or objectives accepted by all. In a nutshell, this competence is necessary for the creation and stabilisation of productive transcultural relationships.

These values, motivations and objectives can relate to the performance of a cooperation project, but also to the way of achieving generally-appreciated communicative and cooperative behaviour. We ultimately need to define moral values whose "thin" descriptions are accepted in virtually all cultures.<sup>6</sup> At an individual level, the following transcultural leadership values may fit this criterion. But note that those values do not form an exhaustive list but are intended to serve as examples.

The most significant transcultural value among the performance values seems to be the pursuit of mutual benefit as it is geared towards taking the concrete interests of all stakeholders as well as the equivalence of the actors involved into account. The fact that there should be a preference for creating practical solutions also derives from what has been developed so far, for the formation of morally consolidated spaces requires successive steps of shared, positive practical experience. To this end, a consid-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For the concept underlying the values matrix, see Wieland 2011 and Wieland 2014a.

erable degree of creativity is required as standardised textbook solutions for transaction-related decisions influenced by cultural diversity are rare. Performance values have a considerable impact on the development of actual, discovered or new commonalities.

<b>Performance</b>	<b>Communication</b>
Mutual benefit	Non-normativity
Practical solutions	Listening
Creativity	Kindness
<b>Continuity</b>	Integrity
Reliability	Reciprocity
Conflict management	Impartial fairness
Cooperation	Morality

Figure 2: Individual Transcultural Leadership Values

Source: Own representation.

The communication value termed "non-normativity" neither implies the absence of beliefs nor that they should be kept hidden. It simply means that one should not use one's own beliefs as a condition for the implementation of a cooperative transaction. Such a situation may very well occur, but then the transaction does not take place. This value also implies that different situational interpretations are initially acknowledged as given and of equal value – and that there is no need to comment on cultural diversity either critically or to make comparisons to one's own culture on every suitable and unsuitable occasion. The ability to listen and be friendly are the values that allow people to enter into conversations which, on occasion, may include more fundamental normative issues, too.

Values that are necessary for transcultural cooperation depend ultimately on whether a leader can demonstrate a credible preference for the continuity of the joint project or the joint transaction. Anyone who prefers endgames or zero-sum games is not suited to be a transcultural leader. Just how credible this preference for continuity is depends on the reliability of an actor as is experienced in practice. This also includes the leader's ability to recognise emerging conflicts at an early stage, communicate this objectively and participate in jointly working out a solution that is ac-
Do	Don't
1. strive for mutual benefits.	1. maximize only your own profit.
2. look for practical solutions.	2. discuss fundamental and controversial principles.
3. develop creativity in a mindful way.	3. ever change a running system.
4. avoid judging too early.	4. cultivate and communicate prejudices.
5. listen carefully.	5. promote your own opinion.
6. be kind and polite.	6. show a direct and harsh attitude.
7. settle conflicts thoughtfully.	7. get your own way, no matter what.
8. keep your promises.	8. be opportunistic.
9. establish long-term partnerships.	9. focus on aggressive short-term goals.
10. act with integrity.	10. act with hypocrisy.
11. treat others as you would wish to be treated.	11. apply double standards.
12. apply impartial fairness to everybody.	12. favour people according to self- centred criteria.

Table 1: Dos and Don'ts for Transcultural Leaders

Source: Own representation.

ceptable for all parties involved. Seen through the lens of continuity, this does not mean that each individual conflict can be processed to the complete satisfaction of everyone. However, in the long term, a certain accommodation needs to be achieved.

Moral values whose "thin" interpretation may be universally accepted are integrity, reciprocity and the fairness of an independent observer. Integrity represents the ethical character of a leader whose specific qualities – though not the aspiration itself – can differ from culture to culture. We understand this term in the sense of a recognised capability for morally appropriate behaviour. Reciprocity is a universal element of all social relationships. This can be seen in the fact that the so-called "Golden Rule" (treat others as you would wish to be treated) has been common to and (in its "thick" interpretation) effective in all known civilisations since early history. The fairness of an independent observer evidently reminds us of Adam Smith's "impartial observer" whose function in "Theory of Moral Sentiments", is to make ethical decisions universal.

In concluding this discussion, we will transform the values matrix into recommendations: into "dos and don'ts" for a transcultural leadership

style that are perhaps useful for exemplifying the largely theoretical discussion we have conducted so far.

#### III.

The values of a transcultural leadership style discussed in the previous section are based implicitly on a notion of transcultural learning which I would like to elaborate on a little to conclude this essay.<sup>7</sup>

To begin with, it is important to understand and acknowledge that transcultural leadership is a continuous learning process. The systematic cause of this is not any assumed cultural deficiency on the part of the actors involved, but the dynamism, complexity and uncertainty in terms of information and expectations that characterise the atmosphere of transcultural transactions. A willingness and ability to embrace continuous learning, for both organisational and personal change, is a fundamental quality of a transcultural leader.

The first element of transcultural learning is the ability to make – ideally – non-normative observations and analyses of an actor's behaviour and of situations. We have already broached the subject briefly in the last section, when I noted that there is no need to constantly judge events in a specific cultural context and compare them with other contexts.

That is the pre-requisite for taking the next step in transcultural learning: the identification of commonalities beyond pro-social capabilities that already exist and that can be built upon. These are present at various levels, such as those of the individual and the professions. Appiah argues that people can have common emotional experiences or preferences – such as joy and sadness, types of conviviality and socialising, music and literature – that can be helpful in establishing personal relationships as well as in launching and fostering joint transactions. The same applies to the standards of professions as we see them among, inter alia, doctors, engineers, scientists or bankers. Shared experiences, preferences and professional standards are an appropriate starting point for a "moral conversion", as this form of low-threshold moral discourse has been labelled by Kwame A. Appiah (cf. 2008: chapter 5, 2006: chapter 4). This gathering

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See the literature on this, especially Argyris 1995 and Huber 1991.

of, and reflecting on, experiences in the context of pursuing shared interests is a way of building a particular sense of belonging.

The third stage is about the integration of step 1 and 2 in the process of learning the skill of how to develop new commonalities. This requires the development of a shared perspective of the situation, comprising

- an awareness of the cultural challenges posed by that situation,
- a clear and precise perception of the factors and peculiarities of these challenges
- a sense of commitment to get involved personally with respect to these challenges,
- and, finally, a willingness to act in a practical way.

This APCA model (*a*wareness, *perception*, *commitment*, *action*) is equally valid for organisational learning, as organisations can structurally both encourage and block the development of organisational and individual transcultural competence (cf. Wieland 2014b). But that is not our subject here. The following figure provides a summary of this briefly outlined mechanism.



Figure 3: Transcultural learning - the APCA model

Source: Own representation.

To conclude this discussion, I would like to stress once more that this recognition of transcultural leadership qualities and the necessity to acquire these qualities continuously in a practical learning process, will not or should in any way lead to a universal global ethic. I share the scepticism of Michael Walzer cited above. All we can say is that we need to develop the competences for the transcultural leadership of people and organisations on the basis of the behaviour that actually occurs in a globalising world. We shall see just how far this takes us towards the development of global moral and practically effective beliefs. I share the following description of the situation by Kwame A. Appiah:

"And, it seems to me, the understanding of virtue required by a viable ethics is not the globalist one: so we can accept what is true in situationism. Individual moments of compassion and moments of honesty make our lives better, even if we are not compassionate or honest through and through" (Appiah 2008: 70).

#### References

- Ang, S., Van Dyne, L., Koh, C., Ng, K., Templer, K. et al. (2007): Cultural intelligence: Its measurement and effects on cultural judgement and decision making, cultural adaptation, and task performance, Manag. Organ. Rev. 3, 335-371.
- Anderson, R.J. & Adams, W.A. (2015): Mastering Leadership. An Integrated Framework for Breakthrough Performance and Extraordinary Business Results, Hoboken: Wiley.
- Antweiler, C. (2011): Mensch und Weltkultur! Für einen realistischen Kosmopolitismus im Zeitalter der Globalisierung, Bielefeld: Transcript Verlag.
- Appadurai, A. (1990): Disjuncture and Difference in the Global Cultural Economy, in: Theory Culture & Society, Vol. 7, London et al.: SAGE, 295-310.
- Appiah, K.A. (2008): Experiments in Ethics, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Appiah, K.A. (2006): Cosmopolitanism: Ethics in a world of strangers, New York: W.W. Norton.
- Argyris C. (1995): Action science and organizational learning, in: Journal of managerial psychology, Vol. 10, No. 6, 20-26.
- Baecker, D. (2017): Was ist noch mal Wirklichkeit, in: Merkur, 71, Issue 820, 5-12.
- Bandura, A., Barbaranelli, C., Caprara, G.V. & Pastorelli, C. (1996): Mechanisms of moral disengagement in the exercise of moral agency, in: Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 1996, Vol. 71, No. 2, 364-374.
- Bass, B.M. (1990): From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision, in: Organizational Dynamics, 18(3), 19-31.

- Baumann Montecinos, J. (2019): Moralkapital und wirtschaftliche Performance. Informelle Institutionen, Kooperation, Transkulturalität, Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler.
- Burns, J. M. (1978): Leadership, New York: Harper & Row.
- Huber, G. P. (1991): Organizational learning. The contributing processes and the literature, in: Organization science, Vol. 2, No 1, 88-115.
- Litwin, G. & Stringer, R. (1968): Motivation and Organizational Climate, Boston: Harvard Business School Research Press.
- McSweeney, B. (2015): Hall, Hofstede, Huntington, Trompenaars, GLOBE: Common Foundations, Common Flaws, in: Sánchez, Y. & Brühwiler, C.F. (eds.): Transculturalism and Business in the BRIC States: a Handbook, Surrey, Burlington: Gower Publishing, 13-58.
- Nussbaum, M. (2001): The Fragility of Goodness: Luck and Ethics in Greek Tragedy and Philosophy, Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Rutherford, J. (ed.) (1990): Identity: community, culture, difference. London: Lawrence & Wishart.
- Shotter, J. (1993): Becoming someone: Identity and belonging, in: Coupland, N. & Nussbaum, J. (eds.): Discourse and Lifespan Development. Newbury Park, CA: SAGE, 5-27.
- Tomasello, M. (2019): Becoming Human. A Theory of Ontogeny, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Tomasello, M. (2016): A Natural History on Human Morality, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Tomasello, M. (2009): Why we cooperate, Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press.
- Walzer, M. (1994): Thick and thin: moral argument at home and abroad, Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Walzer, M. (1983): Spheres of Justice. A Defense of Pluralism and Equality, Basic Books, Inc.
- Wenger, E. (2000): Communities of practice and social learning systems, in: Organization, Vol 7, Issue 2, 225-246.
- Wernerfelt, B. (2016): Adaptation, Specialization, and the Theory of the Firm: Foundations of the Resource-based View, Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Whitehead, A. N. (1941): Process and Reality. New York, NY: The Free Press
- Wieland, J. (2018): Relational Economics. Ökonomische Theorie der Governance wirtschaftlicher Transaktionen, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Wieland, J. (2016): Transculturality and Economic Governance, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K.M. (eds.): Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 12-32.

- Wieland, J. (2014a): Governance Ethics: Global value creation, economic organization and normativity, New York et al.: Springer International Publishing.
- Wieland, J. (2014b): Moralische Charakterbildung, Leadership Excellence und Corporate Character, in: Journal for Business, Economics & Ethics (zfwu), Vol. 15/3, 376-397.
- Wieland, J. (2011): Wertemanagement, in: Aßländer, M. S. (eds.): Handbuch Wirtschaftsethik. Stuttgart, Weimar: J. B. Metzler, 245-252.
- Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (2018): Transculturality and Global Value Creation, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Sub-Saharan Perspectives on Transcultural Leadership, Marburg: Metropolis, 17-39.

# Operationalizing Transcultural Competence

An Analysis of Related Concepts and Methods of Measurements

Thilo von Gilsa

## 1. Introduction

While, in the long run, nation states have lost their meaning (Toffler 1990), the increased cultural tensions after September 11, 2001 (Ang et al. 2011) served "as stark reminders of the malevolence of cultural misunderstandings, tensions, and intolerance" (Leung et al. 2014: 490). In contrast to most of the approaches of multi- and interculturality that start their analysis with the differences between cultures and try to find solutions, the basic unit of the analysis of transculturality is cooperation. Hence, interaction is at the core of the transcultural concept. As an approach-oriented concept towards cooperation, transculturality seeks shared experiences, commonalities, and how they are created. Transculturality is in line with Barmeyer's and Franklin's (2016: 200) call for a paradigm shift in the form of a "positive cross-cultural scholarship". They outline that there is much less knowledge about the positive dynamics, cooperation and outcomes associated with cultural differences that are based on commonalities and mutual advantage. While discourse on the concept of transculturality and its consequences has emerged, the necessity for further studies on "the requisite qualities for developing transcultural executives and personnel" (Wieland 2016: 29) has been emphasized.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This work is an abbreviated version of the Bachelor thesis, originally completed in May 2017.

#### Thilo von Gilsa

## 2. A Transcultural Approach towards Non-Normativity and Commonality

The transcultural approach focuses on finding and creating commonalities, based on an unbiased approach, abstaining from a normative point of reference and gaining an ethno-relativity, called non-normativity. The following will elaborate the theoretical understanding, starting with Welsch rejecting interculturality and multiculturality. He does so by revealing the underlying logic of "cultures as islands" (Welsch 1999: 195). In his logic, common intercultural research mainly focuses on raising awareness of the understanding of cultural differences. Paradoxically, differences are presumed and reproduced, while attempts are being made to overcome them (ibid.). Welsch's insights can thus be seen as the starting point for the further conceptualization of transculturality (Wieland 2010). Welsch conceptualizes the transcultural approach as a result of hybridization, determined by heterogeneity, complex socio-cultural intertwinements and dynamic processes (Welsch 1992). Transculturality becomes a dynamic concept which rests on the refutation of the idea of a static and pure culture (Welsch 1999). Cultures<sup>2</sup> can be seen as open systems constantly interacting with each other.

In search of commonalities, Welsch can be related theoretically to the concepts of alterity (Knoblauch 2007) or intersubjectivity (Schütz 1991). The underlying assumption states that a human being is born into a functioning social system, accepts the existence of its fellow human beings as unquestionable and assumes that these fellow human beings have, as well, a permanent consciousness and can therefore be taken as something essentially relative (ibid.). Understanding the difference is based on the transfer of alterity. The assumption that the alter ego is 'like me' is not only an appreciation but can be seen as the starting point for social action. In social interaction, this appreciation will be proven or not. Without another, who is not relative to one's own ability of perception, there is no possibility for shared values. The alter ego is thus no 'alien', but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There are countless incomplete overviews on how to define culture. In order to define transcultural competence, culture will be defined as "a process of communication and thus a process of shared actions. Culture as a social network of meaning is constructed by the subjects of action, while the subjects are socialized in the same social network of meaning." (Knoblauch 2007: 11ff.).

rather a 'relative' in the first place (Knoblauch 2007: 35). Certainly, various conditions influence the degree of the alterity perceived. The more anonymity, the more alienness. But nevertheless, there is a universal projection which can be described as the central mechanism for alterity and consequently as the foundation for social interaction in the search for commonalities.

But Welsch's approach alone will not be able to define the transcultural concept needed to determine transcultural competence, as it is often associated with cosmopolitanism: It is criticized for its seemingly radical ideal of homogenization, meanwhile ignoring the essential differences that continue to exist (Yousefi & Braun 2011). In fact, the contemporary definition of the diverse term transculturality excludes neither the cosmopolitan nor the intercultural perspective. Josef Wieland (2016: 18) describes transculturality as a "learning process for the relationing of different cultural identities and perspectives". Therefore, transculturality is not an identity, but it can rather be seen as a process of bridge building, of an "interactive, social generating of commonalities" (ibid.: 22) when dealing with intercultural interaction. With his metaphor of Musil's "Man without Qualities", Hagenbüchle (2002: 142) exemplifies the transculturally competent person. The metaphor does not have negative connotations, but defines a positive attribute, namely the possibility to think and experience freely and spontaneously, without being bound to one ideological solidified form. From the perspective of Musil, the human is not seen as a subject in the processes of life. The subject is rather an object of the forces which constitute transpersonal dimensions. From this perspective, Musil realized that contingency offers a variety of options to choose from, *i.e.* that there is no such thing as 'truth' and that there is no exclusively 'right' decision. The subject is created out of this contingency, and the chance for self-reflection and awareness is created. Every new situation can be the invitation to transcend oneself and one's individual perspective. Thus, new situations can become bridges and passages, which allow new perspectives on alterities (ibid.). In order to reach cooperation, transculturality is rooted in the quest for defining shared interests and common values, while the recognition and appreciation of another's cultural context is crucial (Wieland 2010). Transculturality uses an unbiased approach, abstaining from a normative point of reference to find and create commonalities. These commonalities are based on shared values, which can either be the result of a learning process or shared

without prior interaction. In their most basic form, commonalities consist of shared interests in realizing a mutually beneficial transaction.<sup>3</sup>

Critics insist that it is not possible to abandon one's own ethnocentric bias (and thereby the cultural dominant claim), however justified skepticism and knowledge of complexity and ambivalence should not prevent us from further developing it (Hagenbüchle 2002). The point made by transculturality is that having a distance to one's own cultural background and being able to refer to several cultural systems (Castells 2001, in: Pütz 2004), does not mean giving up one's own values, but gaining an ethno-relative perspective and embracing a situational non-normativity.

In contrast to interculturality or multiculturality, transculturality does not aim to overcome differences, which always has the connotation of implementing one's own normative beliefs. The claim for non-normativity inherent in transculturality believes in a common ground<sup>4</sup>, which does not necessarily consist of globally shared values, but is the first of a social process. A common understanding of the situational significance of values is not given or stable, but instead has to be continually developed. Hence, humanity's shared moral bond is "not a metaphysical universal, but a discursive process of practical learning" (Wieland 2016: 15). Thinking about reciprocal exchange, Antweiler (2011: 99) introduces "pancultural universals", which are universal, not considering their local diversity but rather their function as structures that shape human interaction and enable humans to enter into a learning process in the first place. Examples can be music, happiness, love but also authority and inequality, which may all overlap sufficiently to start a conversation.

Some may see not giving up one's own values and still possessing a situational non-normativity as contradictory forces, which cannot work at the same time. Collins and Porras (1994) describe this leadership problem as the 'tyranny of the OR'. The OR accepts either one way OR another, but not both at the same time. This results in a cultural trap, due to the fact that alternatives are neglected. The Chinese dualistic philosophy and its concept of yin/yang is the ideal basis for seeing opposites as com-

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  For a discussion on transcultural learning and commonalities, see the chapters by Wieland & Baumann Montecinos (2019: 11-20) and by Wieland (2019: 21-41) in this book.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For a detailed discussion on this aspect, see Urthaler's text on "Transculturality and its Focus on Communalities" in this book (2019: 113-141).

plementary. The so called 'genius of the AND' is able to embrace both forces of a dimension at the same time. Decision makers who follow the vin/yang philosophy figure out a way to have both A AND B: "Longterm AND short-term, profitable AND doing good, low costs AND quality are all possible if the OR can be replaced with the AND" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 63). The genius of the AND becomes possible because the characteristics and properties of other groups achieve a status of strength; this status of strength is based on a non-normativity which enables an ethno-relative recognition of the other. This ethno-relativity or cultural relativity can be seen as "not privileging any cultural difference as being inherently better or worse" (ibid.: 19). But how can an ethno-relative perspective be achieved? Similar to the yin/yang philosophy, a different theoretical stance on culture is taken by Han (2005). He shows that interculturality and multiculturality are, in various ways, a Western phenomenon. Historically, they are rooted in the context of nationalism and colonialism; philosophically, they presume an essentialization of culture. In this understanding, culture possesses a 'nature', and cultural exchange is not seen as a process that forms culture, but rather as a special and 'eligible' act. The realization that one's own culture is one of many: "no better or worse in a culturally relative way" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 91), not only includes a recognition of the other, but also of one's own inherent cultural baggage.

Based on these remarks on the concept of transculturality, the following sections will suggest a first conceptualization of transcultural competence on an individual level. As the following considerations will reveal, intercultural operationalization and measurements can be treated as related concepts in order to further define transcultural competence, even though their perspective on culture might be different.

## 3. Conceptualization of Transcultural Competence

When thinking about the conceptualization of transcultural competence, it becomes clear that an approach focusing on characteristics alone may not be able to define transcultural competence, because "there can be no culture except where there is some consensus. Consensus is a matter of understanding. It is transmitted through communication, through example and through participation in a common life" (Park, 1920s). Therefore,

transcultural competence will be in line with the definition of the 'Marginal Man', which doesn't focus on a personality type but on a social process (Park 1950: 376). Thus, the overarching goal while tackling transculturality on an individual level, should be to keep in mind that transcultural competence may be an inter-subjective accomplishment.

Griese (2005) gives a short introduction to competence regarding intercultural interaction and distinguishes it from education and qualification. While education usually has an end in itself, qualification carries a professional usability. Competence connects education and qualification. But there is no consensus concerning what competence actually means (ibid.). By reviewing measurement and operationalization concepts of intercultural competence, Matveev and Merz (2014: 123) are able to deliver a broad - and therefore agreeable - definition of intercultural competence: "Intercultural competence is one's knowledge and ability to successfully deal with intercultural encounters". The divergence in particular contents is high. Recent reviews "include more than 30 intercultural competence models and more than 300 related constructs" (Leung et al. 2014: 496). The goal of intercultural competence assessment is therefore to understand at "what level a person is at the given moment, what their knowledge level and abilities are" (Mažeikienė & Virgailaitė-Mečkauskaitė 2007: 74). Importantly, Deardoff (2006) states that intercultural competence is a lifelong process. Due to the fact that transculturality does not focus on static snap-shots, but rather on a dynamic process, an assessment of transcultural competence can only be a stopover.

When analysing the short- and long-term influences on components of transcultural competence, it becomes clear that there is a distinction between different competency dimensions: They can be divided into cognitive, affective and behavioural components. Even though there is no agreed-upon definition of intercultural competence, most of the concepts can be analysed with the underlying distinction as well. (1) The cognitive dimension is about people's thoughts, attitudes, and interpretations: Culture-specific knowledge, cognitive attitude, open-mindedness/flexibility, critical thinking, personal autonomy and motivation. (2) The affective dimension is about people's feelings, moods, and emotions. It includes: Cultural empathy, emotional stability/control and affective attitudes. (3) The behavioural dimension is about action and social exchange. It includes: Experience, social initiative, leadership, and communication dimensions (Matveev & Merz 2014: 129-132). Consequently, outcomes of (1) cogni-

tive components, (2) affective components, and (3) behavioural components can be (1) knowledge and attitudes, (2) attitudes and (3) skills, and therefore impact again on all competency dimensions. Knowledge enables one to understand aspects of cultures and may often be acquired in the short term. Attitudes enable one to see members of different cultures, and experience interaction with them, with different attitudes, from different perspectives and with different values, and may be acquired in the medium to long term (Spencer & Spencer 1993). Attitudes like new thinking, openness and valuing of differences are among cognitive competencies, while other attitudes like emotional strength, inner purpose or spirit of adventure are more strongly related to affective components. Therefore, attitudes are affective and cognitive in nature. Skills as an outcome will enable the participant to do something in the intercultural context effectively and appropriately (like experience, leadership or communication) and may be acquired in the short to medium term (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 201). In order to assess transcultural competence in a comprehensive manner, it may be developed as a tool addressing the three competency dimensions introduced. Hence, this tool may be applied to different contexts and disciplines. The distinction between cognitive, affective and behavioural dimensions can be a starting point for scholars and practitioners to build on, with the goal of a transcultural competence definition which is more nuanced and detailed

When transcultural competence is divided into cognitive, affective and behavioural components, various (sub-)competencies can be defined and developed via different pedagogical activities such as training, coaching or teaching. At the same time, they can develop over time, based on the personality, socialization and experience of the person in question. Leiba-O'Sullivan (1999) differentiates between stable and dynamic competencies. Dynamic competencies are the ones that can be trained better and that are also context- and task-dependent. Stable competencies are usually defined in terms of personality traits or predispositions. Furthermore, stable and dynamic competencies can be categorized in terms of longterm and short-term competencies. To give an example: Two (sub-)competencies of most conceptualizations of intercultural competence can serve as an orientation towards transcultural competence: Active listening can be acquired and improved in the short or medium term through training and practice, because active listening is a skill and belongs to the behavioural dimension, which is the most dynamic dimension. On the other hand, openness is rather linked to the personality and to the cognitive dimension, and it is more difficult to develop in the short-term. Openness may develop over space and time i.e., by simply living in societal contexts, or by educational activities (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 200).

Accordingly, the difficulty encountered in the individual development of transcultural competence is that it depends highly on attitudes, affective qualities and a cognitive dimension which can only be developed in the medium or long term. However, Fowler and Blohm (2004: 46) imply that perceived long-term changes may partly be initiated even in the short-term: "If the outcome of the training is that trainees will modify their attitudes, methods need to touch trainees' belief systems, often intensely". As a result of the globalizing world, developing transcultural competence becomes more and more important at an age when values, attitudes and other qualities are generally developed, which links transcultural competence to personality. "Transcultural competence is not a one-time episodic phenomenon. Rather, it is a long-term learning and practicing process" (Ting-Toomey 1999: 263). Some individuals internalize more than one linguistic and cultural reference system and can therefore be considered bipolar or multipolar.<sup>5</sup> Their "insider outsider status" can be described as "polycentric, *i.e.*, able to apply diverse meaning and action systems and to take up more neutral meta-positions [...]" (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 202). This status is usually acquired via immigration or mobility, while Erikson (1973) defines youth as the crucial stage in the development of an identity, which would be in line with the long-term process of learning and practicing. Regarding transcultural competence as a crucial component for international management, Leung et al. (2014: 508) state:

"The literature on leader and executive development suggests that 70% of development occurs through direct, on-the-job experience, whereas training accounts for less than 10% of development, and coaching and mentoring account for the remaining 20%."

Hence, there is an advocacy for on-the-job experience as a strong development tool. On-the-job experience can also be called 'situated learning',

<sup>5</sup> For the concept of biculturalism and a study on the transcultural competencies of biculturals, see Salice-Stephan's text in this book (2019: 75-111).

and the argument is that "doing" is not separable from "knowing" (ibid.: 509). One way to combine both concepts is learning communities, which enable participants to exchange their cultural practices, solve collective problems, and reflect.

To summarize, the conceptualization of transcultural competence may be distinguished between cognitive, affective and behavioural dimensions in order to make it more nuanced and detailed on an individual level. Most of the decisive (sub-)competencies may be acquired in the longterm learning and practicing process i.e., during a person's youth as the crucial stage in the development of an identity. Nevertheless, long-term changes may partly be initiated even in the short-term focusing on onthe-job experience. Against this backdrop, in the following the theoretical understanding on how to measure transcultural competence will be developed.

#### 4. Measuring Transcultural Competence

De Munck (2000: 50) is right when he criticizes the fact that culture "cannot be reduced to a list of traits [or] variables but must be studied holistically. A culture or a self is not equal to the sum of its parts [...]". But justified scepticism and knowledge about complexity cannot prevent us from further developing our understanding of transcultural competence, and thus, the critique leads to the emphasis that the cultural and environmental context - and not just the individual's competence - are decisive for the successful outcome. Moreover, transcultural competence can be seen as an "incremental learning journey whereby [...] communicators learn to mutually adapt to each other's behaviours appropriately and flexibly" (Ting-Toomey 1999: 263). In contrast, many of the coherent cultural concepts conceive practice as predictable. In this case, culture becomes a "re-enactment of values" – a pure "execution" (Bourdieu 1977: 25). Because of its coherence, culture is considered to be static, and as measurable and comparable through quantitative analysis, such as self-assessments. This can be seen as the primary unit of analysis in understanding culture today. And yet, Oyserman et al. (2002) make the point that the dimension of a national culture is not appropriate for explaining the variance of individualism. Transculturality acknowledges a contingent outcome during the process of interaction, rather than predicting outcomes based on the "re-enactment of values". Consequently, comparison between averages does not enable us to transfer a finding to a specific cultural situation. In every cultural specific situation, some patterns may be identifiable, but the "evidence of diversity in values, descriptions and in practice" (McSweeney 2015: 27) is stronger. If an individual is simply assigned to the values/attitudes or disposition associated with a country, the stereotyping and its uniformity could even be described as 'racism', if the 'genes' of a certain culture are supposedly inherent in a respective individual.

Different perspectives on culture lead to different ways of acquiring knowledge of culture. Thus, Glover's and Friedman's distinction of psychometric and cultural metric (2015: 107) help us with regard to how we distinguish methods of competence measurement:

- In the psychometric approach, the individual is seen as the basic unit of analysis, and quantitative methods are therefore more valuable than qualitative ones. To assess an individual's competence, self-assessments are commonly used. However, social desirability, especially across cultures, questions the validity of self-assessments. Depending on the specific cultural context, there could be a tendency to agree rather than to disagree or to behave culturally appropriate. Nevertheless, the psychometrics approach makes it possible to analyse large amounts of data effectively. An important shift of the psychometrics approach towards an operationalization of transculturality is made with the introduction of the so-called socio-cultural encounter: "Our focus is not just on individuals as actors as much as it is on the sociocultural encounters themselves, which always involve at least two actors", stated Glover & Friedman (ibid.: 47). Due to the simulation of a complex cultural situation, questionnaires can create an interaction situation, and thus the potential for more complex answers. The following case shows how interactive measures, based on actual sociocultural encounters, are operationalized (Friedman et al. 2013): Sociocultural encounters occur whenever one social actor meets another, and each socio-cultural encounter has a specific context and specific stakeholders with probably different cultural-value orientations, as well as other dynamic dimensions, e.g., power differentials. The research approach of the socio-cultural encounter may be a way to operationalize transculturality, because transcultural competence is "an intersubjective accomplishment, and thus highly qualitative in nature" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 107).

Another approach is the cultural metric, which refers to a more holistic approach to culture, defined by numerical, narrative or mixed methods. Qualitative focus groups, observations (informant-based measures), individually structured interviews, and quantitative surveys can give a complex view of the performance of an organization. In informant-based measurements, informants report on the behaviour, and hence the competences, of the respective person. Critics emphasise that the informants may differ in their possibility to observe (Hoffman et al. 2010), and in their particular qualifications (Woehr & Huffcutt 1994). Multisource ratings can be a way to minimize potential biases by asking informants to rate based on recall (Conway & Huffcutt 1997). Cultural metric approaches are rarely used, due to the associated costs and the resources and time required (Glover & Friedman 2015).

It has been shown that socio-cultural encounters may be an important shift of the psychometrics approach of predicting outcomes based on the "re-enactment of values" to acknowledge a contingent outcome during the process of interaction.

## 5. Analysis of related Concepts and Methods of Measurements

The derived theoretical aspects determined the selection of three related concepts, which will be presented in the following. Naturally, this analysis could include other concepts.<sup>6</sup> Throughout the analysis, the following questions will be considered: 1. What are the respective definitions of competence in the concepts? 2. Is there a paradigm shift to positive cross-cultural scholarship? 3. How is the concept operationalized? 4. What does it measure? 5. What are the differences compared to the derived theoretical aspects of Transcultural Competence?<sup>7</sup>

<sup>6</sup> The original work includes the analysis of the Global Leadership and Organisational Behaviour Effectiveness program (GLOBE), as well as the analysis of The International Profiler (TIP).

<sup>7</sup> The first publication of this work was in May 2017. In December 2017 the OECD announced that Global Competence will be a part of PISA. This may be highly relevant because youth is seen as the crucial development stage to the development

#### 5.1 Intercultural Competence Profiler (ICP)

The Intercultural Competence Profiler (ICP) is one of the tools offered by Trompenaars-Hampden-Turner Consulting. They do not publish all their know-how, which makes analysis more hypothetical. In fact, Trompenaars and Hampden-Turner have rarely been the subject of investigation of researchers not associated to them, which makes it difficult to estimate the extent to which the instruments are valid or reliable. Hofstede's article "Riding the Waves of Commerce" (1996) provides a correlation and factor analysis of data used by Trompenaars and presents serious concerns about the conclusion, method and content validity of an earlier tool of the ICP. Even though they might compete against each other, both approaches, Hofestede's and Trompenaars', have several things in common: Both analyse non-verbal communication, both focus on 'national cultures' and compare them to each other, and both build their quantitative dimensional approach on the basis of values surveys.

Trompenaars' essential concept of reconciliation can be considered to be relative to the outlined approach of the genius of the AND. In the concept of reconciliation the first step is to identify commonalities (*i.e.*, shared meanings):

"Thinking about situations in your own life [which] might help you to understand that behaviours that seemingly differ are often different only in terms of the type of situations in which you observe them, not in terms of their function. This will prevent you from prematurely valuing a behaviour as negative and, more importantly, help you understand what the other person is actually trying to do" (Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner 2012: 198).

This quote emphasizes that, in order to be able to find commonalities, it is important not to necessarily stick to the sole solution which one might have in mind at the beginning of the intercultural interaction. Trompenaars et al. argue that a difference can also be seen as a complementarity when elements interact in the right way. They state that there are no needs for polarities such as either/or or right/wrong (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016). With reconciliation they may have found a way of seeing com-

in the long-term learning process. Further studies may analyze this new and promising global assessment tool.

monalities, also in differences. In addition, and comparable to the sociocultural encounter approach of Glover & Friedman (2015), Hampden-Turner (1990) developed his dilemma theory. A dilemma represents a situation in which the individual has to choose one from various options, each entailing advantages and disadvantages. Similar to other concepts, Trompenaars and Hampden-Turner work with bipolar value dimensions based on nations as units of analysis, which are generally regarded as a possibility for solving interactional problems. In contrast to others, values are not regarded as absolutes but as virtues (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016). Dilemma theory leads to a dynamic and circular understanding of intercultural competence by reconciling differences. The foundation of reconciliation is self-awareness as well as an ethno-relative approach: Being aware of one's own mental models and cultural predispositions, respecting and understanding the predispositions of others by knowing that they are legitimately different. This can be particularly useful in practice and for finding solutions to management issues with more than just one and the only 'best way'. Trompenaars-Hampden-Turner Consulting offers a variety of profiling and assessment tools. In addition, to tools focused on organizations and teams, there are various instruments "for determining cross-cultural orientations and preferences" (Trompenaars Hampden-Turner Consulting 2017) on an individual scale.

Against this backdrop, the focus of this analysis is on the ICP, which is based on the process of reconciliation. The ICP attempts to describe and measure certain modes of thought, sensitivities, intellectual skills and explanatory capacities that might, in some measure, contribute to the formation of intercultural competence (Trompenaars & Woolliams 2009: 166). Twelve components define not only the process of reconciliation but also intercultural competence (Figure 1). Trompenaars and Hampden-Turner state that the ICP is a business tool focusing, unlike other competence tools, on a spectrum of cross-cultural awareness and not on a basic area of knowledge or behaviour. The self-assessment can be conducted online, and the tools provide information on the level of interculturality in which each of the twelve components can be considered on their own even though they are dependent on each other.



Figure 1: Four Aspects of Intercultural Competence

Source: Originally from Trompenaars & Wooliams, adapted by Glover & Friedman 2015: 9.

The idea of reconciliation firmly believes in the need for real partnerships, meaning that partners can be themselves while interacting. Reconciling differences is to "be ourselves, yet see and understand how the other's perspectives can help our own" (Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner 2012: 247). Even though the process of reconciliation has strong commonalities with the conceptualization of transcultural competence, Trompenaars and Hampden-Turner still build their analysis on internally coherent cultures and consider the nation as the basic unit of analysis. This becomes especially clear when the business advice is made not to rely on cultural "hybrids". "Foreign cultures have an integrity," Trompenaars claims, "people who abandon their culture become weakened and corrupt"

(in Breidenbach & Nvri 2009: 321). McSweenev (2015) notes understandably that this "view is methodologically, analytically and prescriptively problematic" (McSweeney 2015: 39). In contrast, managers who are "hybrids" are more often successful than those who have just experienced one country (Brannen 2009; Shenkar 2012; Tung 1998, in McSweeney 2015). This goes in line with Salice-Stephan's findings as presented in this book that "biculturals show a higher degree of 'metacognition' than monoculturals" (2019: 105). The idea that most people 'belong' to one culture shows that the conceptualization is based on islands rather than networks. Even more objection occurs because Trompenaars' cultural incompatibility is not based on empirical work but was solely deduced from the basic unit of a nation and its supposedly coherent internal culture. Furthermore, the concept does not specify how to actually communicate in daily situations, even though the process of reconciliation shifts the culture-comparative approach to a culture-interactional perspective.8

However, despite all the criticism mentioned above, as a business tool, Trompenaars' and Hampden-Turner's ICP focuses on a spectrum of crosscultural awareness (including characteristics) instead of a basic area of knowledge or behaviour, which distinguishes it from other competence tools. The cross-cultural awareness in combination with reconciliation and the genius of the AND, may be the first step towards a non-normativity. Even though the static dimensions do not guarantee high face validity, values are considered as virtues, which leads to a dynamic and circular understanding, which makes reconciliation possible. In doing so, the self-assessment applied by Trompenaars and Hampden-Turner has two remarkable aspects. First, the process of reconciliation is based on the dilemma theory which includes socio-cultural encounters, which forces individuals to explain their behaviour and gives further details on their cognitive and affective dimensions. Second, the tool gives a level of intercultural competence in which each of the twelve components can be considered on its own. Even though they are dependent, this enables the user to get feedback and work on developing specific competencies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For a more detailed way of achieving Reconciliation, see pp. 200-211 of Trompenaars' & Hampden-Turner's book "Riding the Waves of Culture" (2012), in which they summarize the culture-interactional perspective in ten steps.

#### Thilo von Gilsa

#### 5.2 Intercultural Competence Assessment (INCA)

The research project Intercultural Competence Assessment (INCA) (Kirchberger 2009) is co-authored by Byram and based on his theoretical approach to knowledge discovery. It is, moreover, enriched with components identified by Kühlmann and Stahl (Culture-Interaction) and by Gudykunst (Mindfulness) (1988). Kühlmann and Stahl (1998) use the notion of "can do" statements, which try to operationalize each of the competency indicators with their own descriptors in order to make them describable in actual behaviour. The focus is therefore rather on the process of communication. The concept of mindfulness helps one to make conscious choices in particular situations and to be able to communicate effectively (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009). Langer describes acting mindfully as (1) perceiving behaviour and information in sociocultural encounters as new; (2) taking different perspectives on socio-cultural encounters; (3) interpreting the context in which the person is behaving; and (4) creating new categories and thus being able to understand behaviour (Langer 1997: 111). The practical aim is "to develop a valid framework of intercultural competence and robust instruments for assessing intercultural competence to meet the needs of employers" (Prechtl & Davidson-Lund 2007, as cited in Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 68).

INCA consists of six different characteristics, which define intercultural competence (see indicators in Table 1). Each characteristic is divided into motivation, skill/knowledge and behaviour. These three sub-characteristics can be assigned to the derived components (cognitive, affective and behavioural) of transcultural competence.

Unlike most intercultural competence instruments, which are usually based on self-assessment, the INCA is defined by a mixed method and includes the assessment of observers. More precisely, there are three assessment types combining direct and indirect ways of measuring intercultural competence: Questionnaires, scenarios and role plays. Each of the assessments consists of multiple subcomponents, such as motivation, skill/knowledge and behaviour or the skill level differentiation.

Besides the questionnaire component (Sinicrope et al. 2007: 31), the assessment types, scenarios and role plays, have a direct assessment approach. Scenarios are text- and video-based, and there are either multiple

choice or open-ended questions. Each scenario is based on one of the six dimensions of intercultural competence.<sup>9</sup>

Tolerance for ambiguity	Behavioural flexibility	Com- municative awareness	Knowledge discovery	Respect for otherness	Empathy
	Indicator: Cognitive dimension				
Readiness for ambiguity (M)	Readiness to apply full range or repertoire of behaviour (M)		Skills of ethnographic discovery of cultural knowl- edge (S)	Willingness to respect (M), Critical knowl- edge of such systems (S)	Willingness to take other's perspective (M), decentring (S)
	Indicator: Affective dimension				
Handle stress (S)			Curiosity (M)		
	Iı	ndicator: Behav	ioural dimensio	n	
Managing ambiguous situations (B)	Having a broad repertoire (S), Adapting be- haviour to the situation (B)	Ability to identify differ- ent communi- cative conven- tions, language proficiency (S+B)	Including technical knowledge (S), Seeking information to discover culture-related knowledge (B)	Treating equally differ- ent behaviour, value and convention systems (B)	Skills of role- taking, Awareness (S), Making explicit and relating culture-specific perspectives (B)

Table 1: INCA and its characteristics

Note: (M) = Motivation, (S) = Skill/Knowledge, (B) = Behaviour. Motivation, Skill/Knowledge and Behaviour are being assigned to the derived components (cognitive, affective and behavioral) of transcultural competence.

Source: Based on Prechtl & Davidson-Lund 2007: 472.

<sup>9</sup> This is one example of a text-based, open-ended question in a scenario: "One disadvantage of your work placement is that the weekends are rather lonely. You normally spend time with friends and family and you miss this social side of your life. At work you become friendly with a colleague who can speak your language. This colleague says that he will telephone to invite you to the house during the weekend. The telephone does not ring. There could be a number of explanations for this.

1. On the Monday morning you decide to talk to a local colleague about this. How would you explain what had happened and how would you find out from the colleague what the explanation could be?

2. Later in the morning you meet the colleague who did not phone. He/she tells you he/she could not phone because 'My mother asked me to go shopping for her'. Write a few lines as part of a letter/e-mail to your family telling them about this incident and explaining why it happened." (Sinicrope et al. 2007: 32f.).

During the role plays, observers evaluate the behaviour of the examinees. Just like the other assessments, the role play is also provided online. Individuals from different cultures and with different customs, work on a project together and are able to discover and respect each other (Sinicrope et al. 2007).

The results of the INCA assessments are collected in the so-called dossier and, to further support the individual in his or her learning, records are kept. The idea of an intercultural learning diary is implemented in the biography section and in the passport section as part of the dossier, "which allow the individual to keep a record of significant intercultural experiences" and to "evaluate his/her experiences, learning and progress" (Prechtl & Davidson-Lund 2007: 482, as cited in Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 195). Due to its relatively objective assessment by observers, the INCA project may be a promising tool.<sup>10</sup> The written exercises, such as scenarios, are an effective solution when aiming to profile affective and cognitive aspects of intercultural competence online. The open-ended questions recall Hampden-Turner and Trompenaars' dilemma theory.

Complementarily, the assessment of behavioural aspects of intercultural competence is done by role plays: "the assesses work together in a team with counterparts from another culture. They are observed by trained assessors, who score their behaviour against the INCA grid" (ibid.: 483).

In some respects, the multiple approach with different assessment tools is INCA's unique selling proposition, but at the same time it constitutes a major reason for criticism. The inclusion of observers may increase the validity, but it also raises doubt about the reliability. Will a different observer have the same assessment and, even more importantly, can the assessment be repeated with different examinees from different cultures? The training and knowledge, skills and experiences of the observers are crucial for a successful assessment. It "is almost exclusively carried out by applied linguists and discourse analysts" (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 251), in order to assess exact verbal and non-verbal behaviour. High costs can be expected, and having in mind the origin, INCA being a research project by the European Union, might explain the rather costly, but presumably elaborate approach. The culture-general

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> More details on INCA's questionnaires, scenarios and role plays are available online at https://ec.europa.eu/migrant-integration/librarydoc/the-inca-project-inter cultural-competence-assessment?lang=de (accessed 23 Apr. 2017).

approach on intercultural competence has no culture-specific consideration, and there is no empirical research available on how members of, e.g., non-European cultures would differ. Yet there is no published research available using the INCA tool. An analysis of the INCA project reveals that the notion of the nation as the basic unit of analysis seems to be dissolved, because individual characteristics are not related to national norms. Culture is a dynamic concept that is particularly focused on the attitudes, and hence the behaviour, affecting the way people work. The strong focus on behaviour and the six dimensions can be related to transcultural competence. Precisely the dimensions respect for otherness and empathy may be a strong step toward non-normativity.

## 5.3 Cultural Intelligence (CQ)

Cultural Intelligence (CQ) was called the "new kid on the scientific block" (Gelfand *et al.* 2008: 376) and was formally introduced by Earley & Ang (2003: 3):

"CQ, defined as an individual's capability to function and manage effectively in culturally diverse settings" (Earley & Ang 2003), is consistent with Schmidt and Hunter's (2000) definition of general intelligence (IQ) as "the ability to grasp and reason correctly with abstractions [concepts] and solve problems".

Based on the IQ model, Ang et. al (2007) derived four components which can describe CQ: (1) CQ-Strategy characterizes the mental ability to acquire knowledge. (2) CQ-Knowledge describes the actual knowledge about culture (Leung et al. 2014: 494). (3) CQ-Motivation "refers to the mental capacity to direct and sustain energy on a particular task or situation" (Ng et al. 2012: 32). (4) CQ-Behaviour "refers to outward manifestations or overt actions: what a person does rather than what he or she thinks" (ibid.: 32).

Because of its connection to intelligence research, cognitive processes like "self- and other awareness, analogical reasoning, and pattern recognition" (Thomas & Inkson 2004: 31) become part of intercultural competence. Ting-Toomey (1999) takes mindfulness and develops it as the essential communication skill component regarding transcultural competence. He defines four steps and calls it ODIS (Observe, Describe, Interpret, Sus-

CQ-Strategy	<ol> <li>Be conscious of the cultural knowledge (CK)</li> <li>adjust CK,</li> <li>apply CK in ICI,</li> <li>check the accuracy of CK</li> </ol>
CQ-Knowledge	<ol> <li>legal and economic system of cultures,</li> <li>rules of other languages,</li> <li>cultural values and religious beliefs,</li> <li>marriage systems, arts and crafts,</li> <li>rules of non-verbal behaviour</li> </ol>
CQ-Motivation	<ol> <li>Enjoy interacting with other cultures,</li> <li>Confident in socializing,</li> <li>confident in dealing with stress,</li> <li>enjoy living in unfamiliar cultures,</li> <li>Confident in getting accustomed</li> </ol>
CQ-Behaviour	<ol> <li>Change verbal behaviour,</li> <li>Use pause and silence to suit different intercultural interaction,</li> <li>Vary the rate of speaking,</li> <li>Change non-verbal behaviour,</li> <li>Alter facial expressions</li> </ol>

Table 2: CQ-components and its descriptors

Note: The descriptors operationalize each CQ-component (and its outcome). CQ-Strategy and CQ-Knowledge can be assigned to the derived cognitive dimension. CQ-Motivation also belongs to the cognitive and also to the affective dimension. CQ-Behaviour belongs to the behavioural dimension.

Source: Based on Van Dyne 2017.11

pend/Evaluation) analysis (ibid.: 269). (1) Observe verbal and non-verbal signals.<sup>12</sup> (2) Describe the behaviour and mental predisposition in the socio-cultural encounter. (3) Make sense of the behaviour by generating multiple interpretations. (4) Decide: "respect the differences and suspend our ethnocentric evaluation" or "engage in open-ended evaluation by ac-

<sup>12</sup> Similarly, it could be said: "When in doubt, the best strategy may be to simply let the other person lead" (Meyer 2016: 191).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Available at: http://intranet.chw.edu.hk/~ac/S6\_HealthProject\_SampleReport3.pdf (accessed 23 Apr. 2017).

knowledging our discomfort with unfamiliar behaviours" (Ting-Toomey 1999: 269).

CQ is a long-term concept, which develops and improves over time. This distinguishes it from other concepts of intelligence, by focusing on abilities rather than on personality traits (Ng et al. 2012: 50). Matsumoto and Hwang (2013) emphasize that CQ is more elaborate than other concepts of intelligence. It is thus not only an assessment, but also a development tool. The development tool is constructed because of its behavioural approach, its focus on management practice, and especially its long-term perspective, including outcomes which again strengthen components of CQ.

It can be said that CQ is theoretically well founded due to its origin in the multiple-loci-of-intelligence arguments (Sternberg & Detterman 1986). It "is explicit on what it is [four factors of CO] and what it is not (it is not personality and not values)" (Ng et al. 2012: 31). CQ is not values, but can it therefore be a non-normative approach? Even though values are not an explicit component in the operationalization and measurement, they can still be an implicit part of the concept. Nevertheless, CQ might be an interesting approach to overcome the nation as the basic unit of analysis, because it does not perceive culture as nation. Here, culture is contextual, and the questions can be applied to different frames, such as national, ethnical, regional, or functional backgrounds, or to subgroups like age, gender, religion, etc. At the beginning of each assessment it is important to explain the cultural context in order "to ensure that participants respond to questions with a consistent mental model" (Ng et al. 2012: 46). It must be noted as a limitation that there is not one common definition of CQ, and only because Thomas & Inkson (2004) combine mindfulness and CQ, this does not imply that this approach is universally applicable to CQ.

The primary method of CQ is the self-assessment, which predicts cross-cultural leader emergence better than related concepts like IQ, international experiences, and others. The common critique regarding self-assessments (e.g., social desirability) applies here, too. But research on CQ has been developing complementary measures such as informant-based and performance-based measures. Van Dyne et al. (2008) placed in the informant-based method an independent observer, who rates the assessee based on the CQ-scale, while Rockstuhl et al. (2013) introduced the multimedia situational judgement test methodology as a performance-

based measure of CQ. The performance-based measure can be seen as a complement to the psychometric measure. Due to its relatively short history, the concept of CQ and the understanding on how its competence can be developed are still relatively limited. In their reviews on intercultural competence, Matsumoto & Hwang (2013), as well as Leung et al. (2014: 495), come to the conclusion that CQ is nevertheless one of the "most promising" evidences, which is able to predict "a range of psychological, behavioural, and performance outcomes".

## 5.4 Systematization of the Concepts

The three related concepts analysed are now systematized regarding the derived theoretical aspects of the operationalization of transcultural competence. Each one offers overlapping aspects which may serve as a starting point for further operationalization.

Not all of the aspects of transcultural competence that were derived in the theoretical foundation could be found in the analysis of related concepts. However, they may be relevant for a further operationalization of transcultural competence, and the most important are thus summarized: (1) Literature suggests that 70 percent of development of competence occurs through direct experience, which leads to an advocacy for on-thejob experience as a strong development tool (Leung et al. 2014: 508). Tools can moreover include formal training, coaching, mentoring and learning communities. (2) Youth can be seen as the crucial stage in the development of an identity, which goes in line with the long-term learning and practicing process (Erikson 1973). An interplay between personality, socialization and life experience develops transcultural competence. This may imply a task for society in general and a call for educational policies. (3) Even though ICP and CO focus on commonalities and consider differences, they are not in line with the positive cross-cultural scholarship. Understanding how culture works as a cognitive process may be one essential part of transcultural competence. Alterity instead of alienness may be one further component. Another may be the search for a common denominator by perceiving cooperation at first as a social process to find and create shared values.

Concept	ICP	INCA	CQ
Dimension			
Network	_	×	-
Open	_	×	Х
Dynamic	×	×	×
Interaction	×	×	×
Non-normativity	×	×	×
Commonalities	×	_	×
Method	Self-assessment incl. sociocultural encounters	Mixed method: Surveys, scenarios and role plays available online	Self-assessment, observer (informant- based), performance- based measure
Cognitive	×	×	×
Affective	×	×	×
Behavioral	×	×	×

Table 3: Systematization of the concepts

Note: Not all dimensions are systemized, for a deeper understanding see the particular analysis. Network = culture is perceived as a network and not as an island (nation state as a cultural container); Open = Culture changes and is not a coherent, closed block; Dynamic = Context is dynamic and not static; Interaction = Culture-interactional perspective focuses on behavior and not on abstract characteristics; non-normativity = unbiased approach, abstaining from a normative point of reference and gaining an ethnorelativity; Commonalities = positive approach on commonalities, cooperation-oriented.

Source: Own representation.

# 6. Implications for the operationalization of Transcultural Competence

The 'substrate' of all considerations induces that transcultural competence can be defined as a cooperation-oriented ability to find and create commonalities, regardless of the specifics of the socio-cultural encounter. Selfawareness, understanding how culture works and experiences lead to nonnormativity. The developed ethno-relative perspective perceives sociocultural encounters as contingent processes in order to generate mutual understanding. By perceiving culture as a network, a dynamic, open concept is established. The concepts of reconciliation and the genius of the AND are able to bridge differences by seeing commonalities and become an important component of transculturality and its competence. This work has also shown that the abstract characteristics often found in self-assessments need to be complemented with a more qualitative approach focusing on behaviour and its actual description in culture-interactional situations. Scenarios and dilemmas may be a first step to develop self-assessments with higher validity. The transcultural competence tool may benefit from the trend towards combined designs (Sinicrope et al. 2007: 40) and may – depending on the context and the task – include a complementary approach.

There is no agreed-upon definition of transcultural competence, but the indicators of the analysis and those developed in the theoretical foundation may be enough to develop a first prototype as an orientation for the further development of transcultural competence. Since no empirical

	Cognitive Dimension
Culture-specific, Knowledge, Cognitive Attitude, Motivation, Personal Autonomy	Culture-specific knowledge as basis, knowledge of one's own cul- ture (Sievers 2005: 178)
	Self-reflection/awareness (Bird et al. 2009: 817-819), tolerance for ambiguity, open-mindedness, flexibility, respectfulness, adaptabil- ity, creativity (Ting-Toomey 1999: 272), moral inclusion / category inclusiveness (Ting-Toomey 1999: 275), value-free openness (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 201), interest flexibility (Bird et al. 2009: 816), new thinking (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 201), looking for commonalities, sustainably reflect on the cultural sur- rounding, not pursuing determined goal but being cooperation- oriented in a contingent process
	Self-confidence, perceiving oneself as an individual (Hauenschild & Wulfmeyer 2005: 198), cosmopolitan outlook (Bird et al. 2009: 816), critical thinking
	Affective Dimension
Cultural Empathy, Affective Attitude	Sensitivity (Ting-Toomey 1999: 272), self-awareness (leads to), sense of humility/compassion/reconciliation (Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner 2012: 200), ethno-relative perspective, alterity approach
	Inquisitiveness (Tucker et al. 2004: 815), patience (Meyer 2016: 191), emotional resilience, non-stress tendency (Bird et al. 2009: 819), inner purpose or spirit of adventure (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 201), optimism, trust giving

 Table 4: Prototype as an orientation for the further development

 of transcultural competence

	Behavioural Dimension
Experience, Social Initiative, Leadership, Communication Mindfulness	Foster a network of different contacts and positive social relation- ships (Hauenschild & Wulfmeyer 2005: 192), experience (about dilemmas) (Hauenschild & Wulfmeyer 2005: 198)
	Friendly and positive manner/politeness (Möhrer et al. 2016: 13), relationship skills (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 201), genius of the AND, contingent awareness, dynamic and circular understand- ing leads to reconciliation, framing the context, engaging actively in a project
	Behavioural flexibility (as the overall goal) (Ting-Toomey & Chung 2005), take serious account of the legitimate claims of others
	Communicative appropriateness (Franklin & Spencer-Oatey 2009: 54f.), competent language user (Kramsch 1998: 27), language pro- ficiency (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 214), listening mindfully (Ting-Toomey 1999: 264), active listening (Comfort & Franklin 2008: 94f.), get involved into a transcultural learning process, communication skill, qualification, understanding transculturality as a process, focus on action, working effectively in teams
	Mindfulness action: Observe, Describe, Interpret, Suspend/Create new categories, Reconciliation

Note: The respective source of each characteristic that was not elaborated in the chapters before can be found in the table. Due to its dimensions (cognitive, affective and behavioural) this table may be able to framework any kind of emerging competency.

Source: Own table based on Matveev & Merz 2014: 132.

investigations have examined the entire set of indicators embodied in the following prototype as an orientation for the further development of transcultural competence, caution is advised. These empirical investigations may be one next step for further research.

## 7. Conclusion

With its elaborations on the conceptualization of transcultural competence, as well as the analysis of related concepts regarding operationalization and measurement, this chapter may present some suggestions towards a more positive cross-cultural scholarship. It strengthens the theoretical foundation of transculturality by deriving a common definition of what transcultural competence may constitute. Concepts such as reconciliation (ICP), mindfulness (CQ) and the genius of the AND further operationalize transcultural competence by shifting the culture-comparative approach towards a culture-interactional perspective. By perceiving culture as a network of relations (Wieland 2018), a dynamic, open concept is established that understands values as dynamic and circular. These concepts are able to bridge differences by seeing commonalities and may be an important component of transculturality and its competence. It is important to emphasize that transculturality, its orientation towards cooperation and its operationalization do not neglect differences or culture-specific approaches. They all have their particular focus that makes them relevant in the respective contexts. However, culture-specific approaches are predominantly based on the nation as the basic unit. Nevertheless, this work does not suggest the abandonment of the nation as a basic unit per se, e.g., the laws and regulations that guide the behaviour of all inhabitants of a specific country can be considered as an outgrowth of an actual national culture.

The analysis has shown that all three selected concepts ICP, INCA and CQ, possess related approaches to transcultural competence, but an actual paradigm shift of positive cross-cultural scholarship needs to be taken. Alterity instead of alien-ness and the search for a common denominator by perceiving cooperation at first as a social process to find and create shared values may be one starting point. By focusing rather on abilities than on personality traits (Ng et al. 2012: 50), the operationalization of transcultural competence may be seen as a development tool. This approach is taken by CQ and is in line with the suggestion that 70 percent of the development of competence occurs through direct experience. This work has also shown that the abstract characteristics often found in selfassessments need to be complemented with a more qualitative approach focusing on behaviour and its actual description in culture-interactional situations.

There is still relatively limited understanding of how individuals develop transcultural competence. Hence, this work can be seen as a contribution, especially in its conceptualization of transcultural competence and in giving implications on operationalization and measurement. The derived orientation for the further development of transcultural competence (Table 4), as well as the systematization of the concepts (Table 3) are all prototypes – they all leave room for further research endeavours. Nevertheless, due to their dimensions and their developed distinction of e.g., cognitive, affective and behavioural dimensions of competencies, they are able to frame any other kind of emerging concept of intercultural competence. Moreover, the outcomes are particularly interesting for the operationalization of transcultural competence as a development tool and can also be classified into the same dimensions.

To conclude, culture might have freed us from the dictates of nature, shaped our knowledge and the consensus of groups and generations. Transculturality might free us from the obsession and convention of culture, which may allow us to participate in, and not negate, the valued traditions of other cultures (Epstein 1995).

## References

- Ang, S., Van Dyne, L., Koh, C., Ng, K., Templer, K. et al. (2007): Cultural intelligence: Its measurement and effects on cultural judgement and decision making, cultural adaptation, and task performance, Manag. Organ. Rev., 3: 335-371.
- Ang, S., Van Dyne, L. & Tan, M. (2011): Cultural intelligence, in: Sternberg, R.
   & Kaufman, S. (eds.), Cambridge handbook on intelligence, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Antweiler, C. (2011): Mensch und Weltkultur! Für einen realistischen Kosmopolitismus im Zeitalter der Globalisierung, Bielefeld: transcript Verlag.
- Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (2016): Intercultural Management, A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Bird, A., Mendenhall, M., Stevens, M. & Oddou, G. (2009): Defining the content domain of intercultural competence for global leaders, in: Journal of Managerial Psychology, 25(8): 810-828.
- Bourdieu, P. (1977): Outline of a Theory of Practice, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Breidenbach, J. & Nyíri, P. (2009): Seeing Culture Everywhere: From Genocide to Consumer Habits, Seattle: University of Washington Press.
- Comfort, J. & Franklin, P. (2008): The Mindful International Manager: Competences for Working Effectively Across Cultures, York: York Associates.
- Conway, J. & Huffcutt, A. (1997): Psychometric properties of multisource performance ratings: A meta-analysis of subordinate, supervisor, peer, and self-ratings, Hum. Perform., 10: 331-360.

- De Munck, V. (2000): Culture, Self and Meaning, Prospect Heights: Waveland Press.
- Deardoff, D. (2006): Identification and assessment of intercultural competence as a student outcome of internationalization, Journal of Studies in International Education, No 10: 241-266.
- Erikson, E. (1973): Identität und Lebenszyklus, Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Fowler, S. & Blohm, J. (2004): An analysis of methods for intercultural training, in: Landis, D., Bennett, J. and Bennett, M. (eds.), Handbook of Intercultural Training, London and Thousands Oaks: SAGE.
- Franklin, P. & Spencer-Oatey, H. (2009): Intercultural Interaction: A Multidisciplinary Approach to Intercultural Communication, Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Friedman, H., Glover, G., Sims, E., Culhane, E., Guest, M. & Van Driel, M. (2013): Cross-cultural competence: Performance-based assessment and training, Organization Development Journal, 31(2): 18-30.
- Glover, J. & Friedman, H. (2015): Transcultural Competence: Navigating cultural differences in the global community, Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Griese, H. (2005): Was kommt nach der Interkulturellen P\u00e4dagogik?, in: Datta, A. (eds.), Transkulturalit\u00e4t und Identit\u00e4t: Bildungsprozesse zwischen Exklusion und Inklusion, Berlin: Iko-Verlag.
- Gudykunst, W., Ting-Toomey, S., & Chua, E. (1988): Culture and interpersonal communication, Newbury Park: SAGE.
- Hagenbüchle, R. (2002): Von der Multi-Kulturalität zur Inter-Kulturalität, Würzburg: Königshausen und Neumann.
- Hampden-Turner, C. (1990): Charting the Corporate Mind: From Dilemma to Strategy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Han, B. (2005): Hyperkulturalität, Kultur und Globalisierung, Berlin: Merve.
- Hauenschild, K. & Wulfmeyer, M. (2005): Transkulturelle Identitätsbildung ein Forschungsprojekt, in: Datta, A. (eds.) Transkulturalität und Identität: Bildungsprozesse zwischen Exklusion und Inklusion Berlin: Iko-Verlag.
- Hofstede, G. (1996): Riding the waves of commerce: A test of trompenaars' "model" of national culture differences, in: International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 20(2): 189-198.
- Kirchberger, A. (2009): The INCA project: Intercultural Competence Assessment. Retrieved April 23, 2017 from https://ec.europa.eu/migrant-integra tion/librarydoc/the-inca-project-intercultural-competence-assessment?lang =de.

Kramsch, C. (1998): Language and Culture, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Knoblauch, H. (2007): Kultur, die soziale Konstruktion, das Fremde und das Andere, in: Dreher, J. and Stegmaier, P. (eds.), Zur Unüberwindbarkeit kultureller Differenz, Grundlagentheoretische Reflexion, Bielefeld: transcript Verlag.
- Langer E. (1997): The power of mindful learning, Reading: Addison-Wesley.
- Leiba-O'Sullivan, S. (1999): The distinction between stable and dynamic crosscultural competencies: Implications for expatriate trainability, in: Journal of International Business Studies, 30: 709-725.
- Leung, K., Ang, S. & Tan, M. (2014): Intercultural competence, in: Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 1: 489-519.
- Matsumoto, D. & Hwang, H. (2013): Assessing Cross-Cultural Comeptence: A Review of Available Tests, in: Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 20(10): 1-25.
- Matveev, A. & Merz, M. (2014): Intercultural Competence Assessment: What Are Its Key Dimensions Across Assessment Tools? International Association for Cross-Cultural Psychology, 123-135.
- Mažeikienė, N. & Virgailaitė-Mečkauskaitė, E. (2007): The experience of measurement and assessment of intercultural competence in education, in: Social Sciences, 58: 70-82.
- McSweeney, B. (2015): Hall, Hofstede, Huntington, Trompenaars, GLOBE: common foundations, common flaws, in: Sánchez, Y. and Brühweiler, C. (eds.), Transculturalism and business in the BRIC states: A handbook, Farnham: Gower.
- Meyer, E. (2016): The Culture Map: Decoding How People Think, Lead, and Get Things Done Across Cultures, New York: Public Affairs.
- Möhrer, M., Pillath, M., Simmank, F. & Suurendonk, M. (2016): Transculturalism and Leadership Excellence Evaluation of the Transcultural Profiler, Wittenberg: Wittenberg Center for Global Ethics.
- Ng, K., Van Dyne, L. & Ang, S. (2012): Cultural Intelligence: A Review, Reflections, and Recommendations for Future Research, in: Ryan, A., Leong, F. and Oswald, F. (eds.), Conducting Multinational Research: Applying Organizational Psychology in the Workplace, Washington: American Psychological Association.
- Park, R. (1920s): Retrieved April 23, 2017 from http://www.transcultural-car avan.org.
- Prechtl, E. & Davidson-Lund, A. (2007): Intercultural competence and assessment: perspectives from the INCA project, in: Kotthoff, H. and Spencer-Oatey, H. (eds.) Handbooks of Applied Linguistics, Volume 7: Handbook of Intercultural Communication, Berlin and New York: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Rockstuhl, T., Ang, S., Ng, K., Lievens, F. & Van Dyne L. (2013): The incremental value of assessing situational perspective taking in SJTs, presented at Annu. Conf. Soc. Ind. Organ. Psychol., 28<sup>th</sup>, April 11-13, Houston.
- Salice-Stephan, A. (2019): Transcultural by Biography. A Comparative Study on the Transcultural Competences of 'Biculturals' and 'Monoculturals', in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 75-111.
- Schütz, A. (1991): Der sinnhafte Aufbau der sozialen Welt, Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Sievers, I. (2005): Eine transkulturelle Perspektive in der Migrationsforschung, in: Datta, A. (eds.), Transkulturalität und Identität: Bildungsprozesse zwischen Exklusion und Inklusion, Berlin: Iko-Verlag.
- Sinicrope, C., Norris, J. & Watanbe, Y. (2007): Understanding and Assessing Intercultural Competence: A Summary of Theory, Research, and Practice (Technical Report for the foreign Language Programm Evaluation Project), Second Language Studies, 26(1): 1-58.
- Spencer, L. & Spencer, S. (1993): Competence at Work: Models for Superior Performance, New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Sternberg, R. & Detterman, D. (1986): What is intelligence? Contemporary viewpoints on its nature and definition, Norwood: Ablex.
- Thomas, D. & Inkson, K. (2004): Cultural Intelligence: People Skills for Global Business, Oakland: Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Ting-Toomey, S. (1999): Communicating Across Cultures, New York: The Guildford Press.
- Ting-Toomey, S. & Chung, L. (2005): Understanding Intercultural Communication, Los Angeles: Roxbury Publishing Company.
- Toffler, A. (1990): Powershift: Knowledge, Wealth, and Violence at the Edge of the 21st Century, New York: Bantam Books.
- Trompenaars, F. & Woolliams, P. (2009): Getting the measure of intercultural leadership, in: Moodian, M. (eds.), Contemporary Leadership and Intercultural Competence: Exploring Cross-Cultural Dynamics within Organizations, Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- Trompenaars, F. & Hampden-Turner, C. (2012): Riding the Waves of Culture: Understanding Cultural Diversity in Business, London: N. Brealey Publishing.
- Trompenaars Hampden-Turner Consulting (2017): Tools. Retrieved April 23, 2017 from http://www.thtconsulting.com/Website/OurTools/ICADreview.asp.

- Tucker, M., Bonial. R. & Lahti, K. (2004): The definition, measurement and predicition of intercultural adjustment and job performance among corporate expatriates, in: International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 28 (3/4): 221-251.
- Urthaler, S. (2019): Transculturality and its Focus on Commonalities, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 113-141.
- Van Dyne, L., Ang, S., & Koh, C. (2008): Development and validation of the CQS: The cultural intelligence scale. In: Ang, S. and Van Dyne, L. (eds.), Handbook on cultural intelligence: Theory, measurement and applications, Armonk: M.E. Sharpe.
- Welsch, W. (1992): Transkulturalität Lebensformen nach der Auflösung der Kulturen, München: Fink.
- Welsch, W. (1999): Transculturality The puzzling form of cultures today, in: Featherstone, M. and Lash, S. (eds.), Spaces of culture: City, nation, world, London: SAGE.
- Wieland, J. (2010): Globales Wirtschaftsethos als transkulturelles Management, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. and Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto Global Economic Ethic, Consequences and Challenges for Global Businesses, Munich: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag.
- Wieland, J. (2016): Transculturality and Economic Governance, in: Wieland, J. and Leisinger, K. (eds.) Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Wieland, J. (2018): Relational Economics. Ökonomische Theorie der Governance wirtschaftlicher Transaktionen, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Wieland, J. (2019): Transculturality as a Leadership Style A Relational Approach in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 21-41.
- Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (2019): A Competence-based Approach to Transcultural Leadership – Introduction to a Research Program, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 11-20.
- Woehr, D. & Huffcutt, A. (1994): Rater training for performance appraisal: A quantitative review, J. Occup. Organ. Psychol., 67: 189-205.
- Yousefi, H. & Braun, I. (2011): Interkulturalität Eine interdisziplinäre Einführung, Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft.

# **Transcultural by Biography**

# A Comparative Study on the Transcultural Competences of 'Biculturals' and 'Monoculturals'

Antonin Salice-Stephan

# 1. Introduction<sup>1</sup>

Global value chains, the internationalization of companies, worldwide mobility, mass migration, the dramatic deterioration of political rhetoric, and worldwide access to information technologies – we are living in a VUCA world: Volatile, uncertain, complex and ambiguous (Mack et al. 2015). Culture has become more important in the current environment, where much conflict takes place not just between states, but mostly between groups, divided along cultural lines within a state (Bercovitch & Foulkes 2012). As people interact globally and cross-culturally in this VUCA world, they are confronted with sets of rules and behaviours that are different from their own.

Traditional academic approaches claimed that cultures exist as a single homogeneous entity (Berg & Éigeartaigh 2010: 7). In the 18th century Johann Gottfried Herder (1966) proposed the idea of single cultures that are characterized by social homogenization, ethnic consolidation and intercultural delimitation. Even though his argumentation might – to a certain degree – correspond to the environment of the 18th century, it cannot be said to be true in the present day. Welsch (1999) argued that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The chapter at hand summarizes the findings of a research work conducted under the supervision of Prof Dr Josef Wieland. The original work has been presented as a Master thesis carrying the same title as this chapter.

"...cultures de facto no longer have the insinuated form of homogeneity and separateness. They have instead assumed a new form, which is to be called transcultural insofar that it passes through classical cultural boundaries. Cultural conditions today are largely characterized by mixes and permeations."

The mergence of cultures requires not only a modern cultural mindset, but also a new competence concept that is based on a cooperation-based ability to find and create commonalities within cultural diversity. Here, transcultural ideals can serve as a common bond in decision-making processes (Wieland & Leisinger 2016).

Transculturality can be described as a concept that helps to form "[...] an institutional condition of local and global cooperation that allows the productive handling of cultural diversity and the curbing of its potential destructiveness" (Wieland 2016: 13f.). Yet there is no clear academic approach on how to generate this 'transcultural competence' (TCC). The concept of transculturality assumes that transcultural values contribute to successful functioning within diverging cultures and helps in identifying and transcending cultural boundaries (Glover & Friedman 2015). However, the handling of diverging cultures and the awareness for cultures' external networking (Welsch 1999) seems intuitive and – to a certain extent – self-evident for one particular demographic: Biculturals.<sup>2</sup>

This study examines whether biculturals are indeed favourably equipped with competences that are of a transcultural nature. In order to do so, it will first demonstrate how biculturalism can influence personality traits, and why this influence can be of relevance for transculturality. A definition of TCC will then be precisely elaborated. The competence dimensions derived from the literature will then serve as the basis for the comparative and quantitative assessment of TCC. The overall goal of this paper is to construct a Transcultural Competence Questionnaire (TCCQ) that allows the TCC of biculturals and individuals to be compared, who were not significantly exposed to a second cultural frame during the course of their socialization (as a matter of simplification, the second group will be described as 'monoculturals' throughout this chapter). At

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Author's note: The term bicultural is being used to describe individuals who have (either been ascribed by birth or who have acquired) more than one cultural schema. This is consistent with how the term is used in the literature and can refer to three or even more cultures.

the end of this chapter, a discussion on the results of the TCCQ as well as an overview of the limitations and fields for further research will be presented.

## 2. Biculturalism and its reference to transculturality

It is assumed that people with a bicultural biography could help to better understand and design the 'decisive turn towards transculturality' (Welsch 1999). Bicultural individuals might be actors who have the potential to perceive cultures as dynamic networks and not as isolated containers. They are individuals who assumingly incorporate a mindset of combining opposites, who seek for commonness rather than seeing demarcation and, finally, who continuously participate in cultural exchange and interaction.

According to the relevant literature, biculturalism entails the synthesis of cultural norms from two (or more) groups into one behavioural repertoire and/or the ability to switch between cultural schemas, norms, and behaviours in response to cultural cues (Nguyen & Benet-Martinez 2007: 102). Bicultural individuals may be immigrants, sojourners (e.g., international students, expatriates), indigenous people, ethnic minorities, those in inter-ethnic relationships, and mixed-ethnic individuals (Berry 2003; Padilla 1994 as cited in Nguyen & Benet-Martinez 2007). Therefore, biculturals usually meet one of the following criteria (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 202f.): (1) They have been raised in a culture outside their parents' culture for a significant part of their lives. (2) They permanently live or have lived in a country that is not their country of birth. (3) They frequently move from one country to another, e.g., for professional reasons. (4) They have parents who originate from two distinct cultures and grew up or live under conditions in which they incorporate both cultural schemes, e.g., speaking both languages and have a command of both behavioural patterns. Following these four criteria, it is assumed that biculturals interact within different systems of reference, either periodically or even simultaneously, and might be able to denote, classify, identify or connect with a variety of culturally different schemes. By internalizing more than one linguistic and cultural reference system, biculturals are supposed to be able to apply diverse meaning and action systems [...]" (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 202). Through a strong exposure to polycentric perspectives they develop a deeper sensitivity to multiple cultural reference systems; thus, developing a neutral meta-position and an ethno-relative attitude (ibid.).

Ting-Toomey argues that by shifting perspectives and basing our understanding on the other's cultural frame of reference, transcultural communication is enabled (1999: 267). This ability to shift towards other cultural frames is also called 'frame switching': A situation in which "bicultural individuals with extensive experience in two cultures seem to access different culture-specific cognitive structures, or mental frames, depending on the socio-cultural context" (Luna et al. 2008: 279). Biculturals' frequent use of this cultural frame-switching increases complexity of thought as these individuals develop increasingly multidimensional cultural schemes and engage in more effortful processing of cues (Galinsky et al. 2012). Leung et al. (2008: 174) argue that it is plausible that the juxtaposition and fusion conditions (bicultural background) induce a mindful-like state, it is thus "useful for future research to explore the overlap between multicultural experience and mindful thinking".

Recalling that transculturality is a learning process for the relationing of different cultural identities and perspectives (Wieland 2018, 2019) and that the prefix "trans" designates the relation, the creation of a connection and the building of a bridge between intercultural interaction patterns (Wieland 2016: 18), biculturalism might in fact provide a substantial foundation for the exploration of cognitive and attitudinal characteristics of TCC.

## 3. Hypothesis of the research

The goal of this analysis is to find out whether the bicultural biography of a person has a significant impact on his or her transcultural competence. On the basis of the theoretical construction of TCC, as derived in the previous chapter, the main hypothesis is: *Biculturals show a higher over-all degree of TCC, compared to monoculturals.* The reasons for this assumption have been presented in the previous section "biculturalism and its reference to transculturality". It was argued that biculturals are confronted with alternative perspectives and might gain a deeper sensitivity to multiple cultural reference systems. It is supposed that these conditions contribute to the development of a neutral meta-position, an ethno-relative

attitude, a combining and reconciling mindset and the capability to make novel connections. The hypothesis whether or not biculturals possess a higher overall degree of TCC compared to monoculturals will be tested in the following sections. Beforehand however, one must determine how TCC can be defined. A precise quantitative analysis requires a profound competence description in order to reliably assess adequate competence dimensions. Therefore, the following part of this paper switches the focus to a working definition of TCC. In order to understand what TCC is, which competence dimensions it embraces and which components a transcultural competent person needs to internalize, a theoretical framework will be elaborated. The theoretical framework of TCC will later on serve as the basis for the comparative study between biculturals and monoculturals.

#### 4. Dimensions of Transcultural Competence

A transculturally-competent person reverts to a toolbox of abilities that allows him or her to adapt to sociocultural settings and to self-reflect on their own and other people's cultures. Instead of perceiving cultural differences as a threat, individuals should be able to take advantage of cultural diversity. A profound literature review on transculturality has been conducted in order to identify prerequisites, requirements and components that contribute to the existence of transcultural competence (TCC). As a result, a six-dimensional competence construct has been derived. These six dimensions of TCC will be presented briefly in the following sections.

#### Dimension 1: Self-awareness

A first and very important characteristic to become transculturally competent is self-awareness. By understanding how "one has been socialized into one's own particular culture with all of its attendant assumptions" an important initial step towards transcultural competence is accomplished (Glover & Friedman 2015: 92). Naturally, a person does not have the ability to absorb and understand every distinct cultural pattern in detail, when facing a socio-cultural encounter (SCE). But a high degree of selfawareness is a reliable and beneficial source of effective and appropriate cross-cultural interaction. By understanding, analysing and reflecting on one's own thoughts and feelings, it is possible to adjust responses and behaviours. This meta-cognitive process allows one to capture new cultural knowledge and enables the individual to control and process the information of the new culture and to generate coping strategies (Nunes et al. 2017: 222). Cultural self-awareness reflected in meta-cognition, leads to "planning and monitoring actions and in the ability to perform a review of mental models of cultural norms enabling the individual to question cultural assumptions and their mental adjustment model during and after the interactions" (ibid.). As such, the competence dimension self-awareness reflected in the sub-dimension meta-cognition can be described as a TCC-relevant dimension.

## Dimension 2: Recognition of cultural differences through cultural knowledge

According to Glover & Friedman, the awareness and understanding of the functioning of culture is an essential prerequisite for the development of TCC:

"Understanding that one's own culture is simply one among many cultures – no better or worse in a culturally relative way – is one of the most difficult things in life. This realization is the part of the prerequisite of recognition that is necessary for transcultural competence [...]" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 91).

As mentioned before, the development of TCC thus requires a form of cultural adaptation that requires more "sophistication and a greater level of awareness and understanding of how culture works" (ibid.: 8). It is unlikely that a person will become transculturally competent if he or she does not understand that culture affects every human's thinking and reasoning. For Glover and Friedman, the "single most important prerequisite for developing TCC is to recognize that all humans come from a culture and that cultural reality has shaped every aspect of their being" (ibid.: 42). Glover and Friedman thus argue that, for the development of TCC, a strong portion of cultural knowledge is inevitable. A certain instinct for the range of values involved in an SCE combined with the awareness that all humans perceive the world through a cultural lens, that people possess

individual cultural interpretations of reality (ibid.: 31) and that culture is shared and learned is an essential step towards the recognition of a cultural dilemma. This cultural awareness is an important part of TCC and does not undermine its claim to see cultural diversity as an opportunity rather than as a threat. Recognizing and being aware of cultural differences can contribute to the identification of commonalities. Ting-Toomey (1999, 1966) assumed that the comprehension of larger cultural grounds and values will "help to better understand the logic that motivates the dissimilar other's behaviour". Understanding that "people allocate time and resources and set priorities in response to their social and physical environment" (Barth 1967) is another essential part of cultural awareness.

To conclude, cultural knowledge is defined as knowledge of the universal elements that constitute a cultural environment; this knowledge is important as it "provides people with an organizing framework for thinking about possible ways that cultures might be similar and different" (Dyne et al. 2012: 301). Therefore, cultural knowledge is a relevant dimension of TCC. It implies two competence sub-dimensions: (1) Individuals develop a cultural awareness that is based on culture-relative thinking and knowledge of cultural polar extremes; (2) individuals have the motivation to learn about culture. The presence and application of cultural knowledge might be a useful tool – not only for solving cultural dilemmas – but for developing TCC in particular. The dimensions presented here can serve as an orientation for assessing an individual's cultural motivation and awareness and shall be considered in the design of the TCC assessment tool, which will be presented later in this work.

#### Dimension 3: Overcoming cultural differences through non-normativity

As stated above, self-awareness and understanding how culture works are dimensions of TCC and important prerequisites for its development. It has also been pointed out that this understanding can only evolve if cultural relativity is embraced. These dimensions can only serve as an initial step towards the application of TCC. The following section will introduce the TCC dimension of "non-normativity", consisting of sub-dimensions such as ethno-relativity, respect and non-judgmentalness, openness as well as the appreciation of otherness. Barmeyer & Franklin (2016: 201) introduced the term value-free openness to describe the capability to impartially value cultural otherness. However, this term might be misleading as it could impute a form of moral-relativity to any transculturally-competent individual. Glover & Friedman (2015: 96) argue that "it is also important not to flip from overvaluing one's own culture toward its opposite, namely embracing another's so-called exotic culture in an uncritical manner". This research therefore suggests using the term "non-normativity" (rather than valuefree openness) to describe a competence state in which individuals – without any form of downgrading – embrace openness, think ethno-relatively and recognize and value cultural otherness. Non-normative openness may play a significant role in order to identify qualities and advantages of cultural otherness.

Glover & Friedman (2015: 20) claim that privileging any cultural difference as being inherently better or worse will constitute ethnocentrism. Ethnocentrism can be defined as making false assumptions about others' ways based on our own limited experience: "The key word is assumptions, because we are not even aware that we are being ethnocentric. We don't understand that we don't understand" (Barger 2017). Being aware of, and overcoming, ethnocentrism can thus be considered an essential prerequisite of TCC. According to Rüsen (2014) ethnocentrism is based on asymmetrical evaluation, teleological continuity and a centralized perspective. In order to overcome these ethnocentric elements, Rüsen (2014) proposes to replace asymmetrical evaluation with normative equality, teleological continuity with reconstructive concepts of contingency and discontinuity and centralized perspectives with multi-perspectivity and polycentric approaches to experience. The three steps to overcoming ethnocentrism, as proposed by Rüsen, are strongly related to the conception of transculturality. As discussed in the previous section, normative equality is partly expressed by the ability to understand that one's own culture is not better or worse: "When two persons have equal status in at least one normatively relevant respect, they must be treated equally with regard to this respect" (Gosepath 2011). The idea to replace teleological continuity with reconstructive concepts of contingency is strongly linked to the transcultural understanding of culture as a contingent, dynamic process. And third, the shift from centralized perspectives towards a multiperspectivity and polycentric experience is considered a very efficient tool as

"...one of the best ways to grow beyond ethnocentrism is by gaining experiences in different cultures, which can lead to recognizing one's own culture more clearly, as well as recognizing and respecting the cultures of others" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 20).

In this regard, experience in different cultures can not only be seen as a way to overcome ethnocentrism but also as a beneficial prerequisite of TCC.

Ethno-relativity is strongly linked to the idea of respect and non-judgmentalness towards cultural diversity. According to Trompenaars, the next step after recognizing a cultural dilemma is to respect that both sides have legitimate opinions (Trompenaars & Woolliams 2006: 6). As transculturality "sketches a different picture of the relation between cultures [...] not one of isolation and of conflict, but one of entanglement, intermixing and commonness [...] not separation, but exchange and interaction" (Welsch 1999), TCC can only come to life if individuals not only tolerate but also respect and act non-judgmentally towards cultural otherness. The mutual respect for cultural otherness that is thus generated is a desirable starting point for any transcultural competent person as it helps to identify commonalities. Another important prerequisite for applying respect and non-judgmentalness is the degree of openness of a person.

Attitudinal and behavioural openness is defined as the "flexibility of one's attitudes and behaviours, which result in an individual's ability to function effectively in diverse cross-national and intra-national settings" (Caligiuri et al. 2000: 29). Caligiuri et al. argue that showing a high degree of openness can

"ultimately help facilitate the acceptance of cultural diversity. Individuals higher in openness will have less rigid views of right and wrong, what is appropriate and inappropriate, etc. (Black 1990). Those who are less open 'view their ideas, norms, and behaviour patterns as correct and others as incorrect ... and will make little effort to understand' people from other cultures and backgrounds" (Black 1990 as cited in Caligiuri et al. 2000: 28).

In a next step, openness might enable new opportunities for perceiving unfamiliar ways of thinking as well as being receptive towards them. Through ethno-relativity, respect and non-judgmentalness, as well as openness, a person's perception of cultural otherness shifts towards appreciation. Barmeyer & Franklin (2016: 201) argue that "valuing (instead of only accepting) the characteristics and properties of other cultural groups", these characteristics and properties "acquire the status of strength". Any person facing an SCE should be able to value these culturally-different characteristics as qualities and strengths and consciously employ them as resources (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 201). At this point, a transcultur-ally competent person would go one step further and not only employ culturally different characteristics as resources but combine them in order to "correspond best to the situation to be managed in the given context" (ibid.). As a result, appreciation of cultural diversity is an important sub-dimension of non-normativity and a vital component of TCC as it can foster cultural synergy.

To conclude: The sub-dimensions described in this section include ethno-relativity, respect and non-judgmentalness, openness as well as the appreciation of otherness. Together they form a core dimension of TCC, which is known as non-normativity. This dimension is an indispensable component for identifying commonalities, as well as for deriving synergistic solutions from cross-cultural interactions.

#### Dimension 4: Mindful interaction

When interacting across cultures, individuals have to be sensitive towards verbal and non-verbal ways of communication. This section introduces mindful interaction as a dimension of TCC. Mindful interaction comprises the sub-dimensions of mindfulness, interaction engagement and empathy.

According to Ting-Toomey (1999) 'transcultural communication competence' (TCCC) means that there is a body of knowledge and skills in the intercultural communication literature that is designed to help people communicate appropriately and effectively in a wide range of intercultural situations. Interestingly, for her, the combination of communication competence and a profound culture- and ethnic-specific knowledge "will yield a wealth of interaction skills that permit individuals to cross cultural boundaries flexibly and adaptively" (Ting-Toomey 1999: 261). For her, TCCC "refers to an integrative theory-practice approach enabling us to mindfully apply the intercultural knowledge we have learned in a sensitive manner", therefore TCCC connects intercultural knowledge with competent practice (ibid.). According to Ting-Toomey, TCCC consists of three components:

- The knowledge blocks component This component, as discussed before, is essential for transculturally competent professionals and communicators, as it is the first step to entering a new culture (ibid.: 267). (This component has been discussed extensively in 5.2 and is validated as an important dimension of TCC.)
- The mindfulness component This component describes the ability to attend one's internal assumptions, cognitions and emotions, while simultaneously being able to attune to an other's assumptions, cognitions and emotions. Individuals who consciously integrate new ideas or perspectives into their value system act mindfully and are mentally flexible. (ibid.: 268).
- The communication skills component To Ting-Toomey (1999: 269) the transcultural communicator masters four core skills which are mindful observation, mindful listening, identity confirmation and collaborative dialogue. Later in this work, the term interaction engagement will be used to refer to these four described communication skills. Interaction engagement as part of mindful interaction is thus an extensive sub-dimension of TCC.

Additionally, to the three components of TCCC presented here, it is argued that empathy is another important dimension for the construction of TCC. In a cross-cultural context, empathy is considered to be an important dimension of TCC as it constitutes the "ability to take perspective or shift frame of reference vis-à-vis other cultures" (Bennett et al. 2003: 425). Transculturality, as illustrated before, enhances the idea of recognition and acknowledgement of the other in terms of his or her own perceptions and actions. Empathy plays a major role in the recognition and acknowledgement of the other as it helps to expand one's world view "to include relevant constructs from other cultural world views" (Bennett et al. 2003: 425). In another definition of the Intercultural Competence Assessment (INCA; officially published by the EU 2004) empathy is the ability to "understand other people's thoughts and feelings and see and feel a situation through their eyes". Therefore, including other cultural world views in one's own reasoning opens up solution spaces and new ways of thinking. If the process of shifting perspectives is deepened and habitualized, it can become the basis of a person's ability to identify commonalities. Finding commonalities and reconciling differences can only happen through continuous deliberative and non-punctual processes. Applying TCC in order to generate reconciled solutions and shared values is thus a dynamic process.

To conclude: Mindful interaction is considered an essential dimension of TCC. With its sub-dimensions mindfulness, interaction engagement and empathy it constitutes a component of TCC that is particularly important for the actual face-to-face engagement of individuals and organizations from distinct cultures.

> Dimension 5: Focus on commonalities<sup>3</sup> – Reconciling cultural diversity

As discussed above, "transculturally competent professionals need to do more than be able to cope with cultural differences; they need to create a synergy that reconciles dilemmas in new ways" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 61). Trompenaars (1993: 200) proposed a perspective that is very similar to the one of Glover and Friedman, as he states:

"Once we are aware of our own mental models and cultural predispositions, and can respect and understand that those of another culture are legitimately different, then it becomes possible to reconcile differences."

For Trompenaars, reconciliation plays a significant role, as it is "the art of coming to some sort of agreement" (Trompenaar & Woolliams 2006: 6). However, TCC is more than adapting to another culture or respecting it as legitimately different; TCC is much more the ability to take advantage of diversity regardless of whether it relates to one specific culture or multiple differing cultures (Trompenaars 1993). Seeing cultural diversity as a strength and not as a source for conflicts, might lead to intercultural synergy and cultural complementarity. In both these concepts, culturality is seen as a dynamic process of joint construction (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 200):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The dimension "Focus on commonalities" is precisely elaborated in the next chapter of this book by Sebastian Urthaler (2019: 113-141).

"Cultural complementarity describes a state in which particular and seemingly contradictory, but in themselves equally valuable, valuebased characteristics (such as attitudes, norms, behavioural patterns, practices) of individuals from different groups complement each other to form a whole."

Here, complementarity serves not only as an approach to identify commonalities, it is also seen as a management tool, in that it might lead to enhanced performance, "as the characteristics best suited to the context, task and individuals involved are employed" (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016: 200).

Transculturally competent interactors - through applying self-awareness, cultural knowledge and mindful interaction – develop the ability to identify commonalities and, through this process, derive synergistic solutions. Intercultural synergy, in the context of international management, is the output that arises when the joint actions of individuals from different cultures lead to a higher quality than the sum of individual actions; these synergistic actions have the potential to be creative and innovative (Barmever & Franklin 2016: 203f.). Individuals and organizations which integrate and use contrasting values act synergistically if they are able to reach a fusion of the opposites into a single concept (Maslow 1964: 163). One way to reach this fusion (or synergistic solutions as described before) is by understanding that new ways of doing things must not replace previous ways (Glover & Friedman 2015: 62). Collins & Porras (1994) argue that leaders often deal with a widespread problem called the "tyranny of the OR" (Gilsa 2019, Urthaler 2019), leading to a situation in which decision-makers believe that things must be done one way OR the other. The OR, however, prevents adaptive responses and acts as a cultural trap that limits one's ability to see alternatives (Barmeyer & Franklin 2015: 63). Collins & Porras (1994) provided a possible solution to overcome the "tyranny of the OR": the yin/yang concept of Chinese philosophy. It is a perfect example of how opposites are complementary and not contradictory, and therefore represents what Collins and Porras call "the genius of the AND". It is the ability to understand and embrace both extremes of a dimension: "Long term AND short term, profits AND good for the world, low costs AND quality are all possible if the OR can be replaced with the AND" (Collins & Porras 1994 as cited in Glover & Friedman 2015: 63). For Glover & Friedman this form of combining extremes, integrating values and finding commonalities through the "genius of the AND" is a pro-active strategy applied by transculturally competent professionals and is therefore a core component of TCC:

"Transculturally competent professionals avoid the cultural traps of linear and single-option perspectives. They employ pro-active strategies, rather than reactive ones. Alternative futures are continuously evaluated and anticipated as future possibilities. They are able to see options and find ways to reconcile and realize solutions for cultural dilemmas" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 133).

To conclude on this section: A transculturally competent person focuses on commonalities; through a process of reconciliation and the application of the genius of the AND, creative and innovative synergies can be derived from cultural diversity. The focus on commonalities is thus an essential core dimension of TCC.

## Dimension 6: Reconciled solutions translated into synergistic actions

As Glover & Friedman (2015: 77) state: "Transcultural competence requires knowledge of how to make change happen, and skills in doing so, so that the new-box solution will be accepted and embraced by the stakeholders." Glover & Friedman (2015) introduce the term "creating new boxes" to describe this innovative process, as it illustrates the solution to a cultural dilemma with seemingly opposing values. Reconciling and realizing appropriate solutions to cultural differences and then translating these reconciled solutions into actual behaviour is thus essential to being transculturally competent (Glover & Friedman 2015: 62). The success of a communication and reconciliation process of a cultural dilemma is measured according to its appropriateness and effectiveness. Barmeyer & Franklin (2016: 138) state that appropriateness refers to the degree to which the interaction is congruent with the relationship of the interactors and the situation and context in which they find themselves, whereas effectiveness refers to the degree to which they achieve their goals. Or as Ting-Toomey (1999: 263) puts it: "When we act appropriately in a cultural scene, our culturally proper behaviours can facilitate communication effectiveness". In this regard, Ting-Toomey (1999) introduces a third criterion that might be useful for measuring a successful transcultural

communication process. Additionally, to the "appropriateness- and effectiveness criterion", she adds the satisfaction criterion:

"When both communicators and interested parties experience communication appropriateness and effectiveness plus satisfaction, the process and the outcome of communication can be deemed successful."

Ting-Toomey (1999: 265) argues that "individuals tend to be more satisfied in interaction scenes in which their desired identity images are elicited or validated". She wants to put a focus on the fact that addressing cultural values through different verbal styles can arouse different levels of satisfaction in different cultural communities (ibid.). Here, the awareness for the different cultural dimensions (as discussed in previous sections) can again serve as a tool to ensure transculturally-competent communication. Ting-Toomey is not the only scholar to extend the "appropriatenesseffectiveness-model" with a third criterion. Spencer-Oatey & Franklin (2009: 51) introduced the term "intercultural interaction competence" (ICIC) meaning not only the ability to communicate and interact effectively and appropriately, but also the ability to handle psychological demands and dynamic outcomes of intercultural encounters. Both concepts, TCCC and ICIC, overlap with one particular component of TCC, namely the culture-interactional perspective that focuses on the outcome of an SCE. This outcome, ideally, is appropriate, effective, satisfactory and represents a creative and synergistic solution in the form of a "new box".

To conclude: TCC implies that a person has the capability to translate reconciled solutions into actual behaviour. The implemented synergistic solution is evaluated according to its appropriateness, effectiveness and its degree of satisfaction and creativity.

## 5. Definition of Transcultural Competence

Summing up the six dimensions that were identified throughout the previous section, TCC can be defined as a cooperation-based ability to identify commonalities and to derive reconciled solutions in a culturallydiverse environment; it comprises the perception that SCEs have a synergistic potential, from which transculturally-competent persons can derive creative solutions. This competence is based on the understanding that cul-

Core dimensions of TCC	Sub-dimensions of TCC	Competence explanation
Self-awareness	Meta-cognition	Self-reflects on one's own thinking, feelings and behaviours. Understands that culturality has shaped every human being, including one's self. Willing to learn a wider range of behaviour patterns. Ready to try out different behaviours to discover those which are most successful and appropriate.
Cultural knowledge	Cultural awareness Cultural motiva- tion	Is aware of different cultural dimensions and cultural polar extremes. Takes time and interest to learn about unfamiliar cultures and deepens understanding of those already known. Employs various information-gathering strategies for understanding the specific context.
Non-normativity	Ethno-relativity Respect/Non- judgmentalness Openness Appreciation of otherness	Does not consider one's own culture as better or worse. Is sensitive to how people see the world differently and respects their world views. Likes to work with colleagues and partners from diverse backgrounds. Is keen to explore and understand other peoples' behaviour. Values cultural otherness as a potential source for crea- tivity and innovation.
Mindful Interaction	Mindful attention Interaction engagement Empathy	Attends to one's own internal assumptions cognitions and emotions and simultaneously attunes to other people's assumptions cogni- tions and emotions. Observes and listens atten- tively. Is sensitive to people's self-image and addresses their desired identity when interacting with them.
Focus on commonalities	Collaborative dialogue Genius of the AND Reconciliation	Focuses on commonalities by being inwardly reflexive and outwardly reflective. Receptive to new ideas, and typically seeks to extend his or her understanding into new and unfamiliar fields. Finds solutions by embracing extremes. Seeks fresh ideas and approaches in cultural diversity.
Realization of reconciled solutions <sup>*</sup> ( <sup>*</sup> only assessable through qualitative evaluation of interaction outcomes)	Appropriateness Effectiveness Satisfaction Creativity Synergy	Leverages identified commonalities. Derives and realizes "new boxes" that represent creative and synergistic solutions. Creates new alternatives, uses a careful and systemic approach when facili- tating groups to ensure that different cultural perspectives are not suppressed, but are properly understood and used in the creative solution- oriented process.

Table 1: Core dimensions and sub-dimensions of TCC

Source: Own representation.

tural values are not static but multi-dimensional (Wieland 2018). TCC is a self-reflective dynamic process that consists of avoiding inner-directedness, enabling non-normativity through ethno-relativity and mindful interaction. Being able to reconcile various worldviews by engaging in multi-perspectivity and applying the genius of the AND results in shared values that will generate cultural synergy and complementarity.

Summarizing from the literature review above, we learn that TCC consists of six core dimensions, which are self-awareness, cultural knowledge, non-normative openness, mindful interaction, focus on commonalities and synergy/realization of reconciled solutions. These six core dimensions embrace eighteen sub-dimensions (see Table 1).

### 6. Construction of the TCCQ – A multi-component approach

After having defined the core- and sub-dimensions of TCC, the next task is to generate items that are sufficient to assess them. This requires the construction of a survey which is valid and reliable in assessing TCC dimensions. By creating an assessment tool that is valid and reliable to explore the various dimensions of TCC, it eventually becomes possible to verify or falsify the hypothesis stating that biculturals possess a higher degree of TCC than monoculturals. A variety of existing assessment tools in the field of intercultural interaction competence (ICIC) entail dimensions similar to TCC-specific dimensions (Gilsa 2019). The approach of this work is to find valid and reliable existing ICIC scales which can measure each subdimension of TCC and assemble parts of these existing scales into a new TCC scale. As TCC is a relatively new, widening field of ICIC research, it is expected that not all dimensions of TCC can be assessed through existing scales. A new TCC scale should ideally include all six TCC dimensions and address the cognitive, affective and behavioural dimension of an individual. As elaborated by Gilsa (2019), existing IC dimensions could be useful to identify overlapping sub-dimensions in order to derive items that are sufficient for the assessment of TCC. Therefore, the approach for the present study is to analyse different dimensions of IC, and to include those that are of relevance for the assessment of TCC.

In this paper, it is assumed that existing ICIC scales formed through an exploratory factor analysis, and items providing a high factor loading, are suitable to predict and test intersecting observed variables (dimensions) of TCC. By integrating scales that underwent a factor analysis, the current research provides an assessment instrument that can measure the sub-dimensions of TCC in a reliable manner. At this point it should be mentioned that, despite the non-application of a factor analysis (which organizes the items into constructs), this work will later on present a reliability test (Cronbach's alpha test) to determine how well each of the presented constructs hold together. If the TCCQ is reliable, participants who are identical – at least in regard to their TCC – should get the same score, and participants that are different should get a completely different score (Field 2009). Further details will be provided in the statistics section of this work. Again, it needs to be re-emphasized that more extensive research on TCC and its assessment might require the creation of completely new items. This will also require a factor analysis for the questionnaire construct as a whole. In the following, items will be presented that form a scale for each of the six dimensions of TCC.

For the TCCQ, items have been chosen from the following existing scales: For TCC's dimension 'self-awareness' a 3-item scale by Bartel-Radic & Gianneloni (2016) has been chosen. The scale is taken from an assessment tool that aims to assess the cross-cultural competence (CCC) of individuals. It is suitable for integration into the TCCQ, as it includes a meta-cognitive dimension.

Table 2: Items applicable to assess TCC Dimension 1 'Self-awareness'

Self-awareness						
Metacognition (Source: CCC by Bartel-Radic & Gianneloni 2016)						
I am very interested in how my own thinking works when I make judgments about people or attach causes to their behaviour. (0.58)						
I really enjoy analyzing the reasons or causes for people's behaviour. (0.63)						
I have thought a lot about the way that different parts of my personality influence other parts. (0.74)						

Source: Own representation.

For the assessment of TCC's dimension 'cultural knowledge', two scales that intend to measure 'cultural motivation' and 'cultural awareness' have been taken from the Cross-Cultural Orientation Inventory (CCOI; Mittal 2012).

Table 3: Items applicable to assess TCC Dimension 2 'Cultural Knowledge'

Cultural Knowledge					
Cultural motivation (Source: CCOI by Mittal 2012)					
I am happy to interact with people from different cultures. (0.83)					
I feel I should make friends with people from diverse cultures. (0.75)					
I should know about other cultures to be fair to people from different cultures. (0.87)					
Cultural awareness (Source: CCOI)					
I know the cultural values and beliefs of other cultures. (0.75)					
I know about body language practices of cultures other than mine. (0.74)					
I am open-minded to people from other cultures. (0.84)					
People from some cultures avoid eye contact while talking. (0.55)					

Source: Own representation.

In order to assess 'non-normativity' in this work, items of the cross-cultural competence scale (CCC, Bartel-Radic & Gianelloni 2016) to assess 'ethno-relativity', items of the Intercultural Sensitivity Scale (ISS, Chen & Starosta 2000) to assess 'respect otherness/non-judgmentalness' and items of the Attitudinal and Behavioural Openness Scale (ABOS, Caligiuri et al. 2000) to assess 'openness', are going to be merged.

Table 4: Items applicable to assess TCC Dimension 3 'Non-normativity'

Non-normativity					
Ethno-relativity (Source: CCC by Bartel-Radic & Gianneloni 2016)					
In my country, we have reached a level of "moral" development that other countries ought to reach as well. (0.82) (reverse-coded)					
The dominant values in my country are good and should be favoured to develop elsewhere. (0.81) (reverse-coded)					
I prefer to be with people who are like me. (0.16) (reverse-coded)					
Respect otherness/Non-judgmentalness (Source: ISS by Chen & Starosta 2000)					
I respect the values of people from different cultures. (0.67)					
I respect the ways people from different cultures behave. (0.68)					
I would not accept the opinions of people from different cultures. (0.62) (reverse-coded)					
I can tell when I have upset my culturally-distinct counterpart during our interaction. (0.60)					
I don't like to be with people from different cultures. (0.56)					
I think my culture is better than other cultures. (0.50)					

(Attitudinal) Openness (Source: ABOS by Caligiuri et al. 2000)
An overseas assignment would be a fantastic opportunity for me and/or my family. (0.70)
Traveling the world is a priority in my life. (0.64)
I hope the company I work for, (or will work for), will send me on an overseas assignment. (0.58)
Other cultures fascinate me. (0.51)
I would host a foreign exchange student for one year. (0.43)
Foreign language skills should be taught in elementary school. (0.38)

Source: Own representation.

The scale to assess the TCC dimension 'mindful interaction' has been constructed by three existing scales: The mindful attention awareness scale (MAAS, Osman et al. 2016) to assess TCC's sub-dimension 'mind-ful attention', the intercultural sensitivity scale (ISS) developed by Chen and Starosta (2000) to assess 'interaction engagement' and the CCC constructed by Bartel-Radic & Giannelloni (2016) to assess empathy.

Table 5: Items applicable to assess TCC Dimension 4 'Mindful Interaction'

Mindful Interaction
Mindful Attention (Source: MAAS by Osman et al. 2016)
It seems I am 'running on automatic' without much awareness. (0.82)
I run through activities without being really attentive to them. (0.83)
I get so focused on the goal I want to achieve that I lose touch with what I am doing right now to get there. (0.71)
I do jobs or tasks automatically, without being aware of what I'm doing. (0.75)
I find myself doing things without paying attention. (0.75)
Interaction Engagement (Source: ISS by Chen & Starosta 2000)
I have a feeling of enjoyment towards differences between my culturally-distinct counterpart and me. (0.70)
I avoid those situations where I will have to deal with culturally-distinct persons. (0.66)
I tend to wait before forming an impression of culturally-distinct counterparts. (0.53)
I often give positive responses to my culturally-different counterpart during our inter- action. (0.52)
I often show my culturally-distinct counterpart my understanding through verbal or non-verbal cues. (0.52)

Empathy (Source: CCC by Bartel-Radic & Gianneloni 2016)
I believe that there are two sides to every question and try to look at both. (0.65)
I try to look at everybody's side of a disagreement before I make a decision. (0.86)
When I am upset at someone, I usually try to "put myself in his or her shoes" for a while. (0.66)
I sometimes try to understand my friends better by imagining how this looks from

their perspective. (0.59)

Source: Own representation.

The dimension "focus on commonalities" is one of the newly derived TCC-specific dimensions that have not yet been integrated in existing IC models. Together with its sub-dimensions (collaborative dialogue, genius of the AND, reconciliation), the dimension focus on commonalities can be considered to be a rather new dimension in the world of existing IC dimensions (Urthaler 2019).

Having the competence to "realize cultural synergy" and to reach reconciled solutions is the ultimate goal of any transculturally-competent person. However, it is highly questionable whether this dimension of TCC could possibly be assessed through an item-based scale. Whether or not a person is able to realize transculturally-reconciled solutions is highly dependent on two things:

- The degree to which a person is equipped with transcultural competences as described in TCC-dimensions 1-5.
- The external factors of a cultural dilemma that can be understood, shaped and leveraged by a transcultural competent professional, but never fully controlled.

Therefore, the assessment of a person's ability to realize reconciled solutions is rather outcome-dependent and should be based on a contextual post-interaction assessment (Gilsa 2019). For the comparative ("biculturals vs. monoculturals") questionnaire on TCC, the dimension 'realization' will not be assessed.

The various identified scales are the basic construction of the TCCQ. Together they build a 39-item questionnaire. All of the 39 items show sufficient, or even excellent, factor loadings (except for the item "I prefer to be with people who are like me" (0.16); sub-dimension ethno-relativity;

reliability calculation will be presented afterwards) and are able to assess the dimensions to the extent as described above.

For the reasons mentioned, the questionnaire presented here might not provide a full 360-degree assessment on TCC. Yet it is able to assess essential components of TCC in a credible manner: Participants who are able to reach higher scores in the TCCQ might not be "transculturally competent" per se, but they certainly have better prerequisites for becoming transculturally competent than other people.

### 7. Quantitative study

## 7.1 Description of the sample

The population for this study was professionals (N = 63) from various parts of the world, including Brazil, China, Egypt, France, Germany, Sweden, Thailand and the United States. The questionnaire was provided in English, guaranteeing identical content for each participant. The participants fell into one of three categories to be analysed: (1) thirty-six biculturals with strong intercultural exposure (57%), (2) ten monoculturals with limited international experience (16%) and (3) seventeen monoculturals who had not travelled internationally (27%). 34 (54%) participants classified themselves as holding a managerial position or having responsibilities for staff, whereas 29 (46%) participants do not hold a leadership role. The participants show a strong variety in years of professional experience, where almost 40% of participants have more than 20 years of experience. The second largest group (31,7%) represented in this sample are young professionals with up to 5 years of experience. The age of participants ranges from 25 to older than 56. The examined population consisted of 50,8% participants aged between 25-35, 7,9% of participants aged between 36-45, 15,9% aged between 46-55 and 25,4% of participants who are over 56. Asked for the number of languages that participants speak, the analysis of the sample shows that approximately half of the participants speak two languages or fewer, whereas the other half of participants speak three or more languages.

Of the participants sampled, nineteen (30,2%) were raised in a culture outside their parents' culture for a significant part of their life, while forty-four (69,8%) were only raised in a single culture. Asked for permanent

residence outside the participant's country of birth, thirty-four (54%) participants answered that they have permanently lived in another culture, whereas twenty-nine (46%) participants have not. Of those participants who have lived in another culture, three (4.8%) lived up to one year, eight (12.7%) lived 2 years, four (6.3%) lived 3 years, four (6.3%)lived 4-8 years, four (6.3%) lived 8-12 years and eleven (17.5%) lived more than 12 years in another host culture. Twenty-four (38.1%) participants classified themselves as 'frequently moving from one country to another' whereas thirty-nine (61.9%) participants do not frequently move between different cultures. Of all 63 participants, seven (11.1%) stated they had parents who originated from two different cultures and are therefore cultural hybrids. Asked whether participants integrate two different cultural schemes in their everyday life (e.g., if they speak languages, go to religious sites, take part in cultural celebrations that are not domestic and unusual in their country of residence), thirty-five (55.6%) responded positively whereas twenty-eight (44.4%) answered the question negatively.

## 7.2 Calculating Cronbach's Alpha – Reliability analysis

Each of the nine sub-dimensions, with their dependent variables described by the 39 items of the TCCQ, was subjected to a reliability analysis by calculating Cronbach's alpha. In the following, the Cronbach's alpha for each of the nine scales of the TCCQ – for both biculturals and monoculturals – is presented. The reliability analysis has been conducted per group, examining the Cronbach's alpha of the scales applied to biculturals and monoculturals (see Tables 6 and 7).

The reliability analysis has shown that most scales possess a sufficient Cronbach's alpha. In the literature, the acceptable Cronbach's alpha remains widely discussed. Nunally (1967) recommended a Cronbach's alpha of 0.50 to 0.60 for the early stages of research, 0.80 for basic research tools, and 0.90 as 63 the "minimal tolerable estimate" for clinical purposes, with an ideal of 0.95 (Nunally 1967 as cited in Streiner 2003). According to Nunally's (1967) rule for early stages of research, the scales used in the TCCQ can be seen as reliable and internally consistent. However, for more advanced research on TCC assessments, higher Cronbach's alphas would be desirable. The reliability analysis in SPSS showed that most items appeared to be worthy of retention, resulting in a decrease in the

alpha if deleted. The one exception to this was item 27: The elimination of item 27 increased the alpha from  $\alpha = 0.535$  to  $\alpha = 0.901$  for monoculturals and from  $\alpha = 0.521$  to  $\alpha = 0.699$  for biculturals. As such, removal of this item should be considered, particularly if taking into account that the low factor loading for this item has already been disputable, as described in the previous section.

Biculturals						
Core dimension	Sub-dimension	Cronbach's Alpha	Number of items			
Self-awareness	Meta-Cognition	0,532	3			
	Mindful Attention	0,732	5			
Mindful interaction	Interaction Engagement	0,579	5			
	Empathy	0,767	4			
Culturel Imenuladas	Cultural Motivation	0,687	3			
Cultural knowledge	Cultural Awareness	0,606	4			
	Ethno-relativity	0,699	2			
Non-normative openness	Respect for Otherness	0,769	6			
openness	Openness	0,608	6			

## Table 6: Cronbach's alpha – biculturals

Source: Own representation.

## Table 7: Cronbach's alpha – monoculturals

#### Monoculturals

Core dimension	Sub-dimension	Cronbach's Alpha	Number of items
Self-awareness	Meta-Cognition	0,636	3
	Mindful Attention	0,696	5
Mindful interaction	Interaction Engagement	0,658	5
	Empathy	0,785	4
	Cultural Motivation	0,656	3
Cultural knowledge	Cultural Awareness	0,629	4
	Ethno-relativity	0,901	2
Non-normative openness	Respect for Otherness	0,508	6
openness	Openness	0,733	6

Source: Own representation.

#### 7.3 Descriptive statistics of the TCCQ scale's items

In the following, the means and standard deviations of biculturals and monoculturals will be presented separately from each other and items will be ranked from strongest mean response to lowest mean response. This allows us to see which items scored highest in the two different groups. For a better overview of the descriptive statistics, the complete ranking of items can be found below (see Table 8). For reasons described previously, item number 27 has been eliminated and won't be considered in the following statistical evaluation (items from number 28 on are renumbered, e.g., item 28 now becomes item 27, item 29 becomes item 28 etc. as depicted in table 8). In Table 8 it can be observed that for the group of monoculturals the item with the highest mean response was item number 23: "I am open-minded to people from other cultures" (M = 4.70, SD = 0.542, cultural awareness sub-dimension). The item with the lowest mean response was item number 7: "I do jobs or tasks automatically, without being aware of what I'm doing." (M = 1.96, SD = 0.940, mindful attention sub-dimension). Table 8 also indicates that, within the group of monoculturals, quite a high number of items (16) show a standard deviation higher than 1.0; these items are: 3, 5, 6, 8, 10, 11, 14, 15, 22, 25, 26, 29, 32, 33, 35, 37. The standard deviation is a number that indicates the extent to which a set of numbers lie apart (van den Berg 2017). Higher standard deviations mean there is a broader set of given answers (McMurray 2007: 46), indicating a large amount of variation within the group of monoculturals.

Mean	Std. De- viation	N	ltem	ltem No#	Dimension
4,70	0,542	27	l am open-minded to people from other cultures.	23	Cultural Awareness
4,59	0,572	27	I don't like to be with people from different cultures.	31	Respect for Otherness
4,44	0,698	27	Other cultures fascinate me.	36	Openness
4,44	0,712	25	I should know about other cultures to be fair to people from different cultures.	20	Cultural Motivation
4,41	0,572	27	I respect the values of people from different cultures.	27	Respect for Otherness
4,36	0,860	25	I am happy to interact with people from different cultures.	18	Cultural Motivation
4,30	0,912	27	Foreign language skills should be taught in elementary school.	38	Openness
4,22	0,847	27	I really enjoy analyzing the reasons or causes for people's behavior.	2	Meta- Cognition

Table 8: Mean and standard deviation of monoculturals

# Antonin Salice-Stephan

4,19	0,834	27	I respect the ways people from different cultures behave.	28	Respect for Otherness
4,19	1,210	27	I would not accept the opinions of people from different cultures.	29	Respect for Otherness
4,19	1,111	27	I think my culture is better than other cultures.	32	Respect for Otherness
4,12	0,927	25	I feel I should make friends with people from diverse cultures.	19	Cultural Motivation
4,07	1,107	27	An overseas assignment would be a fantastic opportunity for me and/or my family.	33	Openness
4,07	0,829	27	Traveling the world is a priority in my life.	34	Openness
4,04	1,091	27	I avoid those situations where I will have to deal with culturally- distinct persons.	10	Interaction Engagement
4,04	1,126	27	I believe that there are two sides to every question and try to look at both.	14	Empathy
4,04	1,126	27	I try to look at everybody's side of a disagreement before I make a decision.	15	Empathy
4,04	1,126	27	I hope the company I work for, (or will work for), will send me on an overseas assignment.	35	Openness
3,93	0,874	27	I sometimes try to understand my friends better by imagining how this looks from their perspective.	17	Empathy
3,89	0,641	27	l often give positive responses to my culturally different counterpart during our interaction.	13	Interaction Engagement
3,89	0,892	27	I know the cultural values and beliefs of other cultures.	21	Cultural Awareness
3,85	0,949	27	When I am upset at someone, I usually try to "put myself in his or her shoes" for a while.	16	Empathy
3,85	0,864	27	People from some cultures avoid eye contact while talking.	24	Cultural Awareness
3,74	1,130	27	I would host a foreign exchange student for one year.	37	Openness
3,63	0,926	27	I am very interested in how my own thinking works when I make judgments about people or attach causes to their behavior.	1	Meta- Cognition
3,63	0,884	27	I often show my culturally-distinct counterpart my understanding through verbal or nonverbal cues.	12	Interaction Engagement
3,56	1,155	27	I know about body language practices of cultures other than mine.	22	Cultural Awareness
3,48	0,893	27	I have a feeling of enjoyment towards differences between my culturally-distinct counterpart and me.	9	Interaction Engagement
3,41	1,010	27	I have thought a lot about the way that different parts of my personality influence other parts.	3	Meta- Cognition
3,37	1,079	27	I tend to wait before forming an impression of culturally-distinct counterparts.	11	Interaction Engagement
3,07	1,141	27	The dominant values in my country are good and should be favored to develop elsewhere.	26	Ethno- relativity
3,00	1,109	27	In my country, we have reached a level of "moral" development that other countries ought to reach as well.	25	Ethno- relativity
2,52	0,935	27	I can tell when I have upset my culturally-distinct counterpart during our interaction.	30	Respect for Otherness
2,26	1,059	27	I run through activities without being really attentive to them.	5	Mindful Attention
2,19	0,879	27	It seems I am 'running on automatic' without much awareness.	4	Mindful Attention
2,15	1,064	27	I get so focused on the goal I want to achieve that I lose touch with what I am doing right now to get there.	6	Mindful Attention
2,11	1,188	27	I find myself doing things without paying attention.	8	Mindful Attention
			I do jobs or tasks automatically, without being aware of what	7	Mindful

Source: Own representation.

Now, the focus turns towards biculturals. The item with the highest mean response was item number 18: "I am happy to interact with people from different cultures." (M = 4.75, SD = 0.439, cultural motivation sub-dimension). The item with the lowest mean response was item number 8: "I find myself doing things without paying attention." (M = 1.92, SD = 0.841, mindful attention sub-dimension). For a better overview, the complete ranking for the highest mean responses of biculturals can be found in Table 9. For both biculturals and monoculturals, the lowest scores have been accounted for the "mindful attention" sub-dimension. In contrast to monoculturals, biculturals seem to answer more consistently, as only six items show a standard deviation of 1.0 or more. These items are 4, 6, 10, 24, 26 and 31. This could imply that the group of monoculturals investigated might be much more heterogeneous than the group of biculturals.

Mean	Std. De- viation	Ν	ltem	ltem No#	Dimension
4,75	0,439	36	I am happy to interact with people from different cultures.	18	Cultural Motivation
4,71	0,458	35	Foreign language skills should be taught in elementary school.	38	Openness
4,66	0,539	35	I am open-minded to people from other cultures.	23	Cultural Awareness
4,61	0,599	36	I should know about other cultures to be fair to people from different cultures.	20	Cultural Motivation
4,61	0,549	36	I respect the values of people from different cultures.	27	Respect for Otherness
4,47	0,654	36	I really enjoy analyzing the reasons or causes for people's behavior.	2	Meta- Cognition
4,47	0,774	36	I would not accept the opinions of people from different cultures.	29	Respect for Otherness
4,47	1,000	36	I don't like to be with people from different cultures.	31	Respect for Otherness
4,46	0,611	35	Other cultures fascinate me.	36	Openness
4,44	0,786	34	I believe that there are 2 sides to every question and try to look at both.	14	Empathy
4,42	0,732	36	I feel I should make friends with people from diverse cultures.	19	Cultural Motivation
4,39	0,728	36	I respect the ways people from different cultures behave.	28	Respect for Otherness
4,37	0,843	35	An overseas assignment would be a fantastic opportunity for me and/or my family.	33	Openness
4,35	0,691	34	I try to look at everybody's side of a disagreement before I make a decision.	15	Empathy
4,28	1,137	36	l avoid those situations where I will have to deal with culturally- distinct persons.	10	Interaction Engagement
4,28	0,914	36	I think my culture is better than other cultures.	32	Respect for Otherness
4,21	0,770	34	I sometimes try to understand my friends better by imagining how this looks from their perspective.	17	Empathy

Table 9: Mean and standard deviation of biculturals

## Antonin Salice-Stephan

4,20	0,833	35	I hope the company I work for, (or will work for), will send me on an overseas assignment.	35	Openness
4,14	0,810	35	I know the cultural values and beliefs of other cultures.	21	Cultural Awareness
4,09	0,742	35	Traveling the world is a priority in my life.	34	Openness
4,08	0,874	36	I am very interested in how my own thinking works when I make judgments about people or attach causes to their behavior.	1	Meta- Cognition
4,06	1,056	35	People from some cultures avoid eye contact while talking.	24	Cultural Awareness
3,97	0,654	36	I often give positive responses to my culturally different counterpart during our interaction.	13	Interaction Engagement
3,94	0,924	36	I have thought a lot about the way that different parts of my personality influence other parts.	3	Meta- Cognition
3,92	0,806	36	I have a feeling of enjoyment towards differences between my culturally-distinct counterpart and me.	9	Interaction Engagement
3,77	0,910	35	I know about body language practices of cultures other than mine.	22	Cultural Awareness
3,75	0,874	36	I tend to wait before forming an impression of culturally-distinct counterparts.	11	Interaction Engagement
3,74	0,931	34	When I am upset at someone, I usually try to "put myself in his or her shoes" for a while.	16	Empathy
3,69	0,822	36	I often show my culturally-distinct counterpart my understanding through verbal or nonverbal cues.	12	Interaction Engagement
3,60	0,914	35	I would host a foreign exchange student for one year.	37	Openness
3,42	1,052	36	The dominant values in my country are good and should be favored to develop elsewhere.	26	Ethno- relativity
3,11	0,919	36	In my country, we have reached a level of "moral" development that other countries ought to reach as well.	25	Ethno- relativity
2,56	0,773	36	I can tell when I have upset my culturally-distinct counterpart during our interaction.	30	Respect for Otherness
2,53	1,207	36	I get so focused on the goal I want to achieve that I lose touch with what I am doing right now to get there.	6	Mindful Attention
2,50	1,159	36	It seems I am 'running on automatic' without much awareness.	4	Mindful Attention
2,11	0,919	36	I run through activities without being really attentive to them.	5	Mindful Attention
1,92	0,996	36	l do jobs or tasks automatically, without being aware of what I'm doing.	7	Mindful Attention
1,92	0,841	36	I find myself doing things without paying attention.	8	Mindful Attention

Source: Own representation.

## 7.4 Compound structure of the nine scales

In the next step of this research, the goal is to gain a better overview of the data. For this reason, the items for each of the nine scales (as presented previously) are compounded. The results of the compounded sub-dimensions are shown in Table 9.

	Groups	Ν	Mean	Standard deviation
Metacognition	Monocultural	27	3,75	0,71
	Bicultural	36	4,17	0,59
Mindful Attention	Monocultural	27	2,13	0,69
	Bicultural	36	2,19	0,72
Interaction Engagement	Monocultural	27	3,68	0,61
	Bicultural	36	3,92	0,53
Empathy	Monocultural	27	3,96	0,80
	Bicultural	36	4,16	0,60
Cultural motivation	Monocultural	27	4,32	0,64
	Bicultural	36	4,59	0,47
Cultural awareness	Monocultural	27	4,00	0,61
	Bicultural	36	4,16	0,57
Ethno relativity	Monocultural	27	3,04	1,07
	Bicultural	36	3,26	0,87
Respect otherness/	Monocultural	27	4,01	0,49
Non judgmentalness	Bicultural	36	4,13	0,55
Openness	Monocultural	27	4,11	0,64
	Bicultural	36	4,20	0,49

Table 10: Mean and standard deviation according to groups

Source: Own representation.

#### 8. Testing of the hypothesis

In this section the following hypothesis will be tested: "H1: Biculturals show a higher overall degree of TCC, compared to monoculturals".

This hypothesis will be analysed by applying an independent T-test. An independent T-test tests the difference between the two means of two groups (Glen 2017) here, monoculturals and biculturals. The T-test also shows how significant the differences are and whether these differences could have happened by chance (ibid.). A significance is usually given when the p-value is 0.05 or smaller. For example, a p-value of .01 means there is only a 1% probability that the results from an experiment happened by chance (ibid.). In the following, the table of the independent samples T-test (as calculated in SPSS) is presented:

		Levene's Test for quality of Variance								
	T-Test for Equality of Means									
			_	16	Siq. (2-	Mean Differ-	Std. Error Differ-	95% Confidence Interval of the difference		
Meta-	Equal variance	F 0,647	Sig. 0,424	T -2,520	df 61	tailed) 0,014	ence -0,41358	ence 0,16413	Lower -0,74178	Upper -0,08538
cognition	assumed Equal variance not assumed	-		-2,457	50,281	0,018	-0,41358	0,16833	-0,75164	-0,07552
Mindful Attention	Equal variance assumed	0,391	0,534	-0,339	61	0,736	-0,06111	0,18008	-0,42120	0,29897
	Equal variance not assumed			-0,341	57,187	0,734	-0,06111	0,17915	-0,41983	0,29760
Interaction Engagement	Equal variance assumed	0,444	0,507	-1,673	61	0,099	-0,24074	0,14388	-0,52845	0,04696
	Equal variance not assumed			-1,643	51,947	0,107	-0,24074	0,14657	-0,53485	0,05337
Empathy	Equal variance assumed	2,536	0,116	-1,142	61	0,258	-0,20139	0,17641	-0,55414	0,15137
	Equal variance not assumed			-1,097	46,613	0,278	-0,20139	0,18360	-0,57083	0,16805
Cultural motivation	Equal variance assumed	1,549	0,218	-1,945	61	0,056	-0,27160	0,13965	-0,55085	0,00764
	Equal variance not assumed			-1,864	46,032	0,069	-0,27160	0,14568	-0,56484	0,02163
Cultural awareness	Equal variance assumed	0,050	0,824	-1,084	61	0,283	-0,16204	0,14952	-0,46102	0,13695
	Equal variance not assumed			-1,072	53,752	0,289	-0,16204	0,15116	-0,46513	0,14106
Ethno relativity	Equal variance assumed	1,219	0,274	-0,928	61	0,357	-0,22685	0,24438	-0,71552	0,26181
	Equal variance not assumed			-0,900	48,913	0,372	-0,22685	0,25201	-0,73331	0,27961
Respect otherness/	Equal variance assumed	2,042	0,158	-0,883	61	0,381	-0,11728	0,13286	-0,38296	0,14839
Non judg- mentalness	Equal variance not assumed			-0,898	59,129	0,373	-0,11728	0,13066	-0,37873	0,14416
Openness	Equal variance assumed	1,807	0,184	-0,609	61	0,544	-0,08704	0,14281	-0,37260	0,19852
	Equal variance not assumed			-0,587	47,141	0,560	-0,08704	0,14831	-0,38538	0,21131

Table 11: Independent Samples Test Box

Source: Own representation.

In Table 11 we can see that all T-scores are negative, indicating a high degree of similarity between biculturals and monoculturals with regard to their mean responses. (This could also be observed in Table 10.) The

values in the "Sig. column" are all greater than 0.05, which means that the variability in the two groups is not significantly different (van den Berg 2017). However, a more detailed explanation can be derived from the "Sig. (2-tailed) column", which depicts the p-values relevant for the testing of the hypotheses (ibid.).

Results based on the nine compounded sub-dimensions indicate that there is one significant difference between the two groups in regard to the sub-dimensions of TCC. This one significant difference is found in the sub-dimension "meta-cognition", where monoculturals had a mean of 3.75 and standard deviation of 0.71, while biculturals had a mean of 4.17, and standard deviation of 0.59. In this case the p-value is p = 0.014 with p < 0.05 and t(61) = -2.52; therefore, the mean between the two groups is significantly different: Biculturals show a higher degree of "metacognition" than monoculturals. As the results of monoculturals do not show higher mean responses for other compounded sub-dimensions, biculturals show a higher overall degree of TCC.

#### 9. Limitations

The empirical study presented here allows basic assumptions on the correlation between the bicultural biography of an individual and his or her transcultural competence. Despite the theoretical embeddedness, the comprehensive framework to assess TCC and the profound statistical analysis that has been conducted, the study also shows several limitations.

The study examined bicultural's and monocultural's specifications with regard to their TCC. It was assumed that, because of their biography, biculturals show higher degrees of TCC. Yet the question remains whether all biculturals who participated in the survey were in fact bicultural. The term "bicultural" presupposes that a person internalizes two or more cultural schemes. It is still difficult to assess to which persons this trait applies. In the present study, biculturals were identified according to the definitions provided in the literature (chapter 4). Hence biculturals were selected qua definition and not according to their actual ability to apply two different cultural schemes. Further research on the subject might have to integrate more comprehensive assessments on whether a person actually *is* bicultural and does not only *appear* to be. Nguyen &

Benet-Martinez (2007) list a variety of uni-dimensional- and bi-dimensional test scales that could be of use for a more comprehensive identification of biculturals. For future research, a more refined pre-selection of biculturals could lead to stronger statistical significance in the data analysis.

Another limitation of this study is the language. The TCCQ was provided solely in English while assessing only few native English-speakers. This implies that all participants in the study (except for one) were at least bilingual professionals. Being bi- or polylingual could reduce a person's 'degree of monoculturality'. In other words: The monoculturals who participated in the study have beneficial prerequisites with regard to TCC. It is thus recommended that for future research, the questionnaire is provided in several languages in order to address monoculturals in their native language. This would allow the participation of monoculturals with a stronger monocultural profile, namely people who only speak one language and have a culturally, more limited experience.

Another rather strong limitation to this survey are the missing scales to fully assess TCC. As discussed before, not all dimensions and subdimensions of TCC have been tested. As no existing scales could be identified, the subdimensions 'appreciation of otherness', "collaborative dialogue", "genius of the AND", "reconciliation" remains to be still integrated into the TCCQ. (And not to forget the dimension "realization" for which a qualitative post-interaction assessment seems much more promising.) Generating validated items for the missing sub-dimensions is a further task for future research. The generation of these items is particularly important as they constitute the TCC-critical dimensions. As the TCCQ did not integrate these critical sub-dimensions of TCC, the questionnaire rather assesses "the potential of an individual to become transculturally competent" (as described before) rather than his or her actual TCC.

Reapplying the TCCQ as presented here could help to conduct a factor analysis of the whole questionnaire construct. As described before, all scales integrated in the TCCQ showed high degrees of validity and reliability as they were tested through factor analyses. Therefore, in this work, a factor analysis was dispensed with. Future research on TCC measurement should fall back on a factor analysis, especially as for the TCCcritical dimensions, additional self-generated items and scales have to be integrated and tested.

# 10. Concluding remarks<sup>4</sup>

Despite the limitations described before, the findings of this study are considered to be important and useful, as they contribute to the construct of knowledge on transcultural competence research. In order to more fully comprehend TCC, it is important to understand the various factors that can affect an individual's TCC. It is in the nature of empirical survevs that the results cannot be generalized to apply to all professionals outside the participants in this study. Yet the findings presented here give a useful insight into how the cultural biography can affect professionals in terms of their potential to become transculturally competent. There are many studies that have attempted to measure intercultural effectiveness in a variety of different specifications and with diverging intentions. However, the author could not identify a single item-based questionnaire that aims to measure TCC. The study is unique as it leverages existing research by identifying a variety of different scales relevant for the examination of TCC. By constructing several scales into one, a comprehensive yet incomplete questionnaire has been created. This incompleteness is not to be understood as a weakness of this research. It is rather a depiction of TCC-related fields that require further consolidation of knowledge. As such, this research shed light on TCC, its testability and related fields necessary for, and worthy of, further exploration.

<sup>4</sup> Author's note: The original paper examined a second hypothesis, namely whether monoculturals with international experience show a higher degree of TCC than monoculturals without international experience. As described in this chapter, the survey counted N = 11 monoculturals with international experience and N = 16 monoculturals without international experience. The hypothesis has been tested by applying a Mann-Whitney test. Results indicated, that monoculturals with international experience show better results for exactly one sub-dimension ('cultural awareness'). As monoculturals without international experience did not show any significant higher results for other sub-dimensions, it has been concluded that monoculturals with international experience and not show any significant higher national experience possess a higher potential of becoming transculturally competent.
#### References

- Barger, K. (2017): Recognition and control of Ethnocentrism. Indiana University Indianapolis. Retrieved October 8, 2017, from http://www.iupui.edu/~ant hkb/ethnocen.htm.
- Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (2016): Intercultural Management: A Case-based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave.
- Bartel-Radic, A. & Giannelloni, J. L. (2016): A renewed perspective on the measurement of cross-cultural competence: An approach through personality traits and cross-cultural knowledge, in: European Management Journal, 35(5): 632-644.
- Barth, F. (1967): On the Study of Social Change, in: American Anthropologist, 69(6): 661-669.
- Benet-Martínez, V. & Lee, F. (2005): Exploring the Consequences of Biculturalism: Cognitive Complexity, Iaccp.Org, 83-95.
- Bennett, J. M. & Bennett, M. J. (2004): Developing Intercultural Sensitivity, in: Bennett, J. M. & Landis, D. (eds.), Handbook of Intercultural Training, Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Ltd. Thousand Oaks.
- Bennett, M. J., Hammer, M. R. & Wiseman, R. (2003): Measuring intercultural sensitivity: The intercultural development inventory, in: International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 27(4): 421-443.
- Bercovitch, J. & Foulkes, J. (2012): Cross-cultural effects in conflict management: Examining the nature and relationship between culture and international mediation, in: International Journal of Cross Cultural Management, 12(1): 25-47.
- Berg, W. (2011): Transcultural Areas, in: Berg, W. (eds.), Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Berg, W. & Eigeartaigh, A. N. (2010): Exploring Transculturalism. A Biographical Approach, in: Berg, W. & Eigeartaigh, A. N. (eds.), Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Caligiuri, P. M., Jacobs, R. R. & Farr, J. L. (2000): The Attitudinal and Behavioral Openness Scale: Scale development and construct validation, in: International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 24(1): 27-46.
- Chen, G. & Starosta, W. J. (2000): The development and validation of the intercultural sensitivity scale, in: Human Communication, 3(1): 3-14.
- Dyne, L. Van, Ang, S., Ng, K. Y., Rockstuhl, T., Tan, M. L. & Koh, C. (2012): Sub-Dimensions of the Four Factor Model of Cultural Intelligence: Expanding: EBSCOhost, 4: 295-313.
- Field, A. (2009): Discovering Statistics using SPSS, SAGE: London.

- Gilsa, T. (2019): Operationalizing Transcultural Competence, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 43-73.
- Glen, S. (2014): Cronbach's Alpha: Simple Definition, Use and Interpretation. Retrieved November 18, 2017, from http://www.statisticshowto.com/cron bachs-alpha-spss/.
- Glen, S. (2017): T Test (Student's T-Test): Definition and Examples. Retrieved November 19, 2017, from http://www.statisticshowto.com/probability-and statistics/t-test/.
- Glover, J. & Friedman, H. L. (2015): Transcultural Competence: Navigating Cultural Differences in the Global Community, American Psychological Association (APA).
- Gosepath, S. (2011): "Equality", The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Spring 2011 Edition), Zalta, E. N. (eds.). Retrieved October 15, 2017 from https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/equality/.
- Herder, J. G. (1966): Outlines of a Philosophy of the History of Man, New York: Bergman.
- Leung, A. K., Maddux, W. W., Galinsky, A. D. & Chiu, C. (2008): Multicultural experience enhances creativity: The when and how, in: American Psychologist, 63(3): 169-181.
- Mack, O., Khare, A., Kramer, A. & Burgartz, T. (2015): Managing in a VUCA World, 1-250.
- McMurray, A. (2007): Measuring Intercultural Sensitivity of International and Domestic College Students: The impact of international travel, Florida: University of Florida, 1-80.
- Mittal, R. (2012): Measuring Cross-Cultural Orientation: Development of a New Instrument, in: Journal of Organizational Psychology, 12: 35-46.
- Moghaddam, F. M. (2014): The omnicultural imperative, in: Culture and Psychology 18(3): 304-330.
- Nguyen, A.-M. D. & Benet-Martinez, V. (2007): Biculturalism Unpacked: Components, Measurement, Individual Differences, and Outcomes. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 1(1): 101-114.
- Nietzsche, F. (1996): Human, All Too Human. A Book for Free Spirits, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Nunes, I. M., Felix, B. & Prates, L. A. (2017): Cultural intelligence, crosscultural adaptation and expatriate performance: A study with expatriates living in Brazil, in: Revista de Administração, 52(3): 219-232.

- Osman, A., Lamis, D. A., Bagge, C. L., Freedenthal, S. & Barnes, S. M. (2016): The mindful attention awareness scale: Further examination of dimensionality, reliability, and concurrent validity estimates, in: Journal of Personality Assessment, 98(2): 189-199.
- Rüsen, J. (2014): How to overcome ethnocentrism: Approaches to a culture of recognition by history in the 21st century, in: Taiwan Journal of East Asian Studies, 1(1): 59-74.
- Spencer-Oatey, H. & Franklin, P. (2009): Intercultural Interaction: A Multidisciplinary Approach to Intercultural Communication. Research and Practice in Applied Linguistics.
- Trompenaars, F. (2016): Dr. Fons Trompenaars: Transcultural Competence: Reconcile dilemmas to collaborate and innovate. Retrieved September 19, 2017, from https://www.leadershipandchangemagazine.com/dr-fonstrom penaars-transcultural-competence-reconcile-dilemmas-to-collaborateandinnovate/.
- Trompenaars, F. & Hampden-Turner, C. (1993): Riding the waves of culture: Understanding cultural diversity in business, Long Range Planning, 26(5): 153.
- Trompenaars, F. & Woolliams, P. (2001): Dilemmas of Multi-Cultural Leaders: A New Unified Model of Trans-Cultural Competence, in: Velocity Vol. 3, No.1: 13-18.
- Urthaler, S. (2019): Transcultural Competence and its Focus on Commonalities, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.), Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 113-141.
- Van den Berg, R. G. (2016): SPSS Mann-Whitney Test. Retrieved November 26, 2017, from https://www.spss-tutorials.com/spss-mann-whitney-testsimpleexample/.
- Van den Berg, R. G. (2017): SPSS Independent Samples T Test. Retrieved November 19, 2017, from https://www.spss-tutorials.com/spssindependentsamples-t-test/.
- Welsch, W. (1999): "Transculturality the Puzzling Form of Cultures Today." Culture and Society: Spaces of Culture, 194-213. Retrieved September 21, 2017, from http://www2.uni-jena.de/welsch/papers/W\_Welsch\_Trans culturality.html.
- Wieland, J. (2014): Governance Ethics: Global Value Creation, Economic Organization and Normativity, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.), Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 44-54.

- Wieland, J., & Leisinger, K. (2016): Transculturality and Economic Governance. Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 12-32.
- Wieland, J. (2018): Relational Economics Ökonomische Theorie der Governance wirtschaftlicher Transaktionen, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Wieland, J. (2019): Transculturality as a Leadership Style A Relational Approach, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.), Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 21-41.

# Transculturality and its Focus on Commonalities

Sebastian Urthaler

## 1. Introduction

"Despite our faith in technology, and our reliance on technological solutions, there are *no* technical solutions to most of the problems confronting human beings [...] until mankind transcends the intellectual limitations imposed by our institutions, our philosophies, and our cultures." (Edward T. Hall 1981: 1)

We are experiencing a time in human history, in which an increasing share of the human encounters and transactions is taking place between people from different countries and with different cultural affiliations (Stahl 2016). That is particularly affecting business, as managers and professionals at all levels have to deal with an ever more demanding and complex environment, since they have to interact with people, who have been socialized in different cultural and institutional environments, on a daily basis (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016c; Stahl 2016). In this regard, Barmeyer & Franklin (2016c: 1) emphasize that nowadays "[c]ultural complexity is the rule in many organizations and no longer the exception". Early in the 21<sup>st</sup> century we have thus arrived at a point at which the understanding of culture and its impact on the organizational and professional environment has become more important than ever (Schreier & Kainzbauer 2016; Stahl 2016).

Against the background of the prevailing need to successfully manage cross-cultural encounters, we have experienced the advancement of a large number of cross-cultural competence conceptualizations, which aim at making culture operational and outline certain competences that are supposed to help individuals to successfully manoeuvre between different cultural spheres of influence (Bennett & Bennett 2004; Hofstede 2003; Ting-Toomey 1999; Van de Vijver & Leung 2009). The problem with most of those conceptualizations is that they build on notions of cultural nationalism and thus on a concept of culture, which emphasizes the clear delineation of national cultures and focuses on cultural difference (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016a, 2016c, 2016d; Kühlmann & Stahl 1998; Trompenaars & Woolliams 2009).

In a world which is increasingly shaped by globalization and particularization, any conceptualization of culture founded on cultural nationalism is a) descriptively inaccurate and therefore does not serve the expected purpose of being an adequate basis for the determination of competences needed to successfully, effectively and appropriately handle transactions, and is b) normatively dangerous and untenable, as it reproduces the negative view of cultural difference, which causes the adverse outcomes often associated with cultural difference in the first place (Hagenbüchle 2002; Welsch 1999). Instead, concepts of culture and the associated conceptualizations of the individual competences, needed to successfully handle cross-cultural encounters, should emphasize the ability and willingness to embrace commonalities and to stress pan-cultural complementarity and synergy, in order to actually provide valuable guidance for cross-cultural encounters in a world that is increasingly characterized by complexity and by cultural spheres which flow and blend into each other, influencing each other, merging, intersecting and mixing together (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016c; Stahl & Tung 2015).

In order to do the outlined developments justice and to adequately capture culture in the 21st century, Wolfgang Welsch (1994; 1999) and other scholars have developed and advocated the concept of Transculturality. Thereby, they dismiss "uniform, folk-bound and separatory" notions of culture and stress the differentiated, global and inclusive character of modern society (Möhrer, Pillath, Simmank & Suurendonk 2016; Welsch 1999). Building upon the theoretical notions of Transculturality, there have been first efforts to conceptualize a multidimensional model of various associated individual competences or resources required to manage transactions in a way that allows for the identification and creation of commonalities and for mutually beneficial cooperation and synergies (Möhrer et al. 2016; see also Wieland 2019 in this book). Overall, the theoretical framework of Transculturality, as well as the eventually derived transcultural competences appear to constitute a better foundation for understanding the significance of culture in the 21st century and providing guidance for individuals on how to successfully manoeuvre between the ever more hybrid cultural spheres, than previously introduced models (Antweiler 2012; Möhrer et al. 2016; Moosmüller & Schönhuth 2009).

Recognizing the importance of successfully managing cross-cultural encounters and transactions and, thus, the ever-increasing relevance of the theoretical notions on Transculturality, this chapter aims to contribute to the understanding of the still somewhat vague, multifaceted construct of Transcultural Competence by examining and elaborating on one specific dimension of the overall concept. After shortly introducing and discussing the overall concept of Transcultural Competences, we would like to pick up on the notions of Gilsa (2019: 43-73) and Salice-Stephan (2019: 75-111) in earlier chapters of the book and specifically examine "Focus on Commonalities" as one essential dimension of Transcultural Competence. Thereby, we will be emphasizing its relevance and importance for the overall construct and discussing some potential human universals, which allow for the assumption of pan-cultural commonalities. Subsequently, we will introduce a first set of measures which pave the way for the assessment of Focus on Commonalities. Finally, we will discuss the findings of the chapter and conclude by re-emphasizing the importance e of Transcultural Competence.

## 2. Transcultural Competences

The impact of the trends and developments of globalization and particularization and the subsequent innovations of the concept of culture have led to a demand for a reframed notion of cross-cultural ability that has not yet been met (Moosmüller & Schönhuth 2009; Ng, Van Dyne & Ang 2012). A very interesting approach to view cultural abilities, which is particularly relevant for the definition of Transcultural Competence (TCC), has been introduced by Wieland (2014; 2016) and others (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016b; Bartel-Radic & Giannelloni 2017) as a "resource-based" view. In such a view, the (transcultural) competences are referred to as a repertoire of intangible personal resources such as knowledge, abilities, characteristics and attitudes that are required to successfully master cross-cultural encounters and transactions and to effectively cooperate with people with a dissimilar cultural orientation (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016b). Wieland (2014) describes the individual transcultural resources and the individual self-commitment in handling transactions as ever more important in a world that is characterized by encounters with different cultures and corresponding heterogeneity and diversity of collective moral and/or cultural orders as well as an increasing discontinuation of the importance of traditional points of reference such as nation states and families that has not (yet) been compensated for by the evolution of equivalent reference systems.

For the limited purpose of this section, TCCs are defined as a personal or an individual competence. In order to reduce complexity, the transaction-based view introduced by Wieland (2014) will be adopted in the following remarks. In discussing Transcultural Competences, we will thus always be talking about individual resources in one specific transaction (Wieland 2014). While there are reasons to examine TCC using a more contextual approach or to look at TCC at an organizational level, there are at least as many arguments that support an approach that begins with the individual as unit of analysis and uses the identified individual competences as a basis for further examination (Glover & Friedman 2015; Spitzberg & Changnon 2009; Wieland 2010). First, even though the respective contextual framework is crucial and needs to be taken into account, it is people who are involved in transactions and who make decisions and who thus determine the success or failure of cross-cultural encounters (Leisinger 2010; Mendenhall 2001). Second, globalization and particularization go hand in hand with the increasing importance of the subjectivity factor, which, in turn, makes individual abilities and capabilities of people an ever more important resource (Schreier & Kainzbauer 2016; Wieland 2010, 2014). Third, the examination of individual abilities is partly also a question of practicability: It is much easier to develop reliable assessment tools and to deduce substantiated statements for individual competences, and to base subsequent work on those findings, than the other way around (Hofstede 2003). In addition, if the notions on, and the assessment of, TCC are to be developed into a leadership development tool or a tool for recruitment and employee appraisal purposes, it is reasonable to consider individual abilities as a starting point (Fowler & Blohm 2004; Hofstede 2003; Möhrer et al. 2016; Wieland 2010).

Correspondingly, TCC can be defined as a set of dynamic cognitive, affective and behavioural competences or resources emphasizing discur-

sive and cooperative discovery and the identification and creation of commonalities required to make cooperation between culturally-diverse actors possible and to increase the likelihood of successful transactions between culturally dissimilar individuals and organizations (Wieland 2016). Individual TCC requires a high degree of awareness and a certain understanding of how cultural identity is developed, what constitutes culture and cultural identity and how cultural identity affects people and transactions (Glover & Friedman 2015). Furthermore, TCC constitutes a culture-general ability to successfully deal with cultural difference, an ability that is desperately needed in a variety of organizational and other contexts that are increasingly characterized by (cultural) heterogeneity and homogenization or respectively globalization and particularization (Schreier & Kainzbauer 2016; Wieland 2014).

## 3. Focus on Commonalities

The following section picks up on von Gilsa's (2019: 43-73) and Salice-Stephan's (2019: 75-111) notions in previous chapters of the book. They dealt with the operationalization of Transcultural Competence and have thereby laid the groundwork for much of the respective scientific examination in future (including the chapter at hand). While contributing a great deal to the overall examination and operationalization of Transcultural Competence, they have not yet extensively described and captured the conceptually indispensable dimension "Focus on Commonalities". The following remarks thus aim to close the void and contribute to the examination of "Focus on Commonalities" within the overall framework of Transcultural Competence. Thereby, emphasis will be placed on why "Focus on Commonalities" is such a significant element of TCC in a first subsection. In a second subsection, a variety of arguments will be elaborated that actually underscore the claim that there are many cultural commonalities and potential complementarities, which most conceptualizations of cultures and cultural identity neglect on behalf of a one-sided over-emphasis of cultural differences (Stahl & Tung 2015). The respective arguments substantiate that it is more reasonable than is frequently maintained to hypothesize and emphasize a significant degree of pancultural commonalities and complementarities.

The "Focus on Commonalities" dimension stresses the importance of recognizing and emphasizing commonalities, reconciling differences and building on the commonalities and the reconciled differences in a way that is mutually beneficial for all parties involved in the transaction and that allows for the creation of cultural commonalities in future. Thereby. "Focus on Commonalities" is comprised by the following three subdimensions. The first sub-dimension Embracing Commonalities points at the importance of recognizing and emphasizing the physiological, psychological and cultural commonalities that all human beings have in common and that can constitute a common basis for transcultural interactions (Berry 2004). The second sub-dimension Genius of the AND stresses the importance of the cognitive and attitudinal ability of departing from the view of cultural differences as opposites or as two contradictory positions and towards an accentuation of complementarity (Glover & Friedman 2015). In this regard, Glover & Friedman (2015) call for a departure from the "tyranny of the OR" (Collins & Porras 1994) and refer to the ability and willingness to emphasis two alternatives or opposites at the same time and to figure out a way of compromising the two extremes in a manner that is innovative and adds value. That leads to the third subdimension of the "Focus on Commonalities", Reconciliation, which refers to the ability to connect different points of view and emphasizes the attitudinal ability and the behavioural intention to cope with cultural differences by reconciling cultural dilemmas or opposite views and alternative approaches in a creative way that generates synergies (Glover & Friedman 2015; Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner 1998; Trompenaars & Woolliams 2009).

# 3.1 The Importance of "Focus on Commonalities" for Transcultural Competence

The importance and, generally, the role of "Focus on Commonalities" within the concept of TCC can be explained as follows.

First, the need for a particularly emphasized dimension "Focus on Commonalities" becomes apparent when considering the significance of the conceptually adequate and coherent deduction of dimensions and subdimensions from the underlying notions of the relatively recently developed concept of Transculturality. Since the concept of Transculturality emphasizes that in a world that is increasingly shaped by cross-cultural encounters and interactions, it is increasingly important to emphasize commonalities that are independent from the concrete cultural affiliation and cultural complementarities and synergies in transactions; the respective notions need to be reflected in the definitions and delineations of a related concept of cultural ability. The concept of Transculturality actively expects individuals to reflect on and emphasize commonalities and complementarities and the upsides of transcultural collaboration (Schleicher 2016; Stahl & Tung 2015).

Second, in a world that is increasingly characterized by globalization and particularization, by the emergence of "atopic" societies, the dissolution of boundaries and the emergence of transcultural spaces or spheres, and thus by a mounting prevalence and relevance of cultural diversity, the focus on commonalities associated with TCC can also be viewed as a pragmatic approach to increase the likelihood of successful cooperation and value creation and personal or organizational goal attainment given the ever growing share of transactions that are realized in a transcultural context (Ang & Van Dyne 2008; Brand 2016; Glover & Friedman 2015; Schreier & Kainzbauer 2016; Ting-Toomey 1999; Wieland 2014, 2016).

## 3.2 Origins of pan-cultural commonalities

After having established the significance of the "Focus of Commonalities" within the concept of TCC, the following will underscore the fact that "Focus on Commonalities" is not to be considered as some kind of a romanticized ideal of peaceful togetherness, but that there is sufficient reason to justify the enhanced emphasis on pan-cultural commonalities between human beings (Antweiler 2012; Berry 2004; Bolscho 2005; Kearney & Adachi 2012). While the challenges of readjusting the inner compass from concentration on polarity and differences to commonalities and collaboration are acknowledged, several important starting points to underscore the claim of a sustained focus on commonalities, are presented in the following (Welsch 1999).

A first set of arguments frequently advocated to emphasize pan-cultural commonalities between human beings refers to various aspects of human nature. Besides obvious and less relevant physical similarities, scholars particularly emphasize psychological and emotional aspects. Hofstede (1981, 2003), for instance, emphasized a universal level of mental programming by all human beings. Other authors followed and pointed at similar cognitive, emotional and biological equipment and the common structure of consciousness of human beings (Knoblauch 2007; Tomasello 2016; Wieland 2016).

Antor (2010) and Hannerz (1991) point out that all human beings function as pattern-building or sense-making animals in order to provide themselves with orientation and a sense of identity and to place themselves in the world. The mere fact that all human beings live in one form or another of a social context and that all those apparently very different social contexts or cultures share similar functional characteristics and prerequisites, such as the provision of relationships, the differentiation and assignments of roles or the regulation of sexuality, can be taken as an indication for a common structure of consciousness and species-shared psychological processes of all humankind (Antweiler 2012; Berry 2004; Tomasello 2016).

Other scholars, such as Irvine & Berry (1988) and Van de Vijver (1997), point to cognitive performance and abilities across cultures and emphasize that, despite variation in the development and expression of cognition according to the respective socio-cultural background and context, all inductive and deductive reasoning as well the analytical and spatial abilities and memory processes are rooted in common psychological processes (Berry 2004). Berry (2004) elaborated on those findings and concluded that, while scholars have for decades wrongfully focused on the variable expression and display of cognitive processes across cultures, there needs to be more emphasis on the common underlying processes.

Similarly, various authors have scientifically underpinned the claim of the existence of a variety of pan-cultural basic emotions and the prosocial capability of human beings (Berry 2004; Wieland 2016). Discussions in various fields of social sciences, such as, for instance "Neuroethics" and Behavioural Business Ethics, assume a biological and an emotional basic equipment of human beings as a starting point and emphasize that some emotions, such as empathy or compassion, are, to a certain degree, universal (Cropanzano & Stein 2009; Engel & Singer 2008; Glimcher, Fehr & Camerer 2008; Salvador & Folger 2009; Wieland 2014). It is highlighted that while the expression and display of emotions might vary according to the respective socio-cultural background and context, some basic emotions are pan-cultural and again, it is emphasized that, for far too long, scholars have wrongfully stressed the varying expression of emotions instead of common basic emotions (Berry 2004; Hagenbüchle 2002).

With regard to the discussion of specific psychological mechanisms, which can assumed to be universal, it is worth looking at Schütz (2004 [1932]) and Knoblauch (2007), who emphasize what they call "intersubjectivity" or "alterity" respectively. Thereby, they point to a common psychological mechanism of transferring meaning and significance ("Sinnübertragung") and an unquestioned and unreflective acceptance of human counterparts as human beings. They elaborate that a human being is always born into a social context and thus automatically accepts the co-existence of other human beings as people with similar consciousness to one's own without ever challenging the assumption of the humanness of a human counterpart (Knoblauch 2007). Knoblauch also introduces the general thesis of the alter ego ("Generalthesis des alter ego") as a universal psychological mechanism of identification and recognition of other human beings as similar creatures, independently of the prior knowledge about, and familiarity with, the human counterpart in question. He elaborates that this mechanism can be traced back to a universal projection of similarity: Knoblauch explains that the very first universal reaction of a human being to a human counterpart will be an assumption of similarity and the recognition of the human counterpart as being "like me". He continues and asserts that, only in a second moment, will cultural identity weigh in and determine the further course of the interaction.

Also the renowned American developmental psychologist Michael Tomasello (2016) examined a variety of potential examples to underscore the claim of common roots of human-specific cognition. By working and experimenting with infants and young children, he and others point out that before children start to understand and adapt to social and cultural norms and institutions and thus start to become socialized into a specific social and cultural context, all children across cultures display very similar social behaviour. Only after they have reached the age of 3 and have thus begun to become socialized within a certain cultural context does their behaviour start to vary significantly (Hamann, Warneken & Tomasello 2012; Hepach, Vaish & Tomasello 2012; Tomasello 2016).

Tomasello (2016) points to those findings and elaborates on them as evidence of his assumption of a common basis for psychological processes of human cognition, social interaction and self-regulation, which he describes as increasingly superimposed by dominant group-oriented patterns, norms and framework conditions of culture, morality and/or cultural identity in the course of evolution. Concluding, Tomasello (2016) emphasizes that all human beings have a universal consciousness and thus a natural morality, which is, however, embedded and superimposed by social norms and cultural norms and institutions that provide very dissimilar – and partly conflicting – cognitive and behavioural patterns for (transcultural) interactions with other people. Overall, the assumption of an immediate, natural and universal recognition of similarity between myself and any human counterpart, which is at first independent of cultural affiliation and identity, can be considered an important point of departure for a strengthened emphasis of human commonalities and for collaboration in transactions shaped by transculturality.

Another commonality that can be connected to the notions above and that reflects the common human nature, is the existence of universal human needs (Glover & Friedman 2015; Welsch 1999). Similarly to what has been introduced regarding the differing display of cognition and emotions, Glover & Friedman (2015) exemplify that, even though cultural socialization and background might heavily affect the modalities and styles of how people eat, all human beings will eventually be confronted with the universal primary need to eat. Thus, even though the modalities of the satisfaction of needs might vary significantly, the universal need is already an important commonality that can be a starting point for mutual understanding, collaboration and potential creation of more commonalities in future.

Besides human nature, a variety of authors emphasize a set of universal values, which are claimed to apply to all human beings independently of their cultural affiliation. Wieland (2010) and others, for instance, emphasize a principle of "humanity" or a "moral bond of humanity" as an example of a global moral principle and normative reference point, which has pertained – and still pertains – to all human cultures and is supposed to constitute an important prerequisite for successful human cooperation and joint moral learning, and thus the elaboration of universal moral notions (Küng 2010; Sachs 2010; Wieland 2010, 2015). With regard to the value universalism vs. value relativism discussion, the authors emphasize that they consider the principle of "humanity" as an ethical absolutism that needs to be imposed on and enforced for all people in the world, but rather as an ethical-universalistic guideline, for which equivalents can be found in virtually all existing ethical frameworks. The respective equivalents can thus collaboratively be synthesized into one transcultural principle or virtue of "humanity" representing a universal normative reference point, or a common bond, which links all culture-induced differences in the application and expression of the respective value<sup>1</sup> (Antor 2010; Fischer & Wieland 2016; Ting-Toomey 1999; Wieland 2010, 2014).

The view of the principle of "humanity" as a derivable global moral principle, strengthens Tomasello's view of a certain degree of natural morality as well as the currently advocated overall view of far-reaching transcultural commonalities, which frequently remain under-emphasized at the expense of the interculturality paradigm, which highlights cultural differences and points at the apparent incompatibility between various manifestations of culture. Again, one could theorize that with globalization and particularization, the emphasis of common underlying ethical guidelines and principles could become an ever more important and promising prerequisite for future transcultural collaboration and cooperation (Antweiler 2012; Hagenbüchle 2002; Ting-Toomey 1999; Wieland 2014).

A last argument put forward with respect to potential transcultural commonalities is neither related to common human nature nor to universal values, but can rather be associated with the emergence of transcultural meta-symbolic orders that serve as reference systems for the identity formation of people all over the world (Hannerz 1996; Hepp 2006; Kearney & Adachi 2012). Kearney and Adachi (2012) point, for instance, at Advanced Information and Communication Systems, such as the internet, and introduce them as increasingly commonplace Meta-Symbolic Orders, on which people across cultures can equally rely in the process of identity formation and which can thus be considered as elements of a shared living environment of people across cultures. In one way or another, these meta-symbolic orders could be understood as elements of what

<sup>1</sup> In a similar regard and with the prospect of eventually arriving at the broad acceptance of universal values, Ricoeur (2005) and Antweiler (2012) discuss "inchoative universals" and "negotiated universalism", as approaches that emphasize that there are underlying universal values, which have not yet been realized, and that those underlying universal values need to be identified in a deliberate process among cultures and cannot be imposed. has variously been introduced as a transnational or transcultural sphere (Brand 2016). These global meta-symbolic orders can be considered increasingly important common reference systems for all human beings and thus potentially relevant factors fostering transcultural cooperation and the creation of further commonalities.

With that, a broad degree of potential pan-cultural commonalities has been introduced.<sup>2</sup> Those commonalities can be considered important starting points for the potential of cross-cultural collaboration as well as for the creation of further commonalities. They underscore the theoretical elaborations on Transculturality and TCC, as they can be viewed as providing a fundament for an active departure from concepts of culture emphasizing adverse outcomes of cross-cultural interaction and cultural differences towards a concept of culture that reflects current developments towards the globalization of cooperation and of value creation<sup>3</sup> and thus acknowledges the importance of pancultural commonalities for the sake of successful cross-cultural collaboration.

# 4. The Operationalization of "Focus on Commonalities"

After having emphasized that there are a variety of human universals to underscore the claim of pan-cultural commonalities, we will now turn towards the discussion of the challenges associated with the assessment of "Focus on Commonalities". Taking into account fundamental conceptual and methodological notions, the following section will contribute to closing a gap in scientific literature: While researchers have identified points of reference for the development of many of the dimensions and subdimensions of TCC, they have not yet succeeded in finding a conceptual benchmark for what has been introduced as the most pivotal dimension with regard to TCC: Focus on Commonalities.

In the following, we will thus take the identification of this academic void as a point of departure and introduce a set of conceptually derived

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The present section does thereby not provide a conclusive list of commonalities. A more comprehensive and encompassing list and discussion of specific human characteristics can for instance be found in Antweiler (2012: Chapter 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For a discussion on the relevance of the transcultural approach in the context of global value chains, see Wieland & Baumann Montecinos 2018.

items for the three introduced sub-dimensions of "Focus on Commonalities". Thereby, we will first discuss some general notions regarding the assessment of Focus on Commonalities, before turning towards the concrete development of three questionnaire item-sets for the assessment of the three sub-dimensions of Focus on Commonalities and discussing the prospect of those questionnaire item-sets serving as a basis for the development of more comprehensive and sophisticated assessment instruments in subsections 2 and 3.

# 4.1 General notions on the Operationalization of "Focus on Commonalities"

Importantly, the conceptualization of Focus on Commonalities requires the development of a suitable assessment tool that coherently and consistently reflects the underlying conceptual foundations and captures the concisely-specified dimensions and sub-dimensions of the construct TCC (Fantini 2009; Van de Vijver & Leung 2009; Van Dyne, Ang, & Koh 2008). Assessment is important, as it is the only way to examine and determine whether the theoretical conceptions and hypothetical assumptions actually hold up (Deardorff 2009; Sinicrope, Norris & Watanabe 2007). As Matsumoto and Hwang (2013) emphasize, the development of tests to assess concepts of cultural ability, have important theoretical and practical implications: Theoretically, measurement and assessment can help to actually capture and identify the constructs and thus to improve our understanding; practically, assessment can be beneficial as it allows practitioners to identify concrete competences and abilities needed in various circumstances and can serve as a basis for the development of appropriate training programs that can help organizations and individuals.

The process of operationalization or, in the case at hand, item-development, requires the underlying conceptual notions to be translated into questions or propositions which, on the one hand, adequately reflect the underlying concept, but, at the same time, constitute a concrete statement to which a respondent can relate and which can be answered in a relatively straightforward manner by the respondent (Kallus 2010; Schnell, Hill & Esser 2008). In the following, we will introduce six such propositions for every sub-dimension of "Focus on Commonalities"<sup>4</sup>. These six items per sub-dimension or, respectively, the three item-sets for "Focus on Commonalities" are then to be considered as a first provisional item-pool and thus a point of departure for the subsequent elaboration into a more comprehensive questionnaire capturing all dimensions of TCC and the required psychometric assessment of the respective questionnaire.

In developing the items, various methodological guidelines and formal notions and principles have been accounted for. The underlying conceptual notions were reflected on closely, and an attempt was made to identify tangible elements of the respective subdimensions in order to translate them into possibly precise propositions (Kallus 2010). Thereby, concerns regarding the content validity of the resulting items and item-sets as well as the trade-off between sufficient conceptual precision and an acceptable degree of formal parsimony and clarity have been evaluated and reevaluated (Bühner 2006: Kallus 2010: Raab-Steiner & Benesch 2012). Reflecting formal guidelines, the attempt was made to formulate short, unambiguous and specific propositions, which are neither overly positively connotated nor overly negatively formulated, which are not suggestive or hypothetical and which do not contain any toxic or loaded terms (Kallus 2010; Raab-Steiner & Benesch 2012). A specific attempt was made to formulate clear-cut propositions, which people could easily understand and answer and which do not allow for differential interpretation or contain terminology with multiple meanings (Porst 2014; Raab-Steiner & Benesch 2012).

With regard to the response mode, we suggest the uniform application of a seven-point Likert Scale, for which only the two extremes are verbalized ("Strongly Agree" and "Strongly Disagree") for the following reasons. First, the application of a consistent response mode allows for a relatively uncomplicated aggregation of item-values and enables the deduction of sub-dimension-values based on the single-item responses (Kallus 2010; Schnell et al. 2008). Second, the implementation of a scale for which only the two extremes are verbalized allows for the assumption of an interval-scaled level of measurement and thus the application of more sophisticated statistical measures (Porst 2014). Last, the seven-point scale provides the respondent with a number of potential responses, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The provisional development of six to eight items per indicator is a reasonable starting point for subsequent elaboration and examination (Kallus 2010).

allows for a sufficiently differentiated classification, but does not yet cognitively overwhelm the respondent and therefore does not hinder the respondents from reasonably differentiating between the various response categories (Kallus 2010; Porst 2014).

# 4.2 Developing Item-Sets for "Focus on Commonalities"

After having shortly elaborated the application of formal guidelines and the proposition of a uniform response mode, we will now turn to the introduction of the eighteen question-parts for the items proposed to capture the three sub-dimensions of the "Focus on Commonalities" dimension of TCC.

# 4.2.1 Sub-dimension "Embracing Commonalities"

As already introduced in the conceptual sections, the willingness and the ability to embrace commonalities is considered an important element of TCC and is thus defined as one of the sub-dimensions constituting "Focus on Commonalities". A person who is to be considered transculturally competent needs to look beyond apparent cultural differences and must be willing and able to embrace the pan-cultural common bond that cuts through cultural boundaries as well as to embody transcultural virtues (Welsch 1999; Wieland 2010). The following six propositions are proposed in order to capture the sub-dimension "Embracing Commonalities":

- EC1: I value commonalities.
- EC2: Commonalities are more important than differences.
- EC3: I recognize a bit of myself in every counterpart.
- EC4: I believe in a common bond between all human beings.
- EC5: All human cultures have common values and practices.
- EC6: There are certain values that apply to all human beings.

The six introduced propositions all reflect certain features of the above introduced willingness and ability to embrace commonalities and are thus considered a first set of potential measures to capture the underlying construct in a sufficiently valid manner. EC3, for instances aims at capturing the projection of similarity introduced in subsection 3.2 and EC5 and EC6 point to the operationalized willingness and ability to embrace universal values. While we have tried to factor in concerns regarding content validity by trying to adequately reflect the underlying conceptual notions, only extensive item-analysis and factor analysis will allow to conclusively determine whether the introduced items prove to be suitable to assess the underlying sub-dimension "Embracing Commonalities" in a sufficiently reliable manner.

# 4.2.2 Sub-dimension "Genius of the AND"

"Genius of the AND" as a second sub-dimension of "Focus on Commonalities", describes a willingness and an ability to see opposites as complementary and enriching, to embrace two alternatives or two extremes of a dimension at the same time, to value the specific strengths of two opposing or alternative views and thus ultimately to break with the existingmind set of viewing (cultural) differences as contradictory and to rather embrace (cultural) complementarities (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016c; Glover & Friedman 2015). As exemplified, for instance, by GA2, GA3 and GA6, "Genius of the AND" is thus about replacing an exclusive "either/or" mindset with a more inclusive "and/and" mindset (Barmeyer, Davoine & Mark 2016). Since "Genius of the AND" is considered a fundamental dimension for the assessment of TCC, the following six propositions are suggested in order to capture the respective sub-dimension:

- GA1: I view diversity as a threat.
- GA2: I treat opposites as complementary.
- GA3: There are common solutions to every dilemma involving opposing views, values or practices.
- GA4: I am willing to cooperate with people with dissimilar values.
- GA5: Cultural differences are enriching.
- GA6: I value cultural diversity as an opportunity for complementarity.

Again, the six propositions have been considerately developed in order to capture various elements and features of the respective sub-dimensions

and to establish content validity and are thus hoped to represent a good starting point for further examination, but it also needs to be emphasized again that they can only be applied as measures for the sub-dimension "Genius of the AND", if their psychometric properties<sup>5</sup> have been comprehensively assessed.

## 4.2.3 Sub-dimension "Reconciliation"

Reconciliation is a term that is already established in the field of study and that is associated with a concept that has been put forward by Hampden-Turner and Trompenaars (1998). Even though the sub-dimension "Reconciliation" within the concept of TCC is not fully equivalent to Hampden-Turner's & Trompenaars' (1998) notion of "Reconciliation", which is more comprehensive, their remarks can at least serve as a point of reference. Thereby, "Reconciliation" as a sub-dimension of TCC, refers less to the embracing of cultural commonalities and potential complementarities (as these notions are already captured in the two preceding sub-dimensions) and turns rather towards the signalling of the ability and the willingness to actively attempt to reconcile opposing views and to create synergies and commonalities (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016a; Glover & Friedman 2015; Hampden-Turner & Trompenaars 2006; Trompenaars & Woolliams 2006). Thus, while the two preceding sub-dimensions "Embracing Commonalities" and "Genius of the AND" point to the attitude towards cultural similarities and differences, the third sub-dimension "Reconciliation" represents a more active notion that signals more of a behavioural intent than an attitude. That is also why the six propositions are formulated in a way that explicitly asks for the behavioural intent of the respondents. The following six propositions have been developed to capture the sub-dimensions "Reconciliation":

- R1: When dealing with differing views, values or practices I try to identify the strengths of all positions.
- R2: When dealing with differing views, values or practices I try to emphasize commonalities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Validity, Reliability & Objectivity (Bühner 2006).

- R3: When dealing with differing views, values or practices I try to establish commonalities.
- R4: When dealing with cultural differences I try to reconcile opposing positions.
- R5: When dealing with cultural differences I try to focus on commonalities.
- R6: In encounters with people with dissimilar cultural values I try to establish shared values.

As has been elaborated with regard to the two preceding sub-dimensions, the propositions were developed only after thorough consideration of the various underlying conceptual elements and features and are (in combination with the suggested seven-point Likert-scale) expected to constitute adequate item sets yielding meaningful data to assess and evaluate the respective sub-dimensions and, in aggregate, an entire dimension of TCC (as assembled in Table 1).

Table 1: Subdimensions of "Focus on Co	ommonalities"
and respective items	

Focus on Commonalities	
Embracing Commonalities	
EC1: I value commonalities.	
EC2: Commonalities are more important than differences.	
EC3: I recognize a bit of myself in every counterpart.	
EC4: I believe in a common bond between all human beings.	
EC5: All human cultures have common values and practices.	
EC6: There are certain values that apply to all human beings.	
Genius of the AND	
GA1: I view diversity as a threat.	
GA2: I treat opposites as complementary.	
GA3: There are common solutions to every dilemma involving opposing views, values or practices.	
GA4: I am willing to cooperate with people with dissimilar values.	
GA5: Cultural differences are enriching.	
GA6: I value cultural diversity as an opportunity for complementarity.	

#### Reconciliation

R1: When dealing with differing views, values or practices I try to identify the strengths of all positions.

R2: When dealing with differing views, values or practices I try to emphasize commonalities.

R3: When dealing with differing views, values or practices I try to establish commonalities.

R4: When dealing with cultural differences I try to reconcile opposing positions.

R5: When dealing with cultural differences I try to focus on commonalities.

R6: In encounters with people with dissimilar cultural values I try to establish shared values.

Source: Own representation.

However, it also needs to be re-emphasized that the actual applicability and usefulness of those propositions is dependent on the results of the pending psychometric assessment of the introduced propositions or, the questionnaire and that their psychometrical properties cannot be taken for granted only because conceptual and methodological prudence was exercised as they were developed. While the introduced propositions (summarized in Table 1) represent a first item pool for further examination, the introduced preliminary item-pool will inevitably be subject to significant change during the pending item-analysis, factor analysis and crossvalidation (Bühner 2006; Kallus 2010). The pending psychometric assessment of the respective propositions is also the reason why some of the propositions have been defined and formulated in a way that might at first appear congruent: Only the required item-analysis and factor-analysis will allow one to determine which of the slightly different propositions actually reflect the underlying conceptual notions best and should thus be used going forward (Bühner 2006; Kallus 2010).

# 4.3 Proposed Next Steps: Incorporating the Developed Item-sets into a TCCQ

While the remarks at hand have emphasized the dimension "Focus on Commonalities", future studies have to evaluate how the developed itemsets can be incorporated or elaborated into a comprehensive Transcultural Competence Questionnaire (TCCQ). In this regard, two approaches can be considered and are thus briefly introduced in the following.

On the one hand, researchers could draw on earlier efforts to extract and assemble associated items and item-sets from assessment tools in the field of cultural ability studies and integrate the developed items for "Focus on Commonalities" as one component of the resulting assembled questionnaire (Kallus 2010; Möhrer et al. 2016). While such an approach is viable, we have previously pointed to the shortcomings of extracting items and assembling them into a new questionnaire, and thus, such an approach should not be considered the preferred way to attain a TCCQ (Kallus 2010). Instead, researchers could follow the blueprint presented in the notions at hand and apply a concept-driven approach to develop particular and adequate items and item-sets for the four remaining dimensions of TCC, which still require proper operationalization (Kallus 2010). While such an approach allows notions from other researchers and items and item-sets from other questionnaires to be used as important reference points, it provides the researchers developing the questionnaire with more flexibility to make sure that all items reflect the common underlying conceptual basis, and are formulated in a sufficiently coherent and consistent manner; thus meeting the requirements in terms of content validity (Bühner 2006; Kallus 2010).

Since such a concept-driven approach provides more flexibility and allows the researcher to coherently reflect the underlying dimensions and facets, and since such an approach reduces the risk of decontextualizing items and item-sets, the notions at hand recommend the concept-driven development of items and item-sets for all dimensions of TCC (Kallus 2010). While it is variously mistakenly assumed that the assembling of already "validated" questionnaire items into a new questionnaire would be less demanding in terms of the assessment of its psychometric properties, the requirements in terms of psychometric quality criteria assessment are equal for the assembled questionnaire and for the questionnaire with conceptually-derived items (ibid.). Thus, while lacking the flexibility and the ability to concretely reflect the underlying conceptual notions, researchers applying the extraction and assembling approach are not even gaining in terms of required psychometric assessment efforts.

To sum up, the concept-driven development of items and item-sets appears to be a promising and feasible approach to prospectively develop a first item-pool for all dimensions and facets of TCC. Once such a comprehensive, preliminary item-pool has been developed, there are a variety of assessments and measures required in order to determine the adequate satisfaction of the psychometric quality criteria of the item-pool, which has been developed to be shaped into a meaningful psychometric questionnaire (Bühner 2006; Kallus 2010). Of those, a thorough item-analysis and a comprehensive factor-analysis are probably amongst the most important ones (Kallus 2010).

#### 5. Discussion

The following section will critically evaluate some of the findings of the chapter. In so doing, we will specifically assess the implications of the theoretical notions on Focus on Commonalities and the ramifications of the development of item-sets for the sub-dimensions of Focus on Commonalities for the broader objective to develop a comprehensive assessment tool for Transcultural Competence, which can serve as a basis for potential future development and training efforts.

Thereby, it is important to note that there are heightened requirements with regard to the objective to adequately and comprehensively capture TCC. Those heightened requirements can be explained on the basis of the introduced complex, multifaceted definition of TCC as a set of dynamic, affective and behavioural resources emphasizing discursive and cooperative discovery and the identification and creation of commonalities in transactions (Wieland 2016). In fact, the introduced definition of TCC as an inter-subjective and transaction-based concept explains why the overall assessment of TCC needs to incorporate more than just self-reported individual ability and capability measures in order to be rightfully considered to adequately reflect all dimensions and facets of the underlying concept of TCC.

Despite the heightened requirements and the conceptual and methodological challenges along the road, we are optimistic that it is possible to arrive at a point at which the conclusive determination of TCC can serve as a conceptual foundation for training programs that foster mutual understanding and that embrace the creation of transcultural commonalities and the generation of transcultural synergies. Thereby, the notions at hand and, specifically, the very first items developed for the assessment of "Focus on Commonalities" can serve as a point of departure for the development of an integral TCCQ, which, in turn, can serve as a starting point for the development of more holistic, integrated mixed-method multi-perspective assessment designs to comprehensively assess TCC. Proceeding from the respective assessment designs and the accurate and comprehensive observation of TCC, researchers could engage in the examination of possibilities for TCC development and eventually in the development of training programs to induce and foster TCC.

Thus, even though we are at the very beginning of the outlined process, the aspiration to eventually have at our disposal a set of assessment tools which make it possible to comprehensively capture TCC, as well as development programs which allow for the induction, training and/or fostering of TCC is feasible. Researchers need to continue to approximate the outlined long-term objectives step-by-step and continue to exercise a high degree of conceptual and methodological prudence and precision at every stage in order to actually enable the achievement of the outlined aspirations in the medium to long term.

Thereby, an important topic for future research is the need to further elaborate on the fundamental notions of Transculturality and TCC and thus on the theoretical and conceptual framework underlying the notions at hand: Transculturality has not yet been conclusively defined and the conceptualization of TCC has not been conclusively determined and extensively tested (Bird et al. 2010; Deardorff 2009; Möhrer et al. 2016). As a consequence, the present notions call for a continued effort to elaborate on the underlying theoretical and conceptual notions in order to end ambiguity and to develop definitive notions and definitions which can serve as clear reference points and frameworks for further elaboration in the field of study. Thereby, it would be specifically worth proceeding from the notions on Focus on Commonalities and further elaborating on potential pan-cultural commonalities, which could serve as a foundation for a change of perspective from a focus on differences to a focus on commonalities and as a basis for sustained transcultural cooperation.

## 6. Conclusion

In extensively elaborating Focus on Commonalities, one of the major findings of the notions at hand has been that the discussed research area is still somewhat understudied and indeterminate (Möhrer 2016; Möhrer et al. 2016). While the objective of this chapter was to contribute to the advancement of the field of study, the findings of the notions at hand can only be considered a limited contribution with respect to the challenges that still lie ahead. In order to prospectively achieve the variously stated objectives and to reach a point at which we have a fully explicated and operationalized concept of cultural ability at our disposal that no longer stresses cultural difference, but instead emphasizes transcultural commonalities and the potential of cooperation and synergy, sustained scientific efforts as well as a commitment to the satisfaction of a high degree of conceptual and methodological prudence and precision at every single stage along the road are required (Barmeyer & Franklin 2016c; Sachs 2010; Stahl & Tung 2015).

In closing, it has, however, to be re-emphasized that the value of converging towards an encompassing conceptualization of cultural ability, which finally emphasizes complementarities, synergies and commonalities, instead of differences, liabilities and adverse outcomes, should be beyond doubt. In 1963, President John F. Kennedy noted that, in the long run, it will be crucial for humankind to focus on what unites us instead of on what apparently divides us: "So, let us not be blind to our differences – but let us also direct attention to our common interests and to the means by which those differences can be resolved" (Kennedy 1963 as cited in Sachs 2010: 151).

## References

- Ang, S., & Van Dyne, L. (2008): Preface, in: Ang, S. & Van Dyne, L. (eds.), Handbook of Cultural Intelligence – Theory, Measurement and Application. ORT, M E Sharpe, xv-xviii.
- Antor, H. (2010): From Postcolonialism and Interculturalism to the Ethics of Transculturalism in the Age of Globalization, in: Antor, H., Merkl, M., Stierstorfer, K. & Volkmann, L. (eds.), From Interculturalism to Transculturalism: Mediating Encounters in Cosmopolitan Contexts, Heidelberg: Universitätsverlag Winter GmbH, 1-14.
- Antweiler, C. (2012): Inclusive Humanism: Anthropological Basics for a Realistic Cosmopolitanism, Göttingen: V and R Unipress.

- Barmeyer, C., Davoine, E. & Mark, V. (2016): A Parcel to Spain: Reconciling Cultural and Managerial Dilemmas Caused by the Implementation of Corporate Culture Instruments, in: Barmeyer C. & Franklin, P. (eds.), Intercultural Management: A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave McMillan, 289-299.
- Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (2016a): Achieving Complementarity and Synergy: The Third Step to Leveraging Diversity in Intercultural Management, in: Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (eds.), Intercultural Management: A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave McMillan, 199-213.
- Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (2016b): Applying Competencies and Resources: Handling Cultural Otherness as the Second Step Towards Generating Complementarity and Synergy from Cultural Diversity, in Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (eds.), Intercultural Management: A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave McMillan, 137-147.
- Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (2016c): Introduction: from Otherness to Synergy
   An Alternative Approach to Intercultural Management, in: Barmeyer,
  C. & Franklin, P. (eds.), Intercultural Management: A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave McMillan, 1-12.
- Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (2016d): Understanding Otherness and Discord: A Necessary but Insufficient Step Towards Generating Complementarity and Synergy from Cultural Diversity, in Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (eds.), Intercultural Management: A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave McMillan, 15-27.
- Bartel-Radic, A. & Giannelloni, J.-L. (2017): A renewed perspective on the measurement of cross-cultural competence: An approach through personality traits and cross-cultural knowledge, in: European Management Journal, 35(5): 632-644. Retrieved February 2, 2018 from https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.emj.2017.02.003.
- Bennett, J. & Bennett, M. (2004): Developing Intercultural Sensitivity: An Integrative Approach to Global and Domestic Diversity, in: Bennett, J., Bennett, M. and Landis, D. (eds.), Handbook of Intercultural Training, ORT: SAGE Publications, 147-165.
- Berry, J. W. (2004): Fundamental Psychological Processes in Intercultural Relations, in: Bennett, J., Bennett, M. & Landis, D. (eds.), Handbook of Intercultural Training, ORT: SAGE Publications, 166-184.

- Bird, A., Mendenhall, M. E., Stevens, M. J. & Oddou, G. (2010): Defining the content domain of intercultural competence for global leaders, in: Journal of Managerial Psychology, 25(8): 810-828. Retrieved February 4, 2018 from https://doi.org/10.1108/02683941011089107.
- Bolscho, D. (2005): Transkulturalität ein neues Leitbild für Bildungsprozesse, in: Datta, A. (eds.), Transkulturalität und Identität: Bildungsprozesse zwischen Exklusion und Inklusion, Berlin: Iko-Verlag, 29-38.
- Brand, L. (2016): Transculturality and the Formation of the Transcultural Sphere, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.), Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 44-54.
- Bühner, M. (2006): Einführung in die Test- und Fragebogenkonstruktion, München: Pearson Studium.
- Collins, J. C. & Porras, J. I. (1994): Built to last: Successful habits of visionary companies, New York: Harper.
- Cropanzano, R. & Stein, J. H. (2009): Organizational Justice and Behavioral Ethics: Promises and Prospects, in: Business Ethics Quarterly, 19(2), 193-233. Retrieved February 3, 2018 from https://doi.org/10.5840/beq2009 19211.
- Deardorff, D. K. (2009): Implementing Intercultural Competence Assessment, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, 477-491.
- Engel, C. & Singer, W. (2008): Better than Conscious, Decision Making, the Human mind and implications for Institutions, in: Science (Vol. 129). Retrieved February 23, 2018 from http://books.google.com/books?hl=enand lr=andid=JQLg7L-Qto4Candpgis=1
- Fantini, A. E. (2009): Assessing Intercultural Competence: Issues and Tools, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, 456-476.
- Fischer, D. & Wieland, J. (2016): Some Aspects of Transculturality, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.), Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 33-43.
- Fowler, S. M. & Blohm, J. M. (2004): An Analysis of Methods for Intercultural Training, in: Bennett, J., Bennett, M. & Landis, D. (eds.), Handbook of Intercultural Training (3rd ed.), Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, 37-84.
- Glimcher, P. W., Fehr, E. & Camerer, C. (2008): Neuroeconomics: Decision Making and the Brain, New York: Academic Press.
- Glover, J. & Friedman, H. L. (2015): Transcultural Competence: Navigating Cultural Differences in the Global Community, American Psychological Association (APA).

- Hagenbüchle, R. (2002): Von der Multi-Kulturalität zur Inter-Kulturalität, Würzburg: Königshausen and Neumann.
- Hall, E. T. (1981): Beyond Culture, New York: Anchor Books, Doubleday.
- Hamann, K., Warneken, F. & Tomasello, M. (2012): Children's developing commitments to joint goals, in: Child Development, 83(1): 137-145. Retrieved February 2, 2018 from https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01 695.x
- Hampden-Turner, C. & Trompenaars, F. (2006): Cultural Intelligence: Is Such a Capacity Credible?, in: Group and Organization Management, 31(1): 56-63. Retrieved DATUM from https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601105276942
- Hannerz, U. (1991): Cultural Complexity: Studies in the Social Organization of Meaning, Columbia University Press.
- Hannerz, U. (1996): Transnational Connections: Culture, People, Places, London: Routledge.
- Hepach, R., Vaish, A. & Tomasello, M. (2012): Young Children Are Intrinsically Motivated to See Others Helped, in: Psychological Science, 23(9), 967-972. Retrieved February 20, 2018 from https://doi.org/10.1177/0956 797612440571.
- Hepp, A. (2006): Transkulturelle Kommunikation, Stuttgart: UTB.
- Hofstede, G. (1981): Culture and Organization, in: International Studies of Management and Organization, 10(4), 14-41. Retrieved February 2, 2018 from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40396875.
- Hofstede, G. (2003): Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions and Organizations Across Nations, Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.
- Irvine, S. H. & Berry, J. W. (1988): Human Abilities in Cultural Context, Cambridge University Press.
- Kallus, K. W. (2010): Erstellung von Fragebogen, Stuttgart: UTB.
- Kearney, M. & Adachi, S. (2012): Mapping Hybrid Identities: A Matrixing Model for Transculturality. At the Interfact/Probing the Boundaries, 79: 65-81.
- Kennedy, J. F. (1963, June 10): Speech at American University.
- Knoblauch, H. (2007): Kultur, die soziale Konstruktion, das Fremde und das Andere, in: Dreher, J. & Stegmaier, P. (eds.), Zur Unüberwindbarkeit kultureller Differenz: Grundlagentheoretische Reflexionen, Bielefeld: transcript Verlag, 21-42.
- Kühlmann, T. & Stahl, G. K. (1998): Diagnose interkultureller Kompetenz: Entwicklung und Evaluierung eines Assessment Centers, in: Barmeyer, C. and Bolten, J. (eds.), Interkulturelle Personalorganisation, Sternenfels: Verlag Wissenschaft and Praxis, 213-224.

- Küng, H. (2010): The global Economic Crisis Requires a Global Ethic, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. M. & Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto Global Economic Ethics, München: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 167-175.
- Leisinger, K. M. (2010): Business Ethics by Manager Ethics, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. M. & Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto Global Economic Ethics, München: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 176-207.
- Matsumoto, D. & Hwang, H. C. (2013): Assessing Cross-Cultural Competence: A Review of Available Tests, in: Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 44(6): 849-873. Retrieved February 2, 2018 from https://doi.org/10.11 77/0022022113492891.
- Mendenhall, M. E. (2001): Introduction: New Perspectives on Expatriate Adjustment and Its Relationship to Global Leadership Development, in: Mendenhall, M. E., Kühlmann, T. M. & Stahl, G. K. (eds.), Developing Global Business Leaders: Policies, Processes, and Innovations, Westport: Greenwood Publishing Group, 1-18.
- Möhrer, M. (2016): Migration, Uncertainty and Transculturalism, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.), Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 132-143.
- Möhrer, M., Pillath, M., Simmank, F. & Suurendonk, M. (2016): Transculturalism and Leadership Excellence – Evaluation of the Transcultural Profiler (Reports from the Field).
- Moosmüller, A. & Schönhuth, M. (2009): Intercultural Competence in German Discourse, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, 209-232.
- Ng, K.-Y., Van Dyne, L. & Ang, S. (2012): Cultural Intelligence: A Review, Reflections and Recommendations for Future Research, in: Ryan, A. M., Leong, F. T. L. & Oswald, F. L. (eds.), Conducting Multinational Research: Applying Organizational Psychology in the Workplace, Washington DC: American Psychological Association (APA), 29-8.
- Porst, R. (2014): Fragebogen Ein Arbeitsbuch, Halle (Saale): Springer VS.
- Raab-Steiner, E. & Benesch, M. (2012): Der Fragebogen. Von der Forschungsidee zur SPSS-Auswertung, Wien: UTB.
- Ricoeur, P. (2005): Das Selbst als ein Anderer (Übergänge), Munich: Willhelm Fink Verlag.
- Sachs, J. (2010): Global Economic Ethic: Vital for Sustainable Development, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. M. & Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto Global Economic Ethics, München: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 146-152.
- Salvador, R. & Folger, R. (2009): Business Ethics and the Brain, in: Business Ethics Quarterly, 19(1), 1-31. Retrieved February 2, 2018 from https://doi. org/10.5840/beq20091911.

- Schleicher, T. R. (2016): The Transcultural Leader. A Study Resulting in Five Core Statements, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.), Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 88-122.
- Schnell, R., Hill, P. B. & Esser, E. (2008): Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, München: Oldenbourg Wissenschaftsverlag.
- Schreier, C. & Kainzbauer, A. (2016): Cultural Intelligence at Work A Case Study from Thailand, in: Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (eds.), Intercultural Management: A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave McMillan, 174-183.
- Schütz, A. (2004): Der sinnhafte Aufbau der sozialen Welt. Eine Einleitung in die verstehende Soziologie, in: ASW Band II (Alfred Schütz Werkausgabe). (M. Endreß & J. Renn, Eds.), Konstanz: UVK Verlagsgesellschaft.
- Sinicrope, C., Norris, J. & Watanabe, Y. (2007): Understanding and Assessing Intercultural Competence: A Summary of Theory, Research and Practice, in: Second Language Studies, 26(1): 1-58.
- Spitzberg, B. H. & Changnon, G. (2009): Conceptualizing Intercultural Competence, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, ORT: SAGE Publications, 2-52.
- Stahl, G. K. (2016): Forword, in: Barmeyer, C. & Franklin, P. (eds.), Intercultural Management: A Case-Based Approach to Achieving Complementarity and Synergy, New York: Palgrave McMillan.
- Stahl, G. K. & Tung, R. L. (2015): Towards a more balanced treatment of culture in international business studies: The need for positive cross-cultural scholarship, in: Journal of International Business Studies, 46(4): 391-414. Retrieved February 2, 2018 from https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1057/ jibs.2014.68.
- Ting-Toomey, S. (1999): Communicating Across Cultures, New York: Guilford Press.
- Tomasello, M. (2016): Eine Naturgeschichte der menschlichen Moral, Berlin: Suhrkamp Verlag.
- Trompenaars, F. & Hampden-Turner, C. (1998): Riding the Waves of Culture (2nd ed.), McGraw-Hill Companies.
- Trompenaars, F. & Woolliams, P. (2006): Cross-Cultural Competence: Assessment and Diagnosis, in: Adaptive Options – The Newsletter of the Hawai'i Pacific University Organizational Change Program, 2(1), 5-8.
- Trompenaars, F. & Woolliams, P. (2009): Research Application: Toward a General Framwork of Competence for Today's Global Village, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE, 438-455.

- Van de Vijver, F. J. R. (1997): Meta-Analysis of Cross-Cultural Comparisons of Cognitive Test Performance, in: Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 28(6): 678-709. Retrieved February 2, 2018 from https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1177/0022022197286003.
- Van de Vijver, F. J. R. & Leung, K. (2009): Methodological Issues in Researching Intercultural Competence, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE, 404-418.
- Van Dyne, L., Ang, S. & Koh, C. (2008): Development and Validation of the CQS: The Cultural Intelligence Scale, in Ang, S. & Van Dyne, L. (eds.), Handbook of Cultural Intelligence – Theory, Measurement and Application, New York: M E Sharpe, 16-40.
- Welsch, W. (1994): Transkulturalität die veränderte Verfassung heutiger Kulturen, in: Duve, F. (eds.), Sichtweisen. Die Vielheit in der Einheit, Weimar: Stiftung Weimarer Klassik, 83-122.
- Welsch, W. (1999): Transculturality The puzzling form of cultures today, in: Featherstone, M. and Lash, S. (eds.), Spaces of Culture: City, Nation, World, London: SAGE, 194-213.
- Wieland, J. (2010): Global Economic Ethic as Transcultural Management, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. M. & Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto Global Economic Ethics, München: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 208-222.
- Wieland, J. (2010): How can we manage values?, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. M. & Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto Global Economic Ethics, München: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 223-280.
- Wieland, J. (2014): Governance Ethics: Global value creation, economic organization and normativity, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- Wieland, J. (2015): Why the transcultural caravan? Retrieved February 2, 2018 from https://www.transcultural-caravan.org/why-the-transcultural-caravan/.
- Wieland, J. (2016): Transculturality and Economic Governance, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.), Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Wieland, J. (2019): Transculturality as a Leadership Style A Relational Approach, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.), Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 21-41.
- Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (2018): Transculturality and Global Value Creation, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Sub-Saharan Perspectives on Transcultural Leadership, Marburg: Metropolis, 17-39.

# From Global to Transcultural Competence

Derived Findings for Transcultural Competence from the Global Competence Assessment by PISA

Tobias Grünfelder

## 1. Introduction

Where will the next generation of leaders come from and which competences will be needed to face the challenges of the 21st century? This was one of the motivating questions for this work and the implications of this question are on the agenda of many international organizations and education policies around the world.

In 2018 the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) made the attempt to measure how globally competent fifteen-year-old students are in different countries around the world and the results of this international large-scale assessment (ILSA) will be published at the end of 2019. The assessment intends to push the discussions forward towards more awareness for crucial competences in a globalized world. The assessment fostered discussions at various levels and, in this chapter, findings from this international large-scale assessment (ILSA) are derived for the concept of transcultural competence.

The PISA assessment builds on a wealth of literature on and research into intercultural competence (ICC) and global competence (GC), including different conceptualizations and assessment methods. In this context, it can be assumed that transculturality (TC) can add a helpful and practical approach to the discussion of solving intercultural issues. Various players have stressed the importance of GC for students and developing a
global and intercultural outlook is a lifelong process that education can shape (Barrett et al. 2014; Boix, Mansilla & Jackson 2011; Deardorff 2009; UNESCO 2013, 2014a, 2016). Today's societies place challenging demands on individuals, who are confronted with volatility, uncertainty, complexity and ambiguity in many parts of their lives<sup>1</sup> and the "future of jobs" report from 2018 concludes that

"policy-makers, regulators and educators will need to play a fundamental role in helping those who are displaced repurpose their skills or retrain to acquire new skills and to invest heavily in the development of new agile learners in future workforces by tackling improvements to education and training systems, as well as updating labour policy to match the realities of the Fourth Industrial Revolution." (World Economic Forum 2018)

If individuals and their communities want to thrive in the future, schools must prepare today's students to acquire a mix of certain competences. As a baseline it has become evident that students need to develop cultural understanding and cultural interaction skills, because the number of sociocultural encounters (SCEs) among individuals of different cultural backgrounds as well as the degree of complexity in interaction has increased over the last decades. Defining competencies like GC or transcultural competence (TCC) can improve assessments of how well-prepared young people and adults are for life's challenges, as well as identify overarching goals for education systems and lifelong learning (OECD 2005: 4). Prominent concepts that describe the interactions of cultures are interculturality (IC) and multiculturality (MC) and these have been extensively discussed in pervious works (cf. Wieland 2014, 2016; Gilsa 2019; Urthaler 2019; Salice-Stephan 2019; Hofstede 1981, 2003).

TC means trying to overcome differences by focusing on commonalities. TC assumes that transcultural ideals contribute to a successful functioning within diverging cultures and help in identifying and transcending cultural boundaries to move into common grounds (Glover & Friedman 2015). Therefore, the development of TCC can be seen as a valuable approach to solving intercultural issues. Gilsa concludes that youth is the crucial stage in the development of an identity and TCC is developed by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Everywhere we are confronted with VUCA – volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity (Mack et al. 2016).

an interplay between personality, socialization and life experience (Gilsa 2019: 50f.). To train leaders to face and solve complex challenges requires the full attention of society in general and implies a call for educational policies.

"The need to develop in leaders and the future generation the attitudes that go beyond tolerance towards embracing differences and living constructively and compassionately in a multicultural world is critical to the survival of humankind and the planet. Leadership qualities are exhibited, recognized, and rewarded differently in every culture. Leaders and people who can function across cultures, who can create and sustain systems that draw on the strength of those differences, and who allow innovative approaches to emerge are essential in every human endeavour and require a new mind-map" (Pusch 2009: 81).

The strength of the transcultural approach with its focus on cooperation and commonalities can be a useful tool for individuals and organizations. Nevertheless, TCC is a relatively 'young' concept and the existing frameworks and assessment methods are not yet so advanced. Yet there is no clear academic approach on how to generate TCC. This work aims to provide direction and helpful findings for the conceptualization and assessment of TCC. Therefore, the existing conceptualizations and assessment methods of GC and ICC, such as the assessment by PISA, should serve as a template and inspiration.

The research method employed for this work was a comprehensive analysis of the PISA GC framework and assessment combined with insights from qualitative interviews and discussions with different experts in the fields of ICC and GC. The expert interviews were guided by the works of Gläser & Laudel (2010) and Mayring (2008, 2015). The analysis of the PISA GC assessment and previous works on TC and TCC at Zeppelin University's Leadership Excellence Institute (LEIZ) were the starting points of this research. Furthermore, the research is connected to the experiences gained at the AFS "Global Competence: Our Future, Our Responsibility" conference in September 2018.<sup>2</sup> The research was guided by the question as to what findings can be derived from the analysis of GC,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> AFS Intercultural Programs is an international youth exchange organization and during the AFS conference in Budapest useful contacts to different education policy actors were made.

as applied by PISA, with regard to the conceptualization and assessment of TCC. Therefore, this paper connects to and continues the work of Gilsa, Salice-Stephan and Urthaler.

# 2. The PISA Global Competence framework and assessment – PISA and its innovative domain

PISA was launched by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) in 1997, first administered in 2000 and now covers over 70 countries. Every three years, the PISA survey provides comparative data on fifteen-year-olds' performance in reading, mathematics and science. The average age of fifteen was chosen because, at this age, young people in most OECD countries are nearing the end of compulsory education. Since 2012 additional innovative domains have been developed and made available to countries to administer to students. "Global competence" was the innovative domain in the 2018 cycle. According to PISA, GC is needed for different reasons: to live harmoniously in multicultural communities, to thrive in a changing labour market, to use media platforms effectively and responsibly, and to support the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (OECD 2018: 4). PISA points out the importance of overcoming differences and that contemporary societies call for complex forms of belonging and citizenship, where individuals must interact with distant regions, people and ideas while also deepening their understanding of their local environment and the diversity within their own communities. It is about preparing students to appreciate the differences in the communities to which they belong in order that they can live together as global citizens (Delors et al. 1996; UNESCO 2014b).

During the development process of the GC assessment, different political channels (PISA Governing Board (PGB), OECD Secretariat, PISA National Project Managers, PISA Consortium, field experts, etc.) had direct and indirect influence on the outcome of the framework and assessment. In recent years the OECD, via PISA, has become an influential international education monitor and policy actor with strong media power. According to a survey of country practices, policy-makers across nearly all countries participating in PISA see PISA "as an important indicator of system performance, and there is evidence that the PISA evaluation has the potential to define the policy problems and set the agenda for policy debate at the national and state levels" (Breakspear 2012: 27).

Concerning the PISA test design and the international comparison of survey results, several different issues have been identified and discussed. These include: materials translation, the measurement model used for the analysis, student sampling, domain representation, student motivation, presentation of the results and consequential validity (cf. Goldstein 2004a, 2004b; Thomas & Goldstein 2008). Hopfenbeck et al. argue that the strong critique of PISA instruments "ensures the OECD is kept under the scrutiny of academic expertise and provides substantial feedback for improving test design and data analysis techniques" (Hopfenbeck 2018: 347). No doubt, PISA provides us with a rich and varied dataset, but it must be remembered that the results derived will always be dependent on the methodology used and the assessment design adopted (Lafontaine & Monseur 2009).

Against this backdrop, the interplay between learning and assessment is to be considered as crucial. What and how learning occurs is affected by educational assessments. This is most obvious in classroom assessments. In ILSAs the connection between the assessment and learning is more indirect because it is mediated through policy, curriculum and assessment design. Baird et al. (2017: 317) argue that:

"if assessment is to serve the learning goals of education, then this discussion on the relationship between assessment and learning should be developed further and be at the forefront of ILSAs."

It seems that ILSAs have not yet taught us much about learning or contributed to theories of learning, but they have had an impact upon what is learned and how it is learned through education policy (Baird et al. 2017). Considering the lack of transparency of the data, the sparse analyses of what students have learned and "the sometimes pseudo-use of ILSA data by policy-makers, there is room for improvement in the link between assessment and learning in this case" (ibid.: 335).

Furthermore, it must be mentioned that teaching has a political side. Every time curriculum revisions are contemplated, interest and lobby groups line up at the government's door trying to ensure that their perspective is included. Freire (1993) points out that there is no "neutral" in the education process. In his view we are either recreating what is or critically evaluating our world and knowledge. Pitsoe & Mahlangu (2017: 141) argue "that teaching, as a political act, can serve to challenge, enforce, or reconstruct societal norms and values." In the most OECD countries children and teenagers spend a huge amount of time in formal education systems. Due to the significant developments for students during their youth and adolescence, schools are uniquely positioned and can be highly influential in teaching various competences.

## 3. PISA procedure and shift in the global competence framework

Clearly, various PISA stakeholders and stakeholders from national education systems have influenced the process and development of the GC assessment. The challenge for PISA is to handle all interests and needs of the participating countries and therefore ends up in being a political negotiating process. The consensual decision to pick GC as the innovative domain for 2018 was taken in 2015, without any detailed description of the assessment and the different dimensions of GC. There is a clear framework and assessment shift captured from 2015 to 2018. The PISA procedure allows countries to stop the development process by contractors, experts and the PISA secretariat and to force them to restart the framework and assessment developing.

After the presentation of the first version in the PGB, some PISA member states had objections and doubts. The first expert team was replaced after around one year in 2016. In fact, many member states dropped out of the GC assessment at this stage. Germany, America, Finland, Ireland, Japan, and many other countries have chosen not to participate. A domino effect was observed. In the end, only 45 countries completed the GC questionnaire and, of these 45 countries, only 26 countries took the GC cognitive test.

The first GC conceptualization was motivated by the competitiveness of the international labour market and which skills students need to be successful because of this competiveness. Skills and knowledge to be globally competitive were the centre of attention. Simplified, the concept was about language competences plus intercultural communication and knowledge to work well internationally. After the first developing phase GC was presented to the countries as (Sälzer 2018: 8):

"the capacity to analyse global and intercultural issues critically and from multiple perspectives, to understand how differences affect perceptions, judgments, and ideas of self and others, and to engage in open, appropriate and effective interactions with others from different backgrounds on the basis of a shared respect for human dignity".

The assessment of this concept was without a questionnaire and the cognitive test used simulated conversations with multiple-choice questions. The multiple-choice questions covered several response options including behavioural options. Several concerns and critiques were raised by the countries in the PGB about this framework and assessment. Concerns about the validity of the construct occurred, because students could easily understand the idea of the test concept and just pick the politest answer to succeed in the test. Furthermore, the format of multiple-choice only works if students can really find their response answer or behaviour in the given options. Other concerns were raised about the practical implications of the initial GC framework to strengthen student exchange programs and opportunities for people to go abroad, because this is not feasible for all countries participating in PISA.

The first conceptual framework promoted discussions about what is really needed to be globally competent. Most concerns in the discussion were raised by Western countries and the initial framework did not meet with full satisfaction. After this discussion, the development of the framework and assessment had to be restarted.

The final framework, which will be presented later, is closely linked to Global Citizenship Education (GCE) by United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) and the SDGs. The final framework and assessment became an umbrella for different topics. In general, the framework is in line with the SDGs with a little more focus on ICC items. The shift from global competitiveness to integration in multicultural communities with more socio-emotional skills and actions towards collective well-being raised politically sensitive questions such as students' attitudes towards poverty and refugees. Some countries dropped out of the assessment, because it was perceived as problematic to move in a particular political direction or adopt a particular position by participating in this assessment, which was closely linked to GCE. In the end the assessment design was driven by the feasibility of a computerbased test, time constraints and no possibility to observe students' real behaviour. Furthermore, due to the shift there was no time left to conduct proper and comprehensive field trials. The expert interviews conducted have shown that many different challenges occurred during the development of the GC assessment. The shift to the final framework and assessment strategy was appreciated by the countries, but the framework became more politically charged.

# 4. PISA global competence framework design and assessment strategy

This part of the chapter presents the global competence framework and assessment of PISA. The definition of GC introduced by PISA in 2018 points out that GC is a multidimensional capacity (OECD 2018: 7):

"Global competence is the capacity to examine local, global and intercultural issues, to understand and appreciate the perspectives and world views of others, to engage in open, appropriate and effective interactions with people from different cultures, and to act for collective well-being and sustainable development."

Furthermore, the framework points out that acquiring GC is a life-long process and there is no single point at which an individual becomes completely globally competent (OECD 2018: 7). PISA assesses at what stage fifteen-year-old students are situated in this process, and whether their schools effectively address the development of GC. The goal of GC assessment is therefore to understand at "what level a person is at the given moment, what their knowledge level and abilities are" (Mažeikienė & Virgailaitė-Mečkauskaitė 2007: 74). The definition highlights four different dimensions:

- the capacity to examine issues and situations of local, global and cultural significance (e.g., poverty, economic interdependence, migration, inequality, environmental risks, conflicts, cultural differences and stereotypes);
- the capacity to understand and appreciate different perspectives and world views;

- the ability to establish positive interactions with people of different national, ethnic, religious, social or cultural backgrounds or gender; and
- the capacity and disposition to take constructive action toward sustainable development and collective well-being.



Figure 1: PISA global competence framework

Source: OECD 2018: 1

These four dimensions are strongly connected. In the PISA GC framework various examples are provided<sup>3</sup>. Furthermore, four inseparable fac-

<sup>3</sup> For example, if students from two different cultural backgrounds work together for a school project, they demonstrate GC. They get to know each other better (examine their cultural differences); try to understand how each perceives his or her role in the project and the other's perspective (understand perspectives); negotiate misunderstandings and clearly communicate expectations and feelings (interact openly, appropriately and effectively); and take stock of what they learn from each other to improve social relationships in their classroom and school (act for collective wellbeing) (OECD 2018: 8).

Tobias Grünfelder

tors ("building blocks") support the four dimensions: knowledge, skills, attitudes, and values. The discussion regarding these factors in this section draws upon the conceptualization of these components provided by the Council of Europe (2016a, 2016b). Figure 1 summarize the four dimensions surrounded by the building blocks. A short overview of the GC building blocks is provided below.

Knowledge	Global and intercultural issues and topics: Culture and intercultural relations Socioeconomic development and interdependence Environmental sustainability Global institutions, conflicts and human rights
Skills	Reasoning with information Communication skills in intercultural contexts Perspective taking Conflict resolution skills Adaptability
Attitudes	Openness Respect Global mindedness
Values	Valuing human dignity Valuing cultural diversity

# Table 1: The PISA global competence building blocks

Source: Own representation.

In order to assess the four dimensions, the PISA GC method comprises two components for the assessment (OECD 2018: 21):

- A cognitive test exclusively focused on the construct of "global understanding", defined as the combination of background knowledge and cognitive skills required to solve problems related to global and intercultural issues;
- A set of questionnaire items collecting self-reported information on students' awareness of global issues and cultures, skills (both cognitive and social) and attitudes, as well as information from schools and teachers on activities to promote GC.

152

The cognitive assessment is designed to elicit students' capacities to critically examine global issues, recognize outside influences on perspectives and world views, understand how to communicate with others in intercultural contexts and identify and compare different courses of action to address global and intercultural issues.

In the background, questionnaire information from students, teachers and school authorities is collected. For instance, students are asked to report how familiar they are with global issues, how developed their linguistic and communication skills are, to what extent they hold certain attitudes, such as respect for people from different cultural backgrounds or what opportunities they have at school to develop GC. Answers to the school and teacher questionnaires provide a comparative picture of how education systems foster GC throughout the curriculum and in classroom activities.





Source: OECD 2018: 22.

Concerning the four building blocks, and as illustrated in figure 2, knowledge and (cognitive) skills will be covered ideally by the cognitive test and student questionnaire. Attitudes will be assessed only in the student questionnaire and values are, as mentioned before, beyond the scope of the assessment.

In a typical test unit in the PISA cognitive assessment for GC, students read about a case (scenario) and respond to different questions (open and

closed response items) that evaluate their capacity to understand its complexity and the multiple perspectives of the diverse actors involved. For analytical and assessment purposes, this framework distinguishes between four, interrelated cognitive processes that globally competent students need to use in order to fully understand global or intercultural issues and situations (OECD 2018: 25):

- The capacity to evaluate information, formulate arguments and explain complex situations and problems by using and connecting evidence, identifying biases and gaps in information and managing conflicting arguments.
- The capacity to identify and analyse multiple perspectives and world views, positioning and connecting their own and others' perspectives on the world.
- The capacity to understand differences in communication, recognizing the importance of socially-appropriate communication conventions and adapting communication to the demands of diverse cultural contexts.
- The capacity to evaluate actions and consequences by identifying and comparing different courses of action and weighing these actions against one another on the basis of short- and long-term consequences.

PISA provides typologies of the cognitive processes by levels (basic, intermediate, advanced) and describes the development in the four dimensions. The topics of the scenarios should be relevant to all students and should trigger their interest. In this way PISA refers to the idea of putting students in different shoes and of fostering the engagement of the students. Accordingly, PISA produces four formats that assign a particular role: students as researchers, reporters, mediators or team-members and debaters. In addition to the results of the cognitive assessment, the reporting on GC includes country or sub-population level information on students', school principals', teachers' and parents' responses to questionnaire items. The cognitive test and the questionnaire are both computer-based tests.

As described above, the questionnaires try to assess knowledge, skills and attitudes. For the questionnaires, PISA refers to scales that have already been validated in other empirical assessments. The questionnaires include multi-statement items using Likert-type methods. For assessing self-reported skills and attitudes, the most common problem is social desirability. Especially, attitudes are related to self-image and social acceptance. Table 2 contains the information which the questionnaires aim to access:

# Table 2: Information of the PISA questionnaire

The questionnaire for students provides information about:		
Skills and Knowledge:		
<ul> <li>Self-reported knowledge of global and intercultural issues</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Self-reported ability to communicate in multicultural contexts</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Self-reported adaptability</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Self-reported perspective taking</li> </ul>		
Attitudes:		
<ul> <li>Self-reported openness toward people from other cultural backgrounds</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Self-reported respect for people from other cultural backgrounds</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Self-reported global mindedness</li> </ul>		
Background information:		
<ul> <li>Data on opportunities to learn about global issues and other cultures</li> </ul>		
- Information on students' participation in activities to solve global issues out of		
school (e.g., volunteering, eco-friendly habits, etc.)		
The questionnaire for teachers provides information about:		
<ul> <li>Teachers' beliefs about diversity and inclusion policies of schools</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Teachers' practices facilitating interactions and peer to peer learning between diverse students</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Teachers' professional experience and training in intercultural communication</li> </ul>		
and teaching multicultural classes		
- Teachers' self-efficacy in a multicultural environment		
The questionnaire for school leaders provides information about:		
- Curriculum content: global issues, diverse histories and cultures (e.g., what		
global issues are taught?)		
- School policies to facilitate the integration of foreign-born students and non		
native speakers		
- School activities for multicultural learning (e.g., cultural events, exchange		
programmes, etc.)		
Source: Own representation.		

## 5. Remarks on the PISA global competence framework and assessment

After briefly introducing the GC concept form PISA, we will now look at some limits of the assessment and framework. As described, the final framework is closely linked to GCE and the SDGs and has therefore become more politically charged. For instance, during the AFS global competence conference, there was a debate among experts and teachers about the terms used in the GC definition. The argument was raised that the term "appropriate" is not fitting and offers too wide an interpretation. Appropriate means suitable or fitting for a particular purpose, person, occasion, etc. and "appropriate behaviour is assessed by the other involved in the interaction" (Deardorff 2009b: 479). During these discussions it was evident that different cultural perspectives and agendas towards a definition of GCexist. There are different perceptions of how to engage with others and what these engagements should look like.

This connects to the work of Gallie on "Essentially Contested Concepts"<sup>4</sup>. Furthermore, the interrelatedness of cognitive components (ideally assessing knowledge and skills) with attitudes and personal preferences is multi-dimensional in a highly complex way. Sälzer (2018: 10) points out:

"that the definition formulated in the assessment framework may serve as a valid starting point for further differentiating and structuring the domain of global competence, but it does not solve the problem of

<sup>4</sup> W.B. Gallie (1956) argued in his classic essay entitled "Essentially Contested Concepts" that certain concepts, such as art, social justice, or democracy, admit no fixed and final definition. Essentially contested concepts do not succumb (as most scientific theories eventually do) to a definite or judicial knockout. His insight is that a final definition for such terms is impossible because virtually every person or organization that might be a party to the definitional process approaches that process with philosophical values or a programmatic agenda in mind. Consider professionals who teach foreign languages or who conduct intercultural educational experiences or who support international collaboration through the internet or who hire people to represent transnational companies in other countries or churches preparing missionaries or military staff, they all approach GC with significantly different needs, experiences, and personal and professional interests (Hunter 2006: 268). Different actors can be expected to offer definitions that arise from their context and agenda. To conclude, it must be noted that emerging terms like GC or TCC could prove to be contested in a way similar to Gallie's descriptions above.

finding a minimum consensus for the kind of content that can be assessed in an international comparison through test units and questionnaires."

Another deficit of the framework is the lack of information provided about the connection between the different building blocks. How are knowledge, skills, attitudes and values connected and how do they support or weaken each other? This is a crucial question for every conceptualization. For instance, the pyramid model of ICC from Deardorff (2006) presents how attitudes, skills and knowledge are (possibly) linked and that certain attitudes are required for ICC. Furthermore, the importance of attitudes and values is discussed and analyzed less in the framework of PISA. Overall, more time, discourse and consensus is needed to develop a more satisfying GC assessment for an ILSA.

Assessing GC in all its complexity requires a multi-method, multiperspective approach. The PISA GC assessment contributes a development in this direction, although clear challenges and limitations remain. The different performance moderators (e.g., reading capability, attitudes, values, etc.) of the cognitive test have been discussed before. The most salient challenge for the PISA assessment is that it needs to account for the large variety of geographic and cultural contexts represented by participating countries through one single instrument. Students who perform well on a question assessing their reasoning about a global issue are likely to have some prior knowledge of the issue, and the type of knowledge students already have of global issues is influenced by their experiences within their unique social context. On the one hand, cultural variability in the tested population requires that the test material cannot be too biased towards a particular perspective, for example the perspective of a student in a rich country, who thinks about a problem in a poor country. The test units should focus on issues that are relevant for fifteen-year-old students in all countries. On the other hand, leaning too much towards "cultural neutrality" in the design of scenarios and questions reduces the authenticity and relevance of the tasks. Therefore, it is difficult to develop scenarios that are relevant to all fifteen-year-olds and are not related to stereotypes (Sälzer 2018: 13).

The test design is further limited by the time constraints of the PISA testing design and the narrow availability of internationally-valid instruments that measure the behavioural elements of GC. Other concerns can

be raised about the validity of the construct. Compared to the degree of sophistication found in the domains of reading, mathematics and science in PISA (OECD 2016), the current GC assessment framework "fails at least at the point where correct responses of the open-response questions are distinguished from incorrect responses" (Sälzer 2018: 11). The openresponse items are scored by using rubrics, which include detailed qualitative descriptions of performance standards for scoring guidelines. The differentiation between basic, intermediate and advanced levels are not always precise, and it seems difficult to create transparency and replicability. Furthermore, it is questionable how to evaluate certain rubric descriptions such as "the student is not yet able to observe, listen actively, and interpret social and contextual clues such as body language, tone, diction, physical interactions, dress code, or silence" by using a computerbased test. How to use rubrics effectively is much discussed by teachers and experts. As the interviews have revealed, PISA does not foster this dialogue in order to use the rubrics in a teaching context with helpful pedagogical tools.

Due to the construct validity, performance moderators, cultural variability, missing authenticity and less participating countries, the results from the cognitive test are clearly limited. The results from the questionnaire seem to be more valuable for gaining an overview of existing GC approaches in different education systems.

#### 6. From global competence to transcultural competence

After presenting and analysing the PISA GC framework and assessment, this section will now shed some light on TCC and will present different definitions of GC and TCC. The concept of TC is introduced briefly in order to derive findings for the conceptualization and assessment of TCC.

Many analogous terms have been introduced in recent years such as cross-cultural competence, intercultural communicative competence, global competence, intercultural and socio-pragmatic competence. Over thirty similar terms are used from cultural intelligence in the business context to cultural competence in health care. As the expert interviews have shown, the choice of which term is used depends mainly on the context and the target audience.

Summarizing different existing concepts of GC like the concept from Fernando Reimers (2009), the Global Competence Aptitude Assessment (Hunter 2004) and the Global Competence Task Force (Mansilla & Jackson 2011), there are similarities and differences, which could be explained by Gallie's idea of "Essentially Contested Concepts". Different parties from various cultural backgrounds can be expected to offer definitions that arise from their context and reflect their agendas. GC is a 21st century approach and expands beyond models from the past, such as ICC (1980s-1990s) and its predecessor emotional intelligence (1970s-1980s), which does not include a cultural element. The literature, theories and frameworks on ICC, GC and global citizenship originate predominantly from a Western, Euro-American context. However, related concepts exist in many countries and cultures around the world. One interesting perspective on GC originates from South Africa and involves the concept of Ubuntu (cf. Nwosu 2009). To include different perspectives, from around the world could be useful to foster a worldwide discussion and consensus.

GC is reflective of the interconnected global society and economy that we know today, and it implies the ability to interact effectively with cultures around the world. Usually GC includes all components of ICC, as well as additional dimensions such as global mindedness, global awareness, historical perspective of the world, and collaboration across cultures. At the pinnacle of Darla Deardorff's Pyramid Model of ICC (2006) is the ultimate intention of treating others the way that they wish to be treated. Interactions are cross-cultural, meaning exchanges with another culture, however the scope is not across the entire world.

Global citizenship imparts a new layer of complexity, and since "global" is part of both terms, it is critical to use the appropriate term to communicate one's intentions. Global citizenship is a broad term that encompasses the humanitarian component of taking care of the world and its inhabitants. Global issues such as the environment, world hunger and famine, the availability of clean water, social justice, etc. are all significant causes that deserve the attention of all citizens of the world. Addressing these important matters is a step beyond GC and often requires additional skills.

Ashwill & Oanh (2009) define global citizenship as an orientation that universalizes the classical notion of citizenship, which entails certain rights and responsibilities and allegiance to a sovereign state. Rather than pledging allegiance to one nation-state, however, the global citizen's intellectual landscape and sense of connectedness and belonging extend to all of humanity. Therefore, GCE (UNESCO 2014a: 10)

"aims to be transformative, building the knowledge, skills, values and attitudes that learners need to be able to contribute to a more inclusive, just and peaceful world in order to effectively engage for their own well-being and the well-being of others."

The idea behind global citizenship is that one's identity transcends geography or political borders and that responsibilities or rights are derived from membership of a broader class called humanity. Hunter et al. argue (2006) that GC is not global citizenship. However, a global citizen needs to be globally competent. In the case of the PISA GC definition, this distinction is not made, because PISA clearly tries to be an umbrella for GC, GCE and the SDGs.

The transcultural approach offers another focus. Regarding the broad research on cultural concepts, the main distinction between the transcultural approach and most of the intercultural and multicultural concepts is the basic unit of analysis. The debate on IC and MC was embedded in the "debate on nation states as cultural containers which [...] can be found in most modern concepts of culture" (Fischer & Wieland 2016: 34). Hence, the basic unit of most of the intercultural and multicultural analysis is the nation state, and therefore, identity becomes the core of the concept. Overall, ICC, GC and global citizenship refer to the notions of nation state and identity.

Compared with that, TC is a solution-based approach about how to deal with differences. The basic units of the transcultural analysis are cooperation and interaction, thereby looking for shared experiences, commonalities, and how they are created. On the individual level TC is not an identity-related concept. Wieland (2016: 18) describes TC as a

"learning process for the relationing of different cultural identities and perspectives. It is not a form of identity or performs the demarcation of a space (or annuls such demarcation); rather, the prefix 'trans' designates the relation, the creation of connection, the building of a bridge between 'real intercultural interaction patters' in social interactions through an ongoing process of learning." Therefore, TC can rather be seen as a process of bridge building, of an interactive, social generating of commonalities when dealing with intercultural interaction. It is an unbiased approach, abstaining from a normative point of reference, in order to find and create commonalities. This non-normativity inherent in TC "believes in a common ground, which does not necessarily consist of globally shared values, but rather in the first step of a social process" (Gilsa 2019: 46). This process may liberate us from the obsession and convention of culture, which may allow us to participate in, and not negate, the valued traditions of other cultures (Epstein 1995). It is against this backdrop that TCC scholars place the requirement of non-normativity at the core of their approach (Wieland 2019; Gilsa 2019).

In focus are transactions and, in fact, "transactions have become the meeting place of economics, physics, psychology, ethics, jurisprudence and politics" (Commons 1924: 4), representing the nodes of a complex system. Therefore, the characteristics of the nodes and how they are connected determines the performance of the networks (Wieland 2018: 41). A given transaction is influenced by different cultural levels. These levels include national cultures, organizational cultures, the cultures of different professions (such as engineers, managers, bankers, doctors) and the cultural beliefs of individuals. Wieland provides a figure of the transcultural process logic, which illustrates the relocation of the value level, the selection of value events and the recursive influence of levels, events and transactions (Wieland 2018: 177). In sum, TC is not about creating a new cosmopolitan or global culture of values, but about creating a new transactional society, a community of cultural events that relate to each other in a learning process, in so doing creating the stability and productivity of a transaction. From this a certain form or generalized normativity can be established, but it does not necessarily have to be the case (Wieland 2018: 176).

Unlike IC or MC, TC does not seek to overcome the differences, which always has the connotation of implementing one's own normative beliefs by overcoming given obstacles. The non-normative attitude inherent in TC believes in a common ground, which does not necessarily consist of globally-shared values, but rather in the first step of a social process. A transculturally competent person tries to bridge differences by seeing commonalities in differences (the genius of the AND) $^5$  and realizes these reconciled solutions.

This is just a short overview of the transcultural approach and therefore incomplete (cf. Wieland 2014, 2016 & 2018; Gilsa 2019; Urthaler 2019; Salice-Stephan 2019). Table 3 presents a collection of existing definitions of GC and TCC.

Author and year	Definitions of global competence
Stanley Foundation & American Council on Interna- tional Intercultural Education (ACIIE) (1996: 4)	A globally competent learner is one who is able to understand the interconnectedness of peoples and systems, to have a general knowledge of history and world events, to accept and cope with the existence of different cultural values and attitudes and, in- deed, to celebrate the richness and benefits of this diversity.
Lambert (1996)	A globally competent person is one who has knowledge (of cur- rent events), can empathize with others, demonstrates approval (maintains a positive attitude), has an unspecified level of for- eign language competence and task performance (ability to un- derstand the value in something foreign).
Olson & Kroeger (2001: 117)	A globally competent individual has "enough substantive knowledge, perceptual understanding, and intercultural communi- cation skills to effectively interact in our globally interdependent world"
Swiss Consulting Group (2002: 4)	() the capacity of an individual or a team to parachute into any country and get the job done while respecting cultural pathways.
Hunter (2005: 81)	"() having an open mind while actively seeking to understand cultural norms and expectations of others, leveraging this gained knowledge to interact, communicate and work effectively out- side one's environment."
Reimers (2009: 35ff.)	GC consists of knowledge (i.e., knowledge of globalization, world history, and geography), skills (i.e., the capacity to speak, understand, and think in various languages) and attitudes (i.e., empathy and a positive disposition towards cultural differences).

Table 3: Definitions of global and transcultural competence

<sup>5</sup> The so called "genius of the AND" is the ability to embrace both forces of a dimension at the same time. Decision makers who follow the yin/yang philosophy figure out a way to have both A AND B: "Long-term AND short-term, profit AND good for the world, low costs AND quality are all possible if the OR can be replaced with the AND" (Glover & Friedman 2015: 63). For more information see: Urthaler (2019).

Boix Mansilla & Jackson (2011: 102)	Students demonstrate GC through awareness and curiosity about how the world works – informed by disciplinary and interdisci- plinary insights. Specifically, globally competent students are able to perform the following four competences: investigate the world beyond their immediate environment, recognize perspec- tives, others' and their own, communicate ideas effectively with diverse audiences, and take action to improve conditions	
Todd (2013: 45)	GC is one's embodiment of four elements: A disposition toward culturally diverse peoples set into motion by open-mindedness; a body of knowledge founded on an understanding of one's own cultural background, globalization, and world languages; a set of skills such as the abilities to collaborate, investigate globally pressing issues, and communicate effectively, with these three elements uniting for the purpose of taking action for the global good, thus rendering the globally competent individual a cosmo- politan.	
PISA (2018: 7)	GC is the capacity to examine local, global and intercultural issues, to understand and appreciate the perspectives and world views of others, to engage in open, appropriate and effective interactions with people from different cultures, and to act for collective well-being and sustainable development.	
Authon and man	Definitions of transcultural competence	
Author and year	Definitions of transcultural competence	
Author and year Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner (1994: 355)	The capability to connect different points of view through the elicitation of dilemmas and their reconciliation (reconcile differences). The capability to deliver the business benefits of cultural reconciliation through servant leadership (leverage business benefits).	
Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner	The capability to connect different points of view through the elicitation of dilemmas and their reconciliation (reconcile differences). The capability to deliver the business benefits of cultural reconciliation through servant leadership (leverage business	

Gilsa (2019: 65)	TCC is a cooperation-oriented ability to find and create com- monalities, regardless of the specifics of the SCE. Self-aware- ness, understanding of how culture works and experiences lead to value-free openness. The developed ethno-relative perspective perceives socio-cultural encounters as contingent processes in order to generate mutual understanding. By perceiving culture as a network, a dynamic, open concept is established. The concepts of reconciliation and the genius of the AND are able to bridge differences by seeing commonalities in differences and become an important component of TC and its competence.
Salice-Stephan (2019: 89ff.)	TCC is a cooperation-based ability to identify commonalities and to derive reconciled solutions in a culturally diverse environ- ment. It comprises the perception that SCEs bear a synergistic potential, from which transcultural competent persons can derive creative solutions. This competence is based on the understand- ing that cultural values are not static but multi-dimensional. TCC is a self-reflective dynamic process that consists of avoiding inner-directedness, enabling non-normative openness through ethno-relativity and mindful interaction. Being able to reconcile various worldviews by engaging in multi-perspectivity and ap- plying the genius of the AND results in shared values that will generate cultural synergy and complementarity. TCC consists of six core dimensions, which are self-awareness, cultural knowl- edge, non-normative openness, mindful interaction, focus on com- monalities and synergy/realization of reconciled solutions.

Source: Own representation.

## 7. Derived findings for transcultural competence

The final part of this work will present, the derived findings from the conducted analysis for the conceptualization and assessment of TCC. The PISA GC framework and assessment, which draws on the experience of various research and assessments in the field of ICC and GC, served as an ideal template to gain a broader understanding of assessment and teaching tools for complex competences such as TCC.

## 7.1 Takeaways from the PISA global competence assessment

Considering the PISA GC assessment, a format with open and closed questions seems feasible and promising. An assessment for TCC could put employers or employees in different decision-making scenarios and

roles. Obviously, the strengths of TCC have to be emphasized in an assessment, and an ongoing reflective learning way with clear and simple guidelines should be provided in addition. With the help of a group of leading intercultural experts Deardorff (2009b: 478) identified the most promising assessment methods for ICC. According to their analysis, case studies, interviews and a mix of quantitative and qualitative measures are the most suitable instruments. A cognitive test provides (limited) insights into the knowledge and skills of the test taker. This could be valuable information for the personal development of the test taker. Furthermore, some of the questions applied in the different constructs in the student questionnaire can be used for the development of a TCC assessment. Constructs like perspective-taking, adaptability, awareness of intercultural communi-cation, interest in learning about other cultures and respect for people from other cultural backgrounds contain many questions, which are crucial to TC as well. Questions about attitudes like respect, adaptability and openness are an important piece of TCC. Some of the questions are quite similar to the questions used by Salice-Stephan (2019). Nevertheless, TCC assessment needs to focus on the relevant components such as the ability to cooperate, the focus on commonalities and the realization of reconciled solutions. Overall, the PISA GC assessment showed that time, discourse and consensus are needed to create a successful assessment that is accepted and used by participants. A Delphi technique could be employed to create consensus among experts and organizations about the definition and components of TCC.<sup>6</sup>

## 7.2 A bridge between global competitiveness and global citizenship

Globalization has an undisputable impact on education systems around the world and in recent years different initiatives like GCE and education for sustainable development have been conceived by political theorists and educational philosophers as a way to speak back to the impacts globalization. UNESCO and related intergovernmental and nongovernmental organizations broadly promote these initiatives. The shift of the PISA GC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Deardorff (2006) used the Delphi technique for ICC and Hunter (2005) for GC to establish consensus among a panel of experts.

framework from 2015 to 2018 shows the difficult balancing between these different perspectives on globalization.

"Economic competitiveness is largely about acquiring technical skills to improve one's region or nation's position vis a vis others. Global civility, by contrast, is largely about understanding, solidarity, and empathy with others. Global competiveness and global civility are not conterminous." (Reimers 2009: 193).

Both perspectives usually refer to the notions of nation and identity. In this case TC provides an approach that is not derived from identity and could form a bridge between these two viewpoints. In addition, justice and solidarity could be pragmatically useful in this case of global interconnectedness. In a world where we are all interconnected, it is useful and beneficial to think about all of us. Global challenges could force different positions to cooperate and work together. Therefore, the transcultural approach can provide a more practical approach of how to deal with cultures and focus on commonalities. The development of required competences to solve these challenges will be a task for the whole of society and a call for educational policies. TCC is a process that aims to create new forms of collaborative communities (Wieland 2018).

In fact, the contemporary definition of the relatively young and diverse term TC excludes neither the cosmopolitan nor the intercultural perspective. It is neither the extension of IC, nor its dissolution in cosmopolitanism.

"A transcultural person has roots within a specific culture. There is no need to deny one's own origin. Cooperation with people from other cultures to mutual advantages occurs on the basis of one's own cultural and moral conditioning. From a transcultural point of view one would accept that there is one world but also recognize that people live in different cultural contexts. Different individuals integrate elements stemming from other cultures in different ways" (Fischer & Wieland 2016: 38).

The transcultural approach as a more practical approach with a focus on commonalities could function as a bridge between different perspectives and could initiate a social learning process.

#### 7.3 Conceptualizing of transcultural competence

During this work the need for a further conceptualization of TCC has become clearer. TC is a very young concept. During the expert interviews, on the one hand, the interest in the concept and, on the other hand, the need for more information was noticeable. A conceptualization of TCC could foster the development of assessments and connect TCC to various other models of ICC and GC. A comprehensive conceptualization of TCC addresses three questions:

- What are its core elements? (Key indicators and components of TCC)
- What is the relation of these elements? How is TCC structured and what are the antecedents and consequences of it? (Structure and nomological network of TCC)
- How do the elements of TCC manifest themselves in actual SCEs? (TCC in actual SCEs)

Answering these questions takes time, discourse and consensus. Different types of model can be developed to conceptualize TCC. Compositional, co-orientational, adaptational, causes process or developmental model are possible options for TCC. For instance, Bennett (1986) created the wellknown developmental model of intercultural sensitivity (DMIS). Spitzberg and Changmon (2009: 9ff.) provide an overview of various models used for ICC. To conceptualize and structure TCC the works of Salice-Stephan (2019) and Gilsa (2019) are a starting point. Both used the work of Matveev & Merz (2013) to identify key dimensions according to the cognitive, affective and behavioural nature of TCC. Outcomes of these three dimensions such as (1) knowledge and attitudes, (2) attitudes and (3) skills can again impact all dimensions. Furthermore, the work of Urthaler (2019) can be used to work out a key component of TCC, namely its focus on commonalities. In the following a compositional and a process model of TCC are presented. The compositional model (Table 8) tries to collect the findings of this work and the works of Gilsa (2019), Urthaler (2019) and Salice-Stephan (2019) as an outlook and for further research.

Variable	Original Indicators	Core Indicators
Disposition/	Ethno-relativity	<ul> <li>Self-awareness</li> </ul>
Attitudes	<ul> <li>Respect</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Non-normativity</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Non-normativity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Tolerance for ambiguity</li> </ul>
	Openness	<ul> <li>Empathy</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Appreciation of otherness</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Respect</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Adaptability</li> </ul>	
	Empathy	
	<ul> <li>Self-reflection</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Self-awareness</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Self-confidence</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Tolerance for ambiguity</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Flexibility</li> </ul>	
	Creativity	
	<ul> <li>Cosmopolitan outlook</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Global Mindedness</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Sensitivity</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Sense of humility/compassion</li> </ul>	
	Curiosity	
	Patience	
	<ul> <li>Emotional resilience</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Non-stress tendency</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Inner purpose or spirit of adventure</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Optimism and trust giving</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Willingness to be involved in a trans-</li> </ul>	
	cultural learning process	
Knowledge	<ul> <li>Cultural understanding</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Deep understanding and</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Culture-specific knowledge</li> </ul>	knowledge of culture
	<ul> <li>Cultural self-awareness</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cultural self-awareness</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Cultural awareness</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Knowledge about the</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Cultural motivation</li> </ul>	transcultural process
	<ul> <li>Deep understanding and knowledge of</li> </ul>	
	culture including context, role, identity	
	and impact of culture on worldviews	
	<ul> <li>Knowledge about the world and inter- cultural issues</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Socio-linguistic knowledge</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Knowledge about the transcultural</li> </ul>	
	process	

Table 4: Transcultural competence components

r		
Skills	<ul> <li>Ability to recognize and accept differences</li> <li>Ability to cooperate</li> <li>Positive social relationship skills</li> <li>Friendly and positive manner/politeness</li> <li>Nonjudgmental reactions</li> <li>Behavioral flexibility</li> <li>Communicative appropriateness</li> <li>Ability to share ideas, information, networks and knowledge</li> <li>Ability to find a common denominator</li> <li>Competent language user and language proficiency</li> <li>Mindfulness action: observe, describe, interpret, create new categories</li> <li>Active and mindful listening</li> <li>Critical thinking and evaluating</li> <li>Connecting and reconciling</li> <li>Focusing on commonalities</li> <li>Reconciling (Genius of the AND)</li> <li>Understanding TC as a process</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Ability to cooperate</li> <li>Reconciling and connecting capacity</li> <li>Problem solving</li> <li>Creative thinking</li> <li>Ability to share (information, ideas, networks, etc.)</li> </ul>
Action	<ul> <li>Focus on mindful interactions and commonalities</li> <li>Working effectively in diverse teams</li> <li>Appropriate and effective communication</li> <li>Cultural mediator and problem solver</li> <li>Realization of reconciled solutions</li> <li>Reflective manner</li> <li>Task accomplishment and completion</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Realization of reconciled solutions</li> <li>Focus on mindful interactions and commonalities</li> <li>Bridging differences and collective action</li> <li>Creation of new collaborative communities</li> </ul>

Source: Own representation.

The TCC process model (Figure 3) refers to the compositional model and is inspired by the ICC model of Darla Deardorff (2006). "Table 4" and "Figure 3" are just for the time being and require more research. "Figure 3" begins with attitudes and moves from the individual level (attitudes) to the interaction level (outcomes). The degree of TCC depends on the acquired degree of attitudes, knowledge/comprehension, and skills. TCC development is an ongoing process, and thus it becomes important for individuals to be given opportunities to reflect on and assess the development of their own TCC over time.



Figure 3: Transcultural competence process model

Source: Own representation.

## 7.4 Promising assessment methods for transcultural competence

Derived from the analysis and the limitations of every assessment the difficulty of evaluating ICC, GC or TCC emerges when it is necessary to perform a holistic assessment that must involve all the components of the competence. Therefore, the relevant components must be selected carefully (Mažeikienė & Virgailaitė-Mečkauskaitė 2007: 80). It could be useful to identify the core components of TCC and focus on them. Due to the analysis of the PISA GC assessment and the work of Gilsa (2019), Urthaler (2019), and Salice-Stephan (2019), there are several takeaways for creating a promising assessment for TCC.

First, every assessment needs a clear purpose. It starts with the question as to why we want to assess something. Another important first step is to define the target audience and who should be tested. In the next step, a clear definition of successful outcomes is needed and proper assessment tools and strategies that are aligned with the learning objectives have to be selected. A clear assessment procedure is needed that shows how the test is administered, evaluated and scored. Different aspects of the tests must be evaluated for their scope, efficiency, and length as well as their validity and reliability. And finally, ongoing and not just end-testing should be provided (Fantini 2009: 461).

One clear purpose of a TCC test is to provide a more practical and positive cross-cultural approach for SCEs and cultural dilemmas. The target audience should be people who are working in multicultural environments and who have the potential to become involved in cultural dilemmas. Furthermore, PISA claims that everything that can be measured receives more value and attention. This is obviously up for discussion in the case of GC or TCC. Does such a complex competence gain value simply by being measured? The most important purpose to assess TCC goes in line with an ongoing and reflective assessment that provides the assessment taker with the opportunity to foster his or her TCC. In this case the purpose of the assessment is linked to an assessment that is combined with the learning and training of TCC. Linked to the components and indicators of TCC, there should be a careful selection and identification of which components should be assessed.

Different test types exist and each test type provides different advantages. Fantini (2009: 463) provides an overview of these different test types. In the case of TCC the following test types could be employed: readiness test, diagnostic test, aptitude test and formative test. Another question is whether TCC applied by a person in a certain situation will always appear in the same way and have the same solution or outcome. By choosing a certain test type different techniques and strategies have to be considered. Findings of educational research are quite helpful in this regard. As Darla Deardorff (2009b: 477) points out it is necessary to use a mix of techniques and strategies. A mix should include closed and openended questions with various scorings (e.g., matching items, true/false questions, multiple-choice, close or gap-filling items, personal rubrics for self-evaluation, etc.). It is even possible to work out active and passive activities for individuals and groups. Gilsa (2019) provides a helpful overview in his work on different assessment tools and Fantini provides a comprehensive chart of ICC assessment instruments that have been used over the last decades (Fantini 2009: 466ff.).

Taking these findings into account, a portfolio or e-portfolio assessment for TCC seems promising, practicable and purposeful. A transcultural assessment should not just be a placement test, where the test takers are placed into different categories and are left without reflective questions and further suggestions for development. TC is a very new concept

and therefore it needs education and explanation. A comprehensive e-portfolio or paper portfolio assessment could provide such space for educational and explanatory sections about culture, the genius of the AND, the focus on commonalities and so on. Portfolios can include personal statements, papers, reports, writing samples, lesson plans, lessons learned, personal statements, reflections, reports, sharing experience, evaluation, assessment, resumés and helpful descriptions. Detailed structured templates and guidelines with proposed theories to analyse and opportunities to propose new structural elements are crucial for successful portfolios. It could be possible to develop an e-portfolio (e.g., in the form of an app), which is a guideline through the process of TCC with different assessment categories and examples of successfully realized reconciled solutions. The portfolio should be designed to report growth and failure at the same time and provide feedback and possible toolkits for further development. For instance, the dilemma reconciliation process, with the charting of cultural spaces, from Glover and Friedman is a helpful toolkit (2015: 70ff.). In the assessment of Salice-Stephan (2019) the realization of a reconciled solution is excluded. With an e-portfolio assessment authentic evidence can be created and it would be possible to assess or make the realization of reconciliation visible.

Another assessment that seems promising for TCC would be a type of aptitude assessment. An aptitude test is a systematic means of testing abilities to perform specific tasks and react to a range of different situations. The assessment of GC from the Global Competence Association, which was mentioned earlier, and the Intercultural Competence Profiler (ICP) offered by Trompenaars-Hampden-Turner Consulting are good starting points. Gilsa (2019) concludes that the ICP (Reconciliation and 4R model) shows steps towards non-normativity. This could be a foundation for TCC and could be further developed with an emphasis on the genius of the AND.

To sum up, the connection of an aptitude assessment with a following e-portfolio for TCC development seems promising. To start the transcultural learning process, an aptitude assessment could provide helpful insights. After such a test strengths and weakness can be pointed out and suggestions for further development can be derived.

#### 7.5 The interplay between assessment and learning

Against this backdrop of promising assessments, the interplay between learning and assessment must be considered. It is important to develop assessments that foster learning and training. Merley an assessment of TCC will not meet the complexity of this learning process. Therefore, TCC needs more practical training methods that are linked to the personal process with aligned assessment tools. The increase in cultural diversity within many countries due to immigration, resettlement and other factors combined with the evolving demands of globalization and global value creation have led to an increase in the demand for cross-cultural training. The term 'cross-cultural' explicitly refers to any sort of interaction where more than one culture is involved. Put simply, cross-cultural training means any training that helps overcome cultural challenges in work or in life when interacting with others whose culture, values and beliefs we are not fully aware of.<sup>7</sup>

It would be promising to analyse existing (skill focused) cross-cultural training in different cultural regions and business to work out a transculturally-based training method. Different trends in cross-cultural training must be considered. Thanks to new technologies, virtual global teams are increasing and people who work in such teams never meet face-to-face with their fellow team members. The content of cross-cultural training has to be adjusted to meet the special needs and demands of the people engaged in these virtual interactions (Storti 2009: 284). In addition, the delivery of cross-cultural training will probably change. The future of most training will be computer-based e-learning combined with face-to-face training and workshops. Another trend for cross-cultural training is the rise of "domestic" training for people who interact on a regular basis with people from different cultures. This audience is different because their contact with foreigners is relatively limited and takes place in the

<sup>7</sup> Generally cross-cultural training can be divided into two different areas: countryfocused, and skill-focused. Country-focused training will only look at one (or a few) culture(s), e.g, Chinese, Japanese, Turkish, etc. The content will look at specific areas if the culture whether that be etiquette, communication or negotiation. Skill focused training on the other hand is a more generic type of course which looks at areas such as communication, management, persuasion, leadership, negotiation, sales, etc. and then addresses cultural differences within that framework. participants' home country. These trends have to be taken into account for the development of transcultural training.

Another helpful way for the development of TCC training could be the identification of successful transcultural solutions. An overview of organizational and individual success stories, which are good examples of applied TCC in cultural dilemmas, could be a good starting point for the development of transcultural training. A list of these cultural dilemmas and solutions would help to visualize the process and results of TCC. The power of storytelling could be used to provide helpful insights into the process of transcultural learning. Such a collection of transcultural examples could serve as a template for the development of scenarios, training and portfolio assessments. It could be possible to present success and failure stories of SCEs and add reflective questions for transcultural learners. Even an interactive app with transcultural stories and reflective tasks and questions is feasible.<sup>8</sup> Because the transcultural approach always looks at specific SCEs and cultural dilemmas (transactions), it could be helpful to identify, collect and present specific reconciled solutions.

## 8. Conclusion

As the analysis has shown there are several findings that can be derived from the PISA GC framework and assessment for TCC. Youth is the crucial stage to initiate a social learning process and following the message of the "future of jobs" report of 2018, the way schools and education systems respond to growing economic interdependence, cultural divides, new digital opportunities and increasing calls for sustainability will have a significant impact on the well-being of all members of the communities they serve.

"Schools have been guided at different times by different purposes, from building nations, and national and political identities to helping the poor, from improving national competitiveness to assimilating im-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For instance, the "Culture for Business" app is based on Fons Trompenaars' Seven Dimensions of Culture model and is supported by data on the cultures of over 140 countries. It provides business travelers, (international) managers or any individuals who are interested in understanding other cultures with specific tips for meetings, management and negotiations.

migrants, from educating citizens to educating workers. The proposition that schools should aim to educate global citizens competes with alternative purposes." (Reimers 2009: 193)

Achieving GC through education will require significant changes in the classroom: changes concerning what students learn about the world and other cultures, the opportunities they have to practice what they learn, and how teachers support this learning by working with culturally-diverse students. Overall, no single assessment can fully account for the complexity of GC as a learning goal and PISA is using its power to set the media agenda to promote the inclusion of GC in the school curriculum. The GC assessment conducted by PISA reflects the constraints of an ILSA and some limitations (social desirability, construct validity, performance moderators, etc.) cannot be ignored. More efforts, beyond 2018, will be needed to build on the lessons learnt from this initiative to further improve the measurement of complex competences such as GC.

Indeed, as Reimers (2013) concludes, evident deficits in global competency will not be solved by doing more of what has been done in the past; an education with a heavy bias towards contemplation, and too little focus on developing the capacity for engaged and effective global citizenship. Naturally, designing new approaches has implications for curriculum design, schools, teachers and as well as the delivery of content. Most schools are guided and controlled by national policies and instructs. Nevertheless, international school networks are growing, and schools are shaped by globalization in various ways. Nowadays, in many schools, people from different cultural backgrounds interact with one another and the stakeholders of schools are becoming more diverse. One of the essential requirements to advance global education is to develop high quality curricula, teaching materials and opportunities for teacher education.

The practical approach of TC could be helpful for teachers and education systems to foster cooperation among students and the different stakeholders of schools. In the highly political discussion of what to teach and how to teach it, notions of national identity often hinder the development of common ground. In this context, the transcultural approach offers a helpful and practical way of creating commonalities and new solutions to cultural dilemmas by focusing on the social learning process.

By looking at TC, it would be promising to develop an ongoing TCC assessment method that is closely linked to the transcultural process with

helpful training tools. As analysed, the interplay between assessment and learning is crucial to foster TCC. E-portfolios are possible tools to guide and facilitate the transcultural process and an aptitude assessment with open- and closed-response items, including scenarios of SCEs and cultural dilemmas, could be a helpful starting point. Therefore, it could be helpful to identify, collect and present specific reconciled solutions. In addition, the conceptualization of TC needs to focus on the key components (focus on commonalities, cooperation, genius of the AND, etc.). The development of a detailed cause path model, which shows the relation between these elements and the manifestation of these elements in actual SCEs, could be a promising step. In a world where we continuously have to learn, unlearn and relearn, TC offers a social learning process for new collaborative communities.

## References

- Ashwill, M. A. & Oanh, D. T. H. (2009): Developing globally competent citizens: The contrasting cases of the United States and Vietnam, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.): The SAGE handbook of intercultural competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE, 141-157.
- Baird, J-A., Andrich, D., Hopfenbeck, T. & Stobart, G. (2017): Assessment and learning: fields apart?, in: Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 24(3): 317-350.
- Barrett, M., Byram, M, Lázár, P. Mompoint-Gaillard & Philippou, S. (2014): Developing Intercultural Competence through Education, Strasbourg: Council of Europe Publishing.
- Bennett, M. J. (1986): A developmental approach to training intercultural sensitivity, in: Martin, J. (eds.), Special Issue on Intercultural Training, International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 10(2): 179-186.
- Boix Mansilla, V. & A. Jackson (2011): Educating for Global Competence: Preparing Our Youth to Engage the World, Asia Society and Council of Chief State School Officers.
- Breakspear, S. (2012): The Policy Impact of PISA: An Exploration of the Normative Effects of International Benchmarking in School System Performance, OECD Education Working Papers, No. 71, Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Commons, J. R. (1924): Legal Foundations of Capitalism, New York: MacMillan.

- Council of Europe (2016a): Competences for Democratic Culture: Living Together as Equals in Culturally Diverse Democratic Societies, Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- Council of Europe (2016b): Competences for Democratic Culture (CDC): 559 Validated Descriptors, Council of Europe, Strasbourg.
- Deardorff, D. K. (2006): The Identification and Assessment of Intercultural Competence as a Student Outcome of Internationalization at Institutions of Higher Education in the United States, Journal of Studies in International Education, 10(3): 241-266.
- Deardorff, D. K. (2009a): The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- Deardorff, D. K. (2009b): Implementing Intercultural Competence Assessment. in: The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE, 477-491.
- Delors, J. et al. (1996): Learning: The Treasure Within, UNESCO, Paris.
- Epstein, M. (1995): After the future: the paradox of postmodernism and contemporary Russian culture, University of Massachusetts: Amherst.
- Fantini, A. (2009): Assessing Intercultural Competence: Issues and Tolls. in: The Sage Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE, 456-476.
- Fischer, D. & Wieland, J. (2016): Some Aspects of Transculturality, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, eds. Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Freire, P. (1993): Pedagogy of the oppressed, New York: Continuum.
- Gallie, W. B. (1956): Essentially Contested Concepts, in: Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society, 56: 167-198.
- Gilsa, T. (2019): Operationalizing Transcultural Competence, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 43-73.
- Gläser, J. & Laudel, G. (2010): Experteninterviews und qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: als Instrumente rekonstruierender Untersuchungen, 4th ed., Wiesbaden: Springer VS.
- Glover, J. & Friedman, H. (2015): Transcultural Competence: Navigating cultural differences in the global community, Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Grek, S. (2009): Governing by numbers: the PISA 'effect' in Europe, Journal of Education Policy, 24(1): 23-37.
- Goldstein, H. (2004a): International comparison of student attainment: some issues arising from the PISA study, Assessment in Education, 11(3): 319-330.

- Goldstein, H. (2004b): Education for all: the globalization of learning targets, Comparative Education, 40(1): 7-14.
- Hofstede, G. (1981): Culture and Organization. International Studies of Management & Organization, 10(4): 14-41.
- Hofstede, G. (2003): Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions and Organizations Across Nations (2nd ed.), SAGE.
- Hopfenbeck, T. Jenny, L., El Masri, Y. Cantrell, K. Ryan, J. & Baird, J. (2018): Lessons Learned from PISA: A Systematic Review of PeerReviewed Articles on the Programme for International Student Assessment, Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, 62(3): 333-353.
- Hunter, W. D. (2004): Got global competency? International Educator, 13(2): 6-12.
- Hunter, W. D. (2005). Knowledge, skills, attitudes, and experiences necessary to become globally competent (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI 3147319).
- Hunter, B., White, G. P., & Godbey, G. (2006): What does it mean to be globally competent? Journal of Studies in International Education, 10(3): 267-285.
- Lafontaine, D. & Monseur, C. (2009): Gender gap in comparative studies of reading comprehension: To what extent do the test characteristics make a difference? European Educational Research Journal, 8(1): 69-79.
- Lambert, R. (1996): Parsing the Concept of Global Competence, Educational Exchange and Global Competence, New York: Council on International Educational Exchange.
- Mack, O. et al. (2016): Managing in a VUCA World, Heidelberg/New York: Springer.
- Matveev, A. V, & Merz, M. Y. (2013): Intercultural Competence Assessment: What Are Its Key Dimensions Across Assessment Tools? in: Toward Sustainable Development Through Nurturing Diversity: Selected Papers from the Twenty-First Congress of the International Associate for Cross-Cultural Psychology, 123-135.
- Mažeikienė, N. & Virgailaitė-Mečkauskaitė, E. (2007): The experience of measurement and assessment of intercultural competence in education, Social Sciences, 58: 70-82.
- Mayring, P. (2008): Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse. Grundlagen und Techniken, Weinheim: Beltz.
- Mayring, P. (2015): Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Grundlagen und Techniken, 12. Auflage, Weinheim: Beltz.
- Nwosu, P. (2009): Understanding Africans' conceptualizations of intercultural Competence. in: D. K. Deardorff (eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE.

- OECD (2005): The definition and selection of key competencies Executive summary.
- OECD (2016): PISA 2018 INTEGRATED DESIGN, produced by ETS, Core A Contractor.
- OECD (2018): Preparing our youth for an inclusive and sustainable world, the OECD PISA global competence framework, Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Olson, C. L., & Kroeger, K. R. (2001): Global competency and intercultural sensitivity. Journal of Studies in International Education, 5(2): 116-137.
- Pitsoe, V. & Mahlangu, V. (2017): Teaching Values in Education as a Political Act for Social Change, Journal of Social Sciences, 40: 141-149.
- Pusch, M. (2009): The Interculturally Competent Global Leader, in: The Sage Handbook of Intercultural Competence, D. K. Deardorff (eds.) Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- Reimers, F. M. (2009): Global competency, Harvard International Review, 30(4), Retrieved October 21, 2018 from http://hir.harvard.edu/rethinking-finance global-competency/
- Reimers, F. M. (2013): Assessing Global Education: an Opportunity for the OECD, Retrieved October 22, 2018 from https://www.oecd.org/pisa/pisa products/Global-Competency.pdf
- Reimers, F. M. (2017): Empowering Students to Improve the World in Sixty Lessons, Version 1.0, North Charleston, South Carolina.
- Salice-Stephan, A. (2019): Transcultural by Biography A comparative study on the transcultural competences of 'biculturals' and 'monoculturals', in Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 75-111.
- Sälzer, C. & Roczen, N. (2018): Assessing global competence in PISA 2018: Challenges and approaches to capturing a complex construct, International Journal of Development Education and Global Learning, 10(1): 5-20.
- Spitzberg, B. & Changmon, G. (2009): Conceptualizing Intercultural Competence, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The Sage Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE, 2-52.
- Stanley Foundation (1996): Educating For The Global Community: A Framework For Community Colleges, Conference, November 15-17.
- Storti, C. (2009): Intercultural Competence in Human Resource Passing it On: Intercultural Competence in the Training Area, in: Deardorff, D. K. (eds.), The Sage Handbook of Intercultural Competence, Thousand Oaks: SAGE, 272-286.
- Swiss Consulting Group (2002): Global competency report.
- Thomas, S. M. & Goldstein, H. (2008): Educational comparative studies of achievement re-examining the issues and impact. Assessment in Education, 15: 211-214.
- Trompenaars, A. & Hampden Turner, C. (1994): Riding the waves of culture: understanding diversity in global business. 3rd edition, ORT: Nicholas Brealey Publishing.
- Todd, K. B. (2017): Global competence survey development, Theses and Dissertations-Education Science, 29. Retrieved November 4, 2018 from https:// uknowledge.uky.edu/edsc\_etds/29
- UNESCO (2013): Intercultural Competences: Conceptual and Operational Framework, Paris: UNESCO.
- UNESCO (2014a): Global Citizenship Education: Preparing learners for the challenges of the 21st century, Paris: UNESCO.
- UNESCO (2014b): Learning to Live Together: Education Policies and Realities in the Asia-Pacific, Paris: UNESCO.
- UNESCO (2016): Global Education Monitoring Report, Paris: UNESCO.
- Urthaler, S. (2019): Transcultural Competence and its Focus on Commonalities, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 113-141.
- Wieland, J. (2014): Governance Ethics: Global Value Creation, Economic Organization and Normativity. in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. (eds.), Transculturality-Leadership, Management and Governance. New York et al.: Springer International Publishing.
- Wieland, J. (2016): Transculturality and Economic Governance, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.): Transculturality – Leadership, Management and Governance, Marburg: Metropolis, 12-32.
- Wieland, J. (2018): Relational Economics Ökonomische Theorie der Governance wirtschaftlicher Transaktionen, Marburg: Metropolis.
- Wieland, J. (2019): Transculturality as a Leadership Style A Relational Approach, in: Wieland, J. & Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.): Transcultural Leadership and Transcultural Competence, Marburg: Metropolis, 21-41.
- World Economic Forum (2018): Insight report The future of job reports 2018, World Economic Forum. Retrieved November 25, 2018 from http://www3. weforum.org/docs/WEF\_Future\_of\_Jobs\_2018.pdf

# Transcultural Management in Global Firms

Julika Baumann Montecinos, Elena Hunzinger, Preeti Singh and Sabine Wiesmüller

#### 1. Introduction

This report presents the findings of an empirical study conducted with interview partners from globally operating companies on the topic of transcultural management.<sup>1</sup>

Against the backdrop of globalization, companies are constantly under pressure to use their resources effectively and innovatively in order to gain competitive advantage, not only within one country but also across borders. Employing a diverse workforce and managing different working cultures brings along countless opportunities, but also risks. When not managed properly, diversity within a company's staff could potentially have a negative impact on its performance. In this context, transcultural management is a subject of growing interest as it offers a rather new approach with regard to managing diverse cultures, namely national, organizational, professional and individual ones, in an effective and sustainable manner.

So far, in the business world, intercultural training was and is still used to develop the ability and willingness to cope within a culturally diverse workforce, as well as in contact with external stakeholders from different cultural backgrounds. Nonetheless, intercultural management

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This chapter presents the results of a field project of the doctoral program "Ethics and Responsible leadership". It was conducted by the Leadership Excellence Institute Zeppelin | LEIZ, in cooperation with Wittenberg Center for Global Ethics. The study was supported by the Karl Schlecht Stiftung.

and intercultural training places strong emphasis on the differences between cultures. However, in order to enable higher levels of cooperation and to build a basis for mutually beneficial interaction, a certain sense of togetherness between the parties concerned is necessary. Therefore, research in the field of transcultural management suggests that the emphasis should rather be on commonalities between cultures, than on differences. In short, intercultural management mainly focuses on overcoming differences and avoiding conflict. Thus, it can help reduce barriers both in the workforce and in relation to external stakeholders. However, transcultural management goes one step further. It aims to identify existing commonalities and to create new ones by, for instance, investing in a shared value understanding within teams. In this way, transcultural management focuses on discovering opportunities for cooperation, considering diversity as a potentially productive resource for innovation and successful global value creation. Transculturality can therefore be described as an ongoing learning process towards creating and strengthening commonalities and thereby exploiting promising potential for cooperation.

For globally operating firms, the question is how transcultural management can be lived and sustained in daily business. Therefore, the objective of this project is to further enhance the understanding of transcultural management practices within these kinds of firm by analyzing the status quo. For this purpose, data was collected from two global firms from different industries through explorative case study research, which mainly consisted of document analysis and interviews, conducted at subsidiaries of those firms based in Germany, India and Singapore. In this way, the internal perspectives of those companies on questions on transcultural management practices could be observed and analyzed. Distinct focus areas were selected during this research process, namely Corporate Culture and Values, Global Human Resources, Diversity Management, Compliance Management, Integrity Management and Leadership Traits.

To give the reader a holistic view on transcultural management and, specifically, transcultural learning, the report begins with a brief theoretical introduction to the field. Then, the methodology of the research project and the sample are described. Following that, the findings of the interviews are presented per focus area and region, starting with Europe and continuing with Asia. Finally, we present a short comparison of the findings per region and end the report with a brief conclusion and an outlook for possible further research.

#### 2. Theoretical Reflections on Transcultural Management

This report aims at describing the status quo of transcultural management in selected focus areas in two global firms. More precisely, as part of a "field project", we conducted case study research which allowed us to understand and describe transcultural learning processes that we consider constitute an inherent and fundamental element of transcultural management. In the following, we will briefly outline the major theoretical concepts behind transcultural management and transcultural learning, which serve as a basis for conceptualizing and analyzing our case study research.

#### Transculturality and transcultural management: Creating commonalities

Transculturality is a highly relevant construct when it comes to handling the global challenges of the twenty-first century (e.g. Möhrer et al. 2015; Transcultural caravan 2016; Wieland 2010a, 2010b, 2014, 2016). In its essence, transculturality can be understood as an informal governance structure which enables the management of cultural diversity in daily business transactions. Cultural diversity in this context comprises not only distinct national cultures, but also distinct individual, professional and organizational value systems (Wieland 2016: 21). Transculturality is defined as a "process of relationing different cultural identities, [which] aims [...] to make cooperation by culturally diverse individual and collective actors institutionally and organizationally possible" (Wieland 2016: 22). As such, transculturality serves as a "productive resource and an informal institution for cooperative economic value creation" (ibid.: 13). Hence, transculturality functions as "an element [...] of local and global cooperation [that] allows the productive handling of cultural diversity and the curbing of its potential destructiveness" (ibid.: 13).

For the purpose of definition and demarcation of related concepts, interand multiculturality are mainly based on the idea of separate homogeneous cultures (e.g. Welsch 1999) and focus on the management of (ethical) differences between cultures (e.g. Hofstede 2001; Hofstede et al. 2010). Transculturality, however, aims at shifting the focus to creating and strengthening commonalities through learning processes (Wieland 2016: 22). Its reference point for "cultural learning is the development of similarity and not the continuation of difference" (ibid.: 17). As such, the concept of transculturality supports the notion of perceptions of shared global values and principles that span cultural systems – in addition and as a complement to the unquestionable existence of cultural diversity.

In global business, the challenge for firms and individuals is twofold. First, firms and individuals are supposed to define and learn about these perceptions of shared global values and principles. Second, they must transform these global value *descriptions* into local value *interpretations*, i.e., they must implement them in daily activities. It is against this background that a new type of transcultural management is called for which contributes to both – individual and corporate learning. In this sense, transcultural management is, at its core, about creating new commonalities as a basis for cooperative economic value creation in transactions among culturally diverse actors (Wieland 2016: 22).

#### Transcultural learning: From thin to thick value interpretations

These new commonalities are the result of an ongoing transcultural learning process. In globally operating firms, this process occurs for individuals and the firm as a "cooperative discovery" in daily business and is therefore social and interactive by nature (Wieland 2016: 22). It seems straightforward for organizations to use a code of conduct to proclaim global values. However, as Leisinger (2015) indicates, the challenge is to implement those values in daily operations by creating a mutual understanding and generally accepted ways of practicing them.

[A]n acknowledgment of global values and abstract normative principles remains 'thin' in the sense of being general and out of context. [...] An effective discourse to determine transcultural corporate responsibility principles and standards must consider the plurality of local values and normative principles. Respective responsibility guidelines and codes of conduct have to be made "thick" in the cultural and normative setting of the host countries. (Leisinger 2015: 42)

This process of transforming proclaimed values into a shared cultural bond can be described as *the transformation of thin value descriptions into thick value interpretations* (Leisinger 2015; Walzer 1996; Wieland 2016). This is precisely what is meant by the transcultural learning pro-

cess: It is the process whereby shared thick value interpretations (local priorities) in firms are created on the basis of thin value descriptions (global principles) (Wieland 2016). This process justifies the definition of transculturality as a productive resource because it potentially increases the "stock of shared moral interpretations of economic transactions and hence also the volume of feasible, mutually advantageous cooperation projects" (ibid.: 29).

In transcultural learning, "[t]he development of globally accepted and transcultural norms of good business behavior sets the priority on common experience" (Wieland 2010a, italics added). Transcultural competence in this context is developed as the "behavioral proficiency to effectively establish a common working culture based on the sharing of local experiences" (Möhrer et al. 2015: 1, italics added). Hence, transculturality is the result of shared local experiences. The transcultural learning process itself can be conceived as a "practice arena" that contributes to the task of understanding "thin" strategic ideas or value descriptions (Wieland 2016: 27).

Moreover, as mentioned previously, transcultural learning is about creating new commonalities as a basis for cooperation among culturally diverse actors (Wieland 2016: 22). Research suggests a sequence of three steps as a framework for understanding this notion (Wieland 2014, 2016): Imagining the encounter of people who are characterized by diverse backgrounds and nationalities, the first step in a transcultural learning process would mainly consist of non-normative observation of processes and the subsequent analysis of potentially existing differences among those people. Following that, the focus would shift away from those differences to existing commonalities, which would be discovered and strengthened through, for instance, common experiences and the exchange of knowledge. Finally, as a third step, people would engage in the creation of new commonalities, for example, by committing to common perspectives, goals and actions.

Based on these theoretical notions, we conceptualized and analyzed the case study research at hand, aiming at understanding and describing the status quo of transcultural management – focusing on transcultural learning – within globally operating firms.

3. Project Description: Transcultural Management in Global Firms

#### 3.1 Research Question

The major objective of our project is to understand and describe the status quo of transcultural management in global firms, placing the emphasis on observing and describing the phenomenon of transcultural learning. One objective was to identify indicators for, and manifestations of, transcultural learning, which should contribute to its theoretical conceptualization. To explore transcultural learning in the firms in question, the following research question was used as a major focal point for developing, conducting and analyzing interviews as part of our case study research:

To what extent and in what form can transcultural management in general – and transcultural learning in particular – be observed and described in the respective focus area?

To derive findings from the interviews in a structured manner, the results are analyzed alongside the six focus areas (Corporate Culture and Values, Global Human Resources, Diversity Management, Compliance Management, Integrity Management, and Leadership Traits), which is also reflected in the structure of this report. With regard to the analysis scheme applied throughout this report, we understood during our research that transcultural learning can be triggered through distinct measures and/or processes on two distinct levels, namely individual and organizational. Additionally, each measure and/or process is most often put into practice in order to achieve a specific goal. Therefore, to summarize the findings of our research in a consistent manner, we developed the following conceptual table (Table 1). This table will be used to systematize the key findings per focus area in Chapters 4 and 5, as well as to serve as a basis for the comparison in Chapter 6 and the conclusion in Chapter 7.

Findings on Transcultural Learning per Focus Area		
Measure/Process Goal		
Individual level		
Organizational level		

Table 1: Template to Summarize Findings

Source: Own representation.

#### 3.2 Methodology: Case Study Research

To address the research question, we applied case study research in which we combined the findings from a series of interviews with representatives from two companies (for the description of the sample, see chapter 3.3), as well as from complementary document analysis (mainly concerning company information). To obtain a comprehensive global perspective on transcultural management practices – particularly related to transcultural learning as indicated by our research question – a team of three researchers conducted the interviews with representatives from Germany, India, and Singapore.

The questions in the semi-structured interview script were developed with regard to the aforementioned focus areas: Corporate Culture and Values, Global Human Resources, Diversity Management, Compliance Management and Integrity Management. The chapter on Leadership Traits was added as an additional focus area during the project. We intended to conduct the interviews with representatives from four distinct functions, namely Global Human Resources, Diversity Management, Compliance Management and Integrity Management. These functions were selected based on the expectation that the interview partners would be able to give insights into processes not only regarding their function and department, but also cross-departmentally, namely corporate culture and leadership traits. Before the interviews were conducted, the interview partners were not informed about the research subject, so as to lower or even limit tendencies to give 'socially desirable' answers. After the interviews, the interviewees were given detailed information about the theoretical background of the research project.

The interviews were analyzed with the software program MAXQDA, using a coding technique that is known as a standard approach in the field of qualitative research. Since transcultural management and transcultural learning measures can be understood as a means to an end, the key findings per focus area were structured according to their respective goals, e.g., creating a shared value understanding, facilitating shared experiences or enabling a constant dialogue. 3.3 Description of the Field: Global Firms in Germany, India and Singapore

Our research was conducted in two companies, for anonymity reasons called A and B, which will be described in the following. Both companies are transnational corporations operating on a global level.

Company A is a globally operating industrial firm with its headquarter in Germany, its parent company in another European country, and subsidiaries in Germany and worldwide, including Singapore. Organizationally, this leads to a hierarchical relationship between the parent company and the headquarter in Germany, with the latter being the executing partner, which, as a result, adapts to the strategies developed in the parent company. These structures also apply to the Asian subsidiary of company A, which at the same time is wholly owned by the same parent company. Interviews were conducted with representatives from Germany and Singapore. Four interviews were conducted with representatives in senior management positions in Germany; one interview was conducted with a representative in Singapore.

Company B is a German industrial firm that operates on a global level. Its headquarters is in Germany and functions as the parent company to the firm's worldwide subsidiaries, e.g., the Asian office that was part of our sample. Interviews were conducted with representatives from Germany and India. Three interviews were conducted with representatives in senior management positions in Germany and two interviews with representatives in India.

For reasons of anonymity, the quotes cited throughout this report will not be attributed to the particular companies and/or positions of the interviewees.

#### 4. Findings from the Field: Insights from Germany

In the following chapter, we will describe our findings related to the German perspective. We will begin by outlining current major challenges of the firms before looking at the sub-challenges and key findings per focus area.

Based on the interviews, it seems that the major challenges for company A stem from ongoing post-merger integration processes as well as internationalization processes. For example, management focus seemingly lies on increasing efficiency through merging different departments and tools, while at the same time integrating distinct corporate cultures. This process of alignment has apparently led to a certain resistance within the workforce. Thus, the firm's major challenge seems to be the alignment of management processes and the creation of a group-wide, common identity, based on a shared understanding across locations. In company B, internationalization, especially through new mergers and acquisitions in emerging markets, seems to represent a major challenge. Besides, focusing on a strong and internationally-appropriate corporate culture seems to be of high importance for the company. Thus, the challenge seems to be twofold: On the one hand, remain flexible towards distinct cultures and business models; on the other, provide orientation and guidance to ensure effective processes.

Having these major challenges in mind, we will now turn to the findings in the selected focus areas Corporate Culture and Values, Global Human Resources, Diversity Management, Compliance Management, Integrity Management and Leadership Traits. After briefly introducing the respective focus area and the particular challenges it implies, the key findings derived from the interviews will be described and interpreted.

4.1 Corporate Culture and Values: Strengthening Shared Values as a Basis for Growing Together Globally

Transcultural management comprises the determination of the strategic cultural orientation of a firm by its leadership for performing transactions (Wieland 2016: 27). It is "the art of finding the right mix of the four dimensions of corporate culture and determining how to handle the trade-offs between them, which will then determine the direction of the transcultural learning process" (Wieland 2016: 28; cf. Figure 1). A strong corporate culture focuses on homogenizing values whereas a weak corporate culture allows for heterogenous values. A centralized corporate culture is developed and carried out by the headquarters whereas a decentralized corporate culture takes the autonomy of regions into account when developing and carrying out culture policies.





Source: Wieland 2016: 28.

Following the idea of transculturality, globally acting companies face the challenge to develop common ground in terms of corporate culture and a shared understanding of values, while, at the same time and up to a consciously defined extent, allowing for situational meanings and local interpretations of those common values. This task would be supported by a transcultural learning process which served as a practice arena for understanding and implementing abstractly-defined global values while taking local mindsets into account. Against this background, our objective was to understand how corporate culture is perceived, experienced and implemented within the two firms, and to what extent and in what forms transcultural learning can be observed and described in this regard. According to our findings, the two firms are in distinct stages regarding the development of their corporate culture. While one firm is seemingly focusing on reconciling distinct corporate cultures as part of a post-mergerprocess, the other firm is further strengthening its already well advanced, strong corporate culture.

Irrespective of the distinct stages, transcultural learning processes have been triggered at both firms through organizational and individual measures in order to facilitate a coherent corporate culture across borders which reflects the company's strategic cultural orientation, as indicated in the figure above. An important goal of both firms seems to be overcoming cultural differences in order to establish or strengthen an integrated corporate culture based on the creation of a shared understanding of values. Looking at the individual level, transcultural learning towards a common corporate culture seems to take place most intensively through reflection, sharing of experiences and maintaining a constant dialogue within relationships – among staff and between management and staff. Relationship-building across regions seems to strengthen tolerance because it facilitates the identification of commonalities and the creation of a bond across cultural spaces.

This is supported by formal measures on an organizational level, such as group-wide cultural programs, which are rolled out globally through, for instance, interactive training programs which enable a shared understanding of values across cultural spaces as a basis for an effective corporate culture. At the same time and according to the concept of transculturality, the development of corporate culture does not aim at neutralizing existing differences, but at building and strengthening common ground as a basis for effective diversity management as will be described in the following chapter (4.2). Before we turn to this aspect, Table 2 summarizes the key findings for the focus area Corporate Culture and Values.

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Reflection about differences in values and corporate cultures, and homogenization of values	Overcome differences and cultural clashes and establish an integrated corporate culture based on a shared understanding of values
	Investment in network-building, in dialogue processes and in shared experiences	Relationship-building across re- gions to strengthen tolerance, to identify commonalities and to create a bond across cultural spaces
	Transparent communication and expectation management	Reduce uncertainty and increase commitment as well as motivation
	Organization of intercultural trainings	Increase intercultural awareness to facilitate collaboration based on realistic expectations
	Reflection about personal experi- ence with the firm and about personal values	Act as role model to exemplify (written) values and improve collective understanding thereof

Table 2: Findings on Transcultural Learning – Focus Area Corporate Culture and Values

Organizational level	Organization of group-wide cultural programs, supported by interactive measures such as trainings, team events and work- stream-talks	Strengthen learning process to- wards a shared value understanding across the workforce; enable shared experiences to create commonalities
	Definition of globally valid values and provision of a collection of written documents and technical tools	Enable a shared value under- standing across cultural spaces as a basis for an effective corporate culture
	Implementation of internal online networks and communication platforms	Enable constant dialogue, pro- ductive discussions, collective opinion building and community building
	Organization of programs dedi- cated to leadership culture	Change leadership culture and en- able leaders to act as role models

Source: Own representation.

# 4.2 Global HR and Diversity Management: Facilitating Integration and Productive Collaboration across Borders

The global human resources department within a firm is responsible for recruiting, developing and retaining the firm's talent. Finding the right talent and facilitating collaboration across functions, regions within countries and even across national borders are topics of increasing importance against the backdrop of globalization. Usually, the human resources department helps employees to become interculturally aware by organizing and running intercultural training. In addition, we understand a human resources department as the appropriate department for developing and implementing transcultural management tools and measures that focus on identifying and creating commonalities among the workforce in order to facilitate productive collaboration. Hence, a global human resources department is, in our view, a designated enabler of transcultural learning processes, which usually start with recognizing and overcoming differences - mainly through non-normative observation and analysis - and proceed with identifying and creating commonalities among the workforce as a basis for productive collaboration - mainly through facilitating shared experiences and fostering a shared commitment towards common goals and actions.

The success of a firm's ongoing transformation, which includes the integration of its strategy, organization and culture, also depends on the management of diversity. Proper diversity management enables the realization of productive synergies and reduces the potentially destructive effect of diversity (Wieland 2016: 26).

Following the idea of transculturality and on the basis of an effective corporate culture as described in the previous chapter, systemic diversity management acknowledges the importance of defining and communicating globally-applicable values in written documents (e.g. a code of conduct). However, to transform abstractly-defined global values into practicable local behavior, several steps are necessary which can be considered part of a transcultural learning process, e.g., information, communication, discussion, acting, monitoring and reporting. Embedded in shared experiences these steps facilitate a shared understanding of values and their local implementation.

Against this backdrop, one of our objectives was to understand to what extent and in what form transcultural learning can be observed and described in global human resources departments and in diversity management at the firms. Regarding global human resources, a major challenge at one firm seems to be the integration of distinct departments as part of a post-merger integration process.

The major challenge is to build one unified organization that is beneficial for the client, and for us as the HR department. It starts with processes, but leadership culture is also a driver.

The firm invests heavily in individual and organizational measures which facilitate knowledge exchange, a constant dialogue as well as shared experiences as a means towards achieving that integration. This is achieved, for example, through the implementation of work-stream talks and the implementation of functional counterparts across borders. To align individual activities towards the overall strategic goals key activities are defined for employees in leading management positions. Those activities are used as an 'orientation for action' because they facilitate priority setting. Moreover, leaders proactively engage in cross-border dialogue and act as role models within their teams to facilitate the path towards a unified firm.

Turning to diversity management: even though diversity seems to be a topic of increasing importance at both firms, they are at different stages regarding the institutionalization of diversity. One firm has just started managing diversity by assigning the responsibility for the topic to specific roles, whereas the other firm is already managing diversity through dedicated departments and working groups:

We have been working on the topic of diversity in an institutionalized manner since the early 2000s. We have continuously developed the topic further, taking into account the internationalization of the company. [...] What we do is diversity management; that is more than simply acknowledging and facilitating diverse teams in terms of ethnical background. Managing diversity means managing products and providing services while taking diversity aspects into account.

Therefore, diversity management at this firm seems to be advanced. For example, the firm offers a holistic diversity model for its global workforce, which contains a comprehensive interpretation of the value "diversity" and a catalogue of possible implementation measures for a wide array of topics ranging from recruiting to product management. These measures are not meant to be globally binding but can instead be adapted according to specific local or functional needs. This model is supposed to function as a compass, which provides orientation. At the other firm, diversity is increasingly dealt with at an abstract level, for example, in seminars through theoretical input. Despite the fact that both firms are at different stages regarding diversity management, similar measures that indicate transcultural learning on an individual as well as on an organizational level could be observed at both firms. For example, both firms place strong emphasis on transparency and communication. Moreover, role-modelling plays a vital part in implementing diversity at both firms. The detailed findings are summarized in Table 3.

# Table 3: Findings on Transcultural Learning –Focus Area Global HR & Diversity Management

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Reflection and determination of key activities	Align individual actions with the global strategy and define priorities
	Proactive communication about systemic and legal country differences	Strengthen transparency and find solutions to facilitate integration efforts
	Foster a constant dialogue within the team and develop (unwritten) guidelines and principles	Facilitate a shared understanding of goals and strengthen voluntary commitment/motivation of em- ployees
	Maintain an open-door policy	Create and maintain an atmosphere of trust and facilitate communica- tion
	Work on a shared understanding of the leadership culture	Facilitate collaboration and enable role modeling
	Ongoing discussions, not only at top-level but also throughout the entire workforce, e.g., regarding gender	Find common ground, understand the facets of diversity and ulti- mately institutionalize diversity management
	Reflection about individual attitude and behavior and acknowledge- ment of the importance of diver- sity as a topic which must be "managed"	Act as role-model and reap the potential benefits of diversity
Organizational level	Develop strategies holistically while allowing for local adapta- tion	Facilitate creation of commonalities whilst tolerating regional differences
	Implement dialogue formats, such as institutionalized work stream or department meetings / huddles	Foster exchange of knowledge, constant dialogue and shared experiences
	Definition of key activities in constant dialogue processes	Facilitate priority setting and a shared understanding of those priorities
	Definition of global roles and functional counterparts	Facilitate integration and align- ment across borders
	Introduction of a common IT-system	Support integration technically and reap the benefits of digitali- zation

Implement a cross-border learn- ing platform (merge existing platforms)	Facilitate knowledge sharing and collaborative learning
Offer international leadership development programs	Overcome silo-thinking and increase awareness for local and cultural peculiarities through shared experiences while build- ing a network
Creation of functional roles, diversity departments and dedi- cated, diverse working groups	Institutionalize diversity, strengthen discourse and create common knowledge
Organization of diversity work- ing summits for participants across divisions and regions	Exchange knowledge, identify common topics and define col- laborative working modes while building a community
Development of a holistic diver- sity model in a co-creational process	Ensure the relevance of the mode
Offer value interpretations, ab- stract ideas and a catalogue of suggestions for implementation within the model	Give orientation and foster a shared understanding of diversity while allowing for local adaptation of measures
Make diversity a topic in training and leadership development pro- grams	Change leadership culture and en- able people to act as role models
Facilitate virtual discussions on the topic on internal online net- work	Increase awareness and nurture the sense of community
Design selection processes that allow the recruitment of diverse talents	Enable diversity in teams to increase productivity
Monitoring and reporting through KPI systems (globally valid or country-specific guidelines)	Ensure adherence to diversity requirements, e.g., regarding women in management / leader- ship positions
Reflect "diversity" in product development and management and offer targeted products	Strengthen customer base through relevant products and services

Source: Own representation.

### 4.3 Compliance and Integrity Management: Creating Trust and Making Integrity a Corporate Value

In the following, compliance management will be defined as all formal and informal governance structures within an organization that help make its management efficient and effective regarding the identification and prevention of fraudulent actions by its members (Wieland 2004). Compliance is typically part of the strategic and operative management of a company and aims to secure not only its sustainable, legal, economic and societal existence but also the achievement of its goals (Wieland 2004). Integrity, however, is understood as an individual trait as well as a resource of the organization. It is of practical interest to the company as it can help achieve results more successfully by helping the employees to deal more effectively with the complexity of organizational decisionmaking (Wieland 2014). Thus, integrity management deals with implementing values that apply integrity to its corporate culture and its management processes. Additionally, implementing measures to foster the personal integrity of employees is a further dimension of a company's integrity management. However, owing to few resources within the company, only one of the companies has a separate department for integrity management so far. When it comes to the insights gained throughout our research, it needs to be stated firstly that, due to the different structure of the companies, the compliance departments in both companies must deal with different legal contexts and regulations. Additionally, when creating and communicating compliance guidelines to the whole company, different cultural backgrounds have to be taken into account. Regarding transcultural learning processes within the compliance departments of the companies, character traits but also certain values seem to be of great relevance. Apart from important structural prerequisites, such as allowing for local participation and adaption of the regulations, opening up for a local mindset seems to be of high importance in this department. Especially when working with different cultural and structural settings, it is important to have the varying contexts in mind. Therefore, creating a shared understanding of the compliance regulations coming from the parent company, while still allowing for local adaptation, seems to be effective. When implementing the strategy, authenticity, honesty and respect seem to lead to high levels of trust, which are necessary for employees to actively engage in the successful execution of the compliance

strategy. Thus, the transcultural management approach partly seems to have been put in place already.

Furthermore, when analyzing the interviews, one interesting commonality between the interviewees became apparent: Both interview partners, holding leading management positions in the compliance departments of their respective companies either grew up abroad or had international working experience with high-risk groups or in the field of international mergers and acquisitions. It seems that these experiences made them more sensitive to the need to take into account cultural differences when implementing and working with group-wide standardized compliance measures.

We are in the process of harmonizing and aligning it [the compliance department] with the parent company, to the extent possible and necessary in light of different business models and related risk profiles. From my point of view, that makes total sense. As a matter of fact, it is the parent company that sets the tone in matters of global importance and reach. That's where the strategic decisions are made and are then cascaded down to and implemented at the level of subsidiaries. Still, national specifics are taken into account.

This competence seems of high importance in globally-acting compliance departments, as decision-making in this context requires sure instincts since no situation is quite like another one, and there has to be room left for adaptation to local values.

With regard to integrity management, we were able to derive from the interviews that both firms emphasized the importance of embedding integrity and integrity-related values into their corporate cultures and of sensitizing their staff to integer decision making in the business context. Thus, our interview partners were well aware of the importance of their employees' intrinsic motivation as well as the importance of strengthening their employees' mindsets in terms of integrity-related attitudes. Therefore, they engaged in dialogue with the employees and introduced measures to trigger learning processes. Thanks to these measures, the companies aim to raise levels of awareness on integrity-related issues, respect, honesty, authenticity and build a stronger sense of accountability/taking responsibility. These values are also identified to be relevant in a transcultural setting. Thus, by aligning various personal values that, altogether, can contribute to integrity among staff, a shared understanding of an other-

wise rather abstract and thus thin description of integrity can be achieved, whilst still allowing for local interpretations:

There can't be "the same" understanding of integrity across regions, because this understanding depends greatly on how certain values are interpreted locally.

Hence, by strengthening this mindset within the firm, levels of transcultural competence among the staff are expected to rise as well. Based upon our findings, this could be confirmed, as the interview partners at management level already seemed to embody high levels of transcultural competence. This finding will be described in detail in the following chapter, when analyzing leadership traits of transculturally competent leaders. Table 4 provides an overview of the measures and processes described above.

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Leading by example and being a reliable contact person for employees	Creating a sphere of trust through authenticity, transparency and honesty
	Personal interviews by leaders of the compliance department in the internal newsletter	Bringing staff closer together, creating a sense of togetherness
	Compliance rules and regulations can be interpreted by the leaders and can – within a certain range – be adapted to the needs of the situation	Facilitates individual learning processes; leaders engage with each case and take responsibility
	Implementation of a direct line between leader and employees of the compliance department with monthly update calls	Creates a platform for shared understanding and fosters com- munication
	Managers in Compliance and Integrity put emphasis on leading by example and thus, motivate other leaders to do the same	Strengthen the willingness to take responsibility whether for own tasks or for cross-departmental issues
	Organizing meetings for the entire department on compliance and integrity issues	Build a sense of togetherness and raise identification with the com- pany's values

Table 4: Findings on Transcultural Learning – Compliance and Integrity Management

	Be transparent, honest and reliable as a leader	Raise awareness for integrity- related values and pass this behavior on to the employees, bottom-up approach for integrity
Organizational level	Regular team meetings for a better understanding of the compliance strategy	Foster shared experiences and common learning processes, raises levels of trust
	Use of new media channels to foster the employees' interest in compliance topics	Raise awareness for compliance issues and communicate values behind the regulations
	The main part of the set of rules in compliance can to some degree be adapted to the local context	Give room for diversity, communicates equality of cultures, promotes sense of togetherness
	Implementation of new media types to enhance knowledge on compliance	Communicate values and knowledge across cultures
	Use of case studies in compliance training to encourage knowledge transfer processes	Creating a shared understanding among the staff and raises levels of self-identification with regula- tions
	Adaptation of training material to each target group	Improves learning experience and creates a higher level of allegiance among the groups
	Open dialogues to discuss the meaning of integrity	Create shared experiences and consequently a shared under- standing of integrity among staff
	High levels of global participation in creation of integrity manage- ment strategy	Collective definition of integrity led to a globally-shared under- standing and strong global involvement
	Creation of a training material toolbox that is highly adaptable to the context of the user and the target group	Use of case studies raises aware- ness, relation to context of partici- pants leads to shared understand- ing, through adaptation to each target group, each group has a uniquely connecting experience
	Use of a mobile device application to raise awareness of integrity in a business context, specifically built for the needs and back- ground of the company	Personal learning experience helps to develop higher levels of awareness and more sensitivity among staff to integrity-related issues

Source: Own representation.

4.4 Transcultural Leadership Traits: Growing Closer Together Through Common Values

During the analysis of the interviews, one additional subchapter was added, namely this one on leadership traits. When analyzing the interviews, we found that, although in some cases the structural background within the companies didn't particularly favour transcultural management processes, some interview partners did incorporate character traits that allowed them to manage highly effectively across cultures. Hence, to be able to describe and specify the information on this potential discrepancy, the subchapter on leadership traits of a transculturally competent leader was added. During the project, one aspect became evident: Even when the management structures in the departments of the interviewees did not explicitly promote transcultural management, the leaders themselves seemed to possess some of the competences of a transculturally competent leader. Therefore, the aim of this subchapter is to give a brief introduction to the underlying concept of transcultural competence and analyze the interviewees' character traits in this regard.

Transcultural leadership aims to facilitate the creation and implementation of commonalities throughout global organizations. Thus, a transculturally competent leader would be able to recognize, manage and use the diverse values and ideas within a company. The development of the concept of transcultural leadership is based on nine fundamental values that are understood to be globally accepted, namely: respect, empowerment, integrity, protection, cooperation, ethical leadership, fairness, development of people and sustainability (Moehrer et al.: 2015). Therefore, derived from these guiding values, a transculturally competent leader should be able to see and treat others respectfully and be open to other opinions, ideas and values. In this context, international experience seems to influence awareness regarding diversity. As such, it can be considered a key factor for building this competence. Following the concept of transculturality, one way to allow for diverse ideas in a business context would be to leave room for local adaptation when introducing new processes and instruments. Furthermore, according to our understanding, a transculturally competent leader should place strong emphasis on supporting others, on fostering individual integrity, on cooperating with colleagues and on nurturing fairness amongst his staff. Based on these personal traits, a leader would be expected to support the creation of a shared understanding of values among his or her team.

Hence, the objective of the analysis is to understand whether the values mentioned above play a role within the leadership concepts observed during the interviews with the representatives of the two companies and whether other values were identified as being important by the interviewees when asked for qualities of a "good" leader. From the nine values of transculturally competent leaders stated above, more than half of them were confirmed to be important in international working environments. Additionally, in one firm, empathy, international experience, authenticity and trust-building were listed as relevant for successful workplace experience. In the other, the interview partners named respect and empowering others as being important values for successful cooperation within teams. As a consequence of the global dialogues that were organized in the company, the interview partner gained deeper insights into values related to integrity on a global scale. Based on the findings, they worked on strengthening the employees' respect towards each other and their sense of appreciation for their colleagues' work. As the interviewee personally emphasized the focus on cooperation within the team in order to show appreciation for their co-workers, it could be concluded that both, respect and appreciation of others, have a positive effect on cooperation levels within teams

In conclusion, among the interview partners, high levels of personal transcultural competence, based on the assumptions mentioned above, could be identified. One important prerequisite of becoming transculturally competent seems to be international experience. Through this change of perspective that the interview partners experienced by spending time abroad, they seemed to have gained the ability to empathize with other parties to a very high degree. In some cases, this was supported by existing management structures, but in any case, it helped the interviewees to translate their intention or objective in a way that was better understood and accepted by the other party. Through authenticity, honesty, transparency and high levels of self-awareness, the interview partners managed to be credible in their decisions, which seemed to lead to higher levels of trust and a higher willingness to cooperate on the side of the employees. These findings are listed in Table 5.

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Be authentic, reliable and honest and live up to your own values, create a culture of speaking up	Building trust $\rightarrow$ through higher levels of trust, cooperation within the company can be raised
	Act as a role model and stand up for others and their needs	Create a respectful environment for the team and implement open communication
	Respecting and empowering colleagues	Be the first to cooperate with others and lead by example
	Work on one's own awareness and sensitivity towards others through self-experience and training	Be empathetic and able to put yourself into someone else's shoes
	Be transparent about your own actions and communicate your values openly	Fostering the employees' personal integrity and creating a shared understanding

Table 5: Findings on Transcultural Learning – Focus Area Leadership Traits

Source: Own representation.

#### 5. Findings from the Field: Insights from India and Singapore

In the following, we will begin by outlining the significant challenges that the two firms are currently facing followed by reflecting on the status quo of transculturality and transcultural learning processes in business operations in India and Singapore based on our research findings.

India and Singapore are both multicultural countries and hence pose significant diversity challenges for firms with subsidiaries there. One such challenge is the management of cultural differences and varying preferences while handling business operations, including relationship management of both internal and external stakeholders. For example, in one company the focus seemed to be more on creating and sustaining fruitful stakeholder relationships outside the organization whereas in the other company, creating and fostering collaboration among diverse working groups within the company is observed as a significant challenge.

Bearing these challenges in mind, we will now turn to our findings in the selected focus areas.

5.1 Corporate Culture and Values: Fostering a Culture to Facilitate Collaboration and Growth

Within the project, our purpose was to understand how corporate culture is perceived, implemented and to what extent and in what forms transcultural learning can be observed. Correspondingly, we interpret from our analysis that companies strive to achieve and develop a culture that promotes commitment towards a collaborative way of working. Hence, on an individual level, effective collaboration can be deduced to be a starting point for a transcultural learning process. One of the interviewees reflected on the firm's willingness to promote an open and transparent culture as a means to reconcile differences. Through various measures and initiatives, employees are encouraged to voice their opinions whenever they disagree with their team or manager, for example, regarding the so-called "Yes, sir" or traditional hierarchical organizational culture. An organizational initiative to overcome the challenge in this context is to encourage healthy conflict management across all levels by promoting an open culture rather than a culture that respects power and position, as illustrated by the quote below.

There must be constant healthy conflict management across hierarchy; without conflict there is no progress.

Furthermore, the firms are also seen to be dedicated to drive such initiatives through formal measures. For example, one such initiative to be rolled out soon is "reverse mentoring." Under this process, top management representatives are supposed to have local mentors from lower levels of hierarchy. The basic idea behind the initiative is to promote the sharing of knowledge across management levels, as illustrated by the following quote.

All our top management will soon have a mentor who is from a lower level in the hierarchy for the purposes of knowledge exchange related to new global trends such as digitalization, social media.

We can summarize that, according to our findings, a transcultural learning process can be described as an ability and willingness to share knowledge and experience to promote a collaborative way of working. There seem to be initiatives that promote learning by enabling employees to integrate and connect freely with diverse groups. In Table 6 below, we summarize the key findings for the focus area Corporate Culture and Values.

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Promote a collaborative way of thinking and working	Create a shared bond across cul- tures and hierarchy in organization
	Homogenize values by communi- cating and respecting differences	Embrace diversity
	Committed to enabling employees to be the 'voice of reason'	Overcome the culture of "Yes Sir"; be globally competitive
Organizational level	Retain diverse group of new millennia talents and collaborate efficiently.	Reduce uncertainty and attain high level of commitment
	Encourage healthy conflict man- agement by promoting an open culture rather than a culture that respects power and position	Create a bond among varying cultures $\rightarrow$ enable staff to integrate and connect freely with diverse groups
	Initiatives like "reverse mentoring" (people development) where the top management representatives are supposed to have a mentor from a lower level in the hierarchy.	Promote knowledge sharing across hierarchy; respect and equality.

# Table 6: Findings on Transcultural Learning – Focus Area Corporate Culture and Values

Source: Own representation.

# 5.2 Global HR and Diversity Management: Managing Change as a Key to Success

Finding a right talent, training employees to strengthen their professional development, managing work culture, embracing diversity, resolving conflicts, managing the relations between employees and towards external and internal stakeholders are just a few of the tasks and responsibilities associated with global human resources departments. The effective management of the aforementioned responsibilities can be perceived as a reflection of our changing world. Correspondingly, during the interviews, the companies' representatives described their awareness of the fact that

individuals in the organization need to recognize how the workplace is changing and evolving. Through various measures, companies seem to focus on establishing processes and practices that enable multi-cultural cooperation. Furthermore, initiatives that can help to promote multi-cultural cooperation include constant dialogues, open communication systems, as well as a cultural exchange to spread awareness about cross-cultural behavior, as illustrated by the following quotes from the interviewees:

We promote constant dialogue and communication with the employees to create awareness about change.

We send our people very frequently to Germany because they are part of a German organization. They go there for more extended periods, sometimes for a whole year, and work within German departments, and they know how it works and when they come back, they are precisely in line with the 'thinking philosophy' of the company.

The organization perceives that employee integration programs (e.g., formal cultural training and exchange dialogues) enable individuals to be committed to the rules of the organization. One of the interviewees' mentions that "classroom training" plays a crucial role in managing staffs. Nevertheless, the training programs are not understood to be the only source of managing cultural change; the strategy is to enable employees to recognize opportunities to learn when they participate in conversations on a global level. In this context, one interviewee talked about a formal organizational process, namely the 70-20-10 principle, which they followed to make sure that overall learning and development takes place for an individual, as exemplified by the following quote.

Classroom training only has a 10% impact. If there is any training or proper development to be done then the 70-20-10 approach is realistic, i.e., 70% is always on the job; 20% on working in projects and 10% through training. The language Institute takes care of the 10%, or we also have language courses in our company. With language employees also learn about the new culture. However, that is only 10%; the bulk, the 70%, happens when they go to other countries and work with the international teams.

Initiatives such as training programs on conflict management play a crucial role in motivating individuals to communicate and collaborate authentically. The interviewee's basic underlying assumption observed during the discussion is that positively resolving conflicts can lead to muchimproved professional and personal relationships. Moreover, an initiative such as emotional intelligence (EI), which can help to develop a selfmanagement technique to deal with complex situations, was also mentioned, as illustrated by the following quote.

We have training programs for managing the different priorities and ways of working of our employees; one is conflict management, and the other is emotional intelligence (EI).

Based on our findings, gender-related issues are one of the prime focuses of diversity management. The interview partners at management level seem to be committed to embracing diversity and respecting individual differences through initiatives aimed at empowering women and achieving gender equality. Interviewees showed their global attitude by mentioning that companies have much to gain by hiring women and thereby respecting gender diversity and need to go the extra mile to retain them; which can be illustrated by the quotes below.

We try to establish women more and more in work positions. For example, last time we set a target that 30-40% of newly recruited employees should be women.

We do have individual initiatives for women on how to demonstrate executive presence along with skills to handle pressure.

Women-focused initiatives at an individual level seem to help create a sense of security and togetherness, whereas at an organizational level there are training programs to enable women employees to handle responsibilities of executives or leaders and not only junior staff members. Simultaneously, with an intent to uphold gender equality the firm is also seen to focus on training male employees through programs that facilitate the behavioral skills and encourage respectful collaboration among working groups, as illustrated by the following quote.

We do have training programs for male employees to make sure they behave in a way that makes the women in the workforce comfortable to discuss [issues/problems] freely. We deduce that companies with initiatives like "reverse mentoring" can reconcile differences both at an informal and formal level. It seems to allow generational differences to be reconciled by tailoring management practices through exchange of an individual's strengths, personalities, and aspirations. With a motive to create the best talent pool, organizations need to hire staff that can be up to three to five generations of employees working together. Moreover, they may have a mixture of other diversity structures. Each of these groups will have its motivations and aspirations as illustrated by the following quotes.

Today maybe we have 30% of people who are younger than 30, but later maybe there will be 70% of people of a young age.

Down the hierarchy people are young and they are ready to change, whereas top management would also need to adjust to new trends. For example, as an initiative, we are starting "reverse mentoring" now.

Working with older employees and trying to balance their aspirations with different diversity structures.

Apparently, the initiatives mentioned above tend to have a positive impact on organizational success, by helping people to respect differences and look for opportunities to cooperate. In Table 7, we summarize the key findings for the focus area Global Human Resources and Diversity Management.

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Help employees identify and resolve conflict within the workgroup	Improved professional and per- sonal relationships
	Learning through different/ conflicting viewpoints while managing employee relations	Respect differences in opinion
	Empathizing and sharing motiva- tions of diverse groups	Create a sense of togetherness

### Table 7: Findings on Transcultural Learning – Focus Area Global HR and Diversity Management

Organizational level	Region-specific programs/ initiatives to enable staffs to compete globally	Promote a sense of togetherness through people management pro- grams that enable knowledge shar- ing and collaborative learning
	Endorse cultural cooperation through various initiatives such as constant dialogues, open commu- nication systems, and cultural ex- change, as well as spread aware- ness of cross-cultural behavior	Enable staffs to respect differences in opinions and preferences
	Training programs on conflict management and emotional intel- ligence	Motivate individuals to be authentic; develop a self- management technique to deal with complex situations
	Women-focused initiative to retain them by recognizing and prioritizing their motivations and aspirations	Equal opportunities → empower- ment of women
	Training programs for women to develop skills to handle pressure	Strengthen commonalities; reconcile differences
	Training programs for male employees to develop their behavioral skills to enable respectful collaboration among diverse team members	Gender equality

Source: Own representation.

## 5.3 Compliance and Integrity Management: Staying Connected to Achieve Organizational Integrity

In this section, our purpose is to understand the transcultural aspects of the work of the compliance and integrity department and to what extent the department engages in the transcultural learning process. In conclusion, we intend to present the facts and processes which show or reflect some of the aspects of transculturality within our cases. In the light of our research question, we can confirm that transcultural measures and practices are seen to exist partially in the interviewees' responses about the impact of globalization towards the compliance and integrity role and functions. Company representatives from both locations, India and Singapore, acknowledged that globalization had made work more accessible and the existence of their role as a compliance manager is due to the demands of internationalization. During the discussions with the interviewees from India and Singapore, we gained the impression that the compliance related awareness programs enable effective collaboration among staffs working in different parts of the world. The programs on international level help gaining a shared understanding about the anti-bribery and anti-corruption topics, as the following quote illustrates.

We have boosted our activities in relation to awareness through campaigns across the globe. The awareness activities have shown positive results, also due to the fact that people in different parts of the world can now engage more easily with each other on such topics as they have the same underlying understanding as a result of these campaigns.

In the context of our sample, the compliance management system refers to the specific guidelines which promote shared norms/rules and are common to all parties; this acts as an enabler for employees to take decisions and reduces the chance of uncertainty. A well designed communication system (e.g., online and face-to-face training programs, dilemma games) is considered to be one of the most important criteria for the effectiveness of compliance management system. A well-designed system also maximizes the individual's abilities to communicate effectively and efficiently that seems to create receptiveness among staffs. An effective communication system can hence be assessed as a firm's long-term investment to enable continuity of cooperation.

When we talk about implementing compliance/business ethics in day to day business, it requires much communication. The only way to do it is to be connected and make people at ease while we are talking. This helps create receptiveness and supports implementation of the processes for a long term.

The compliance officer is most competent when he or she is in direct interaction and communication with the staff on compliance related topics.

The communication system can be derived as an essential tool for spreading awareness about the needs and benefits of being compliant and for ensuring continuity of cooperation. There are signs of willingness to recognize local needs and respect differences as the parent company appeared to be tolerant of the local requirements that were different to those in their home country. Increased ability of individuals to communicate effectively is also seen to reconcile cultural differences by promoting respect for diversity. Accordingly, various practices such as integrity dialogues, town hall meetings etc. seem to create such cooperative environments that help develop a sustainable compliance culture.

Activities such as integrity dialogues, external speakers, town hall meetings, the tone from the top, email information and a message from CEOs/CFOs help develop a sustainable compliance culture.

However, the transition from compliance to integrity is something that is new and is considered to be vital to be globally competent, which seems to be a significant challenge:

Transcending from compliance to integrity is something which is challenging and new, both for organizations and individuals, and we have successfully achieved the same.

However, various initiatives such as tone from the top and external guest speakers are seen to play a crucial role in enabling successful transition. As part of these initiatives, dialogue exchange is promoted with expert speakers; people who are known for their high integrity from the field of sport, for example, to learn how they handle conflict and situations of moral dilemma. Furthermore, it is worth mentioning that subsequently, proper due diligence is a prerequisite for selecting partners, a well-supported whistle-blowing policy and independent compliance managers who can perform their duties are considered to be pillars of successful compliance and integrity management.

The first pillar is a proper due diligence process for selecting an organizational partner. The second would be a whistle-blowing system; one should have a stable and robust compliance management system. The third is continuous risk assessment and freedom for a compliance manager to perform his/her duties.

Furthermore, there should be platforms for sharing knowledge, and compliance managers should be invited to international meetings. To ensure the effectiveness of local programs, the vision discussed at the global level should be articulated transparently at the local level. Local (country-specific) compliance managers' engagement in global compliance meetings is one of the important aspects for management's compliance message to get through in a meaningful way.

Table 8 summarizes the key findings for the focus area Compliance and Integrity Management.

# Table 8: Findings on Transcultural Learning – Focus Area Compliance and Integrity Management

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Spread awareness about needs and benefits of being compliant	Raise awareness about compliance issues and trigger a shared learn- ing process
	Stay connected with departments and subsidiaries	Communicate knowledge and values across culture
	Self-commitment towards provid- ing appropriate training sessions to sensitize employees to organi- zational values	Enables and promotes an integral way of thinking
Organizational level	Efficient communication system	Foster shared experiences and collective learning processes
	Human Resources integration initiatives enable compliance manager to travel to subsidiaries and spread awareness about com- pliance	Raise awareness of compliance issues across the hierarchy
	Awareness programs via online and face-to-face training programs and (moral) dilemma games	Improvement of learning experi- ences creates a higher level of adherence among the groups
	An efficient due-diligence process before selecting local business partners	Creating a shared understanding among employees $\rightarrow$ open com- munication $\rightarrow$ transparency
	Develop an expected culture of	Avoid the risk of fraud
	compliance and Integrity through various initiatives such as integrity dialogues (open communication) and external guest speakers, town-hall meetings, the tone from	Make employees aware of and sensitive to global and organiza- tional expectations
	the top, regular email exchanges, messages from CEO/CFO	

Source: Own representation.

5.4 Transcultural Leadership Traits: Facilitating Authentic Collaboration

Of the nine values of transculturally competent leaders described in chapter 4.6, almost all of them were confirmed to be important to both Indian and Singaporean corporate leaders. Additionally, agility, authentic collaboration and the ability to embrace change are seen as important competences for successful cross-border cooperation. There seems to be a willingness among leaders to collaborate and create a working culture in which the ability to embrace change is as natural as breathing.

As far as business is concerned, there are no boundaries. We are powerful enough to make the situation work out the way we want it to, and that is a cultural power. We should be willing to collaborate authentically.

It was quite noticeable that the interviewee quoted above recognizes that organizational leadership is most effective only when leaders empower others to be their best selves, as illustrated by these quotes:

We must collaborate to make sure we partner in creating a better world.

The strategy should be collaborative, and the firm should be committed to overall people development by empowering talents.

As an employee in a leading management role, the interviewee deliberately outlined the competence to appreciate and embrace change as an important factor for collaborating across borders, as further illustrated by this quote:

The mantra is; accept the change, embrace the change and see the opportunity for change. One thing is evident: business is not for local benefit only, but it is for global impact. The impact should be positive.

Furthermore, the interviewee also shared the gained learning experiences on "how leadership can be effective". The interviewee mirrored leadership as a source of value generation by the ability to learn and to evolve while managing inter-sectoral and cross-functional organizational processes. According to this interviewee, there are several leadership competencies which can ensure the continuity of collaboration. First is an agile approach to achieving a goal, i.e., one should have flexibility in one's work habits, and should also be willing to adapt to current requirements while working in a team. A second competency is an approach that focuses on people development. According to the interviewee, this shared approach is the key to growing together (collaborator). Thirdly, a leader should be able to recognize and accept their staff's different ways of working styles. The interviewee stresses that this is only possible if the first and second approaches are followed up by a moral sense of responsibility, as illustrated by this quote.

First and foremost is supposed to be an agile approach to achieving goals. Secondly, people development through a collaborative approach. Thirdly, empower people by welcoming their way of working.

We conclude that being agile while collaborating with diverse groups has a positive effect on team cooperation when working at a transcultural level. Table 9 summarizes the key findings for the focus area Leadership Traits.

	Measure/Process	Goal
Individual level	Enable staff to look beyond the obvious by collaborating authen- tically	Being empathetic and able to put yourself in someone else's shoes
	Be committed to empowering others to be their best selves	Be the first to collaborate with others and lead by example to ensure continuity of cooperation
	Encourage and help individuals focus on developing leadership competencies	Foster employee capability and create a culture of shared respon- sibility
	Promote an agile work culture and habits	Promote a flexible work environ- ment $\rightarrow$ Enable staff to be their authentic selves
	Focus on people development by embracing diversity.	Reconcile or manage differences effectively.

#### Table 9: Findings on Transcultural Learning – Focus Area Leadership Traits

Source: Own representation.

#### 6. Comparison of German, Indian and Singaporean Insights

In the following chapter, we compare the findings from the German, Indian and Singaporean perspectives. We begin by comparing the overall challenges faced by the companies in the distinct regions and continue by comparing the focus areas per region. The emphasis of the comparison of the focus areas lies on the measures applied to engage in transcultural learning.

#### 6.1 Comparison of Main Challenges

In Germany, both companies mostly face challenges regarding the growing complexity of processes within the company for several reasons. For company A, adapting to the Europe-based parent company led to challenges regarding the alignment of departments and processes. The company's history meant there was a certain resistance among staff to adapt to a new corporate culture, which requires certain instincts from leaders. In company B, the integration of smaller companies coming on board after various mergers and acquisitions led to similar challenges as there was not only a clash in national culture, but also in professional cultures. Additionally, the ongoing internationalization required more flexibility from the European headquarters, especially regarding the applicability of their strategies abroad.

In the Indian and Singaporean scenarios, the challenges identified can be assessed as similar to the German organizations in a sense that the companies in all three locations (Germany, India and Singapore) are finding ways for effective collaboration with their partners and stakeholders. However, the scope for such cooperative intervention seems to be slightly different, and there is a possibility that this is due to differences in needs and changing priorities of the national and professional cultures. In company A, the challenge was seen to be more towards relationship management with external stakeholders (for example, collaboration with a stakeholder who is a family-owned business) while in company B, managing change by strengthening relationships within the organization among diverse working groups was seen to be significant. Moreover, we conclude that at the time of the interviews, the German companies were seen to be involved more in managing organizational level challenges similar
to those facing the Singaporean firm while the Indian subsidiary was more focused on the employee-driven initiatives.

# 6.2 Comparison of the Focus Area Corporate Culture and Values

As stated before, work in the field of corporate culture in Germany is mainly focused on aligning values and processes after a takeover or merger or integrating smaller companies that have been added to a group following a merger.

However, in both companies, transcultural learning processes have been triggered on an individual as well as an organizational level. It is merely the internal challenge to which these measures were applied that differs. In Germany, even at a strategic level, an elevated level of transcultural awareness could be identified, since the company's strategy regarding its corporate culture set out to create a shared understanding regarding corporate values among its workforce. Therefore, company-wide leadership programs are implemented, platforms for open dialogue are set up and various measures to raise awareness of corporate values among staff are introduced.

In Asian interviews, corporate culture is not only perceived as an important strategy to be implemented, but also as a means to an end. Through the implementation of the corporate culture of the group, the company tries, on the one hand, to promote a more collaborative working style among its staff. On the other hand, it aims to improve its conflict management. Furthermore, leaders in India and Singapore seem to be very committed to promoting an open and transparent culture by encouraging employees to voice their opinion whenever there is a disagreement. To achieve this goal, formal measures at both the individual and organizational level are implemented. Moreover, it seems that the initiatives taken at organizational level are strongly driven by the personal engagement of management/leaders.

# 6.3 Comparison of the Focus Areas Global HR and Diversity Management

In Germany, global human resources management and diversity management play a key role in the companies interviewed in this research project. They are given high priority, which manifests itself in the institutionalization of their measures and their position in the companies' internal structures.

The main challenge for the companies in Germany, as described in previous paragraphs, is to align different departments in the course of ongoing post-merger-integration processes. Hence, the focus in these departments is to offer various platforms for the exchange of knowledge, departmental meetings and huddles, learning platforms and open dialogue. Due to the crucial importance of the success of post-merger-integration at a personal level, a lot of measures are introduced at an organizational level and have the support of the companies' top management. Nevertheless, also at an individual level, high levels of awareness of these issues can be noted. Thus, leaders are attempting to act as role models and show raised levels of engagement regarding the initiation of (transcultural) learning processes among their employees.

In Germany, the diversity of the workforce and the environment of the company already seems to be accepted; in Asia, diversity is well acknowledged, too. However, strengthening the willingness and ability of employees to cooperate requires strong engagement from the company. In Germany, the main focus of the work of the diversity department is to make diversity within the company visible and to strengthen the position of minorities such as the LGBTQ community. Additionally, the company's position on diversity is being made public through specific marketing campaigns targeting various cultural minorities in society.

In Asia, the interviewees seem to be committed to embracing their multicultural and diverse working environment and to displaying the potential it provides towards their employees. However, according to the findings from the interviews, the cultural clashes provoked by this diversity still lead to challenges in daily working practices. Additionally, we found measures to raise acceptance and respect for diversity were more at an individual rather than an organizational level. Thus, the effect and success of these measures may strongly depend on the attitudes and personal development of the managers/leaders in charge. Nevertheless, programs and initiatives are being developed to strengthen the position of, for example, women. Furthermore, training sessions are being offered to raise awareness on differences and train intercultural competence among staff. In the context of our research question, especially training on empathy and solution-orientated working practices can be interpreted as a first step towards transcultural management, although the major focus still lies on developing intercultural competence.

# 6.4 Comparison of the Focus Areas Compliance and Integrity Management

On the German side, compliance and integrity management departments seem to be well established. In one company, there was even a separated integrity department set up a few years ago. According to our findings, the main challenge for compliance and integrity management in Germany is to raise awareness on how to implement and handle values-related differences regarding ethical and compliant behavior in other countries. Additionally, reaching the necessary level of flexibility to ensure the applicability of the compliance and integrity management systems developed in Europe still poses a challenge. In this regard, not only does applicability need to be ensured, but also the integration of local traditions and values in order to allow for acceptance of the regulations at the local subsidiary.

However, these challenges are already known to the interviewees. In both companies, the interviewees have implemented processes to foster transcultural learning, not only at an individual level, but also at an organizational one. The goals of these measures are, on the one hand, to create a trustful working environment across borders that brings the staff closer together, and, on the other, to initiate common learning processes regarding the values represented by the compliance and integrity management concept of the company.

As already mentioned in the previous section, in India and Singapore, the main challenge seems to be the management of stakeholder relationships in accordance to compliance policies of the firm. Through various individual and organizational initiatives, the interviewees were seen to focus on changing their partners' mindsets and developing an understanding on the need for, and concepts of, compliance regulations. The goals of these measures are fostering a collaborative learning process and ensuring continuity in cooperation.

Moreover, on organizational level, high levels of engagement by the headquarter can be noted in the development of the global compliance strategy, in order to integrate the local perspective into compliance guidelines. The aim of this engagement is to ensure greater discretion / room for manoeuvre for Asian leaders when it comes to implementing and adapting compliance strategies to their local context. Furthermore, many platforms for exchange within the Indian and Singaporean subsidiary are offered to allow open communication and to enable staff to identify with these values, as well as with the corporate compliance and integrity strategy.

## 6.5 Comparison of the Focus Area Transcultural Leadership Traits

Most similarities between the German, Indian and Singaporean perspective could be identified in the section on leadership traits. Almost all of the competences considered to be of importance for a transculturally competent leader could be identified in all three regions.

Almost all interviewees stated the importance of empowering their employees and raising levels of cooperation and collaboration. The interviewees were committed to respecting different opinions and working as transparently as possible. Another aspect named by interviewees in all regions is the willingness by employees to work on their own personal development and sensitivity towards ethical questions and interpersonal conflicts. These should be treated with empathy and honest communication. Furthermore, all interviewees showed high levels of commitment and personal integrity.

Additionally, interviewees in all regions work in a very solutionorientated manner and with a strong focus on their employees' personal development. In doing so, they trigger and foster transcultural learning processes. However, so far, the interviewees mainly act individually and have the greatest impact through the image they project when acting as a role model within the organization.

#### 7. Conclusion and Implications for Future Research

The main objective of the research project *Transcultural Management in Global Firms* was to understand and describe the status quo of transcultural management in selected focus areas of two global firms, operating in Germany as well as India and Singapore. The selected focus areas were Corporate Culture and Values, Global Human Resources, Diversity Management, Compliance Management, Integrity Management and Leadership Traits. In order to describe the status quo of transcultural management within the aforementioned focus areas, we conducted case study research, which mainly consisted of interviews with company representatives, as well as document analysis. The insights revealed during the interviews pointed to a common theme across the cases, namely social and organizational learning processes. Therefore, we decided to focus our interview analysis and the derivation of our findings particularly on transcultural learning, which we conceive to be an inherent element of transcultural management.

The case study research comprises two cases (company A and company B), which represent two globally operating firms: Company A, which has its headquarter in Germany and its parent company in another European country; interviews were conducted with representatives from company sites in Germany and Singapore. Company B, which has its headquarters in Germany; interviews were conducted with representatives from company sites in Germany and India. The interviews were conducted with representatives from different departments, namely global human resources, diversity management, compliance management and integrity management.

To introduce the reader to the field and explain the conceptual basis of our research, we outlined the major theoretical conceptions behind transcultural management and transcultural learning in Chapter 2 of this report. Following that, we introduced the research question, the methodology and the sample in Chapter 3. To understand and describe transcultural management and transcultural learning in the selected firms and focus areas, we geared our research to the following question: To what extent and in what form can transcultural management and transcultural learning be observed and described in the selected focus areas? As a result of our explorative interviews, we were able to shed light on the status quo of transcultural management and transcultural learning in globally acting companies. Among other insights, we discovered that even though transcultural management and transcultural learning focus on creating and strengthening commonalities, differences still matter. As Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner convincingly claim, "[i]n understanding the other's intentions, and perhaps signalling your understanding, you take the first step towards developing a shared meaning with your partner" (2012: 244). Building on that idea, research suggests understanding transcultural learning as a sequence of steps (cf. Wieland 2014, 2016):

- Recognize existing differences: Embrace a defensive, non-normative attitude in order to observe and analyze differences; the overarching goal is not necessarily to overcome differences, but rather to develop awareness regarding "otherness" and to adopt a non-judgmental attitude and behavior.
- Recognize and strengthen existing commonalities: Be curious and learn about existing commonalities. Strengthen those commonalities through dialogue, interaction and shared experiences.
- Create new commonalities: Invest in common experiences in order to develop and strengthen new commonalities based on common perspectives.

During our case study research, we found indicators for each of the three steps in the different focus areas and regions, which is described more in detail in the findings in Chapters 4 and 5, for the European (Germany) and Asian (India and Singapore) perspectives respectively. To facilitate a regional comparison between the findings per focus area, we developed a conceptual table. In this table, we first outline key findings per focus area regarding transcultural learning measures at both the individual and the organizational level, while naming the overarching transcultural goal of that measure. Second, we use the tables as a basis for our regional comparison, which is described in Chapter 6 of this report.

In conclusion, with this field project Transcultural Management in Global Firms we aimed to understand the status quo of transcultural management in globally operating corporations. This status quo analysis is the first study of this kind and we hope to inspire both business representatives and researchers to conduct further research in the field. This study should be considered a modest contribution to the conceptualization of transcultural management and transcultural learning, as we suggest interpreting the presented findings as indicators of these phenomena. However, one must be aware of the rather limited representativeness of the findings, given the scope of the project with only two cases in the sample. In the comparison in Chapter 6 of this report, we focused on the main themes per focus area that became apparent when analyzing the findings per region. While taking into consideration the overall challenges of the companies under observation, we were able to highlight the main differences and commonalities per focus area with regard to transcultural learning measures and processes. However, we suggest conducting further case study research, based on multiple case studies, which would allow more in-depth cross-case findings on the topic to be derived. This would enable researchers to derive even more representative findings on transcultural management and transcultural learning in globally operating firms.

#### References

- Hofstede, G. (2001): Cultures consequences: Comparing values, behaviors, institutions and organizations across nations, 2nd edition, Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- Hofstede, G., Hofstede, G. J. & Minkov, M. (2010): Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind; intercultural cooperation and its importance for survival, 3rd edition, New York et al.: McGraw-Hill.
- Leisinger, K. M. (2015): Context matters. 'Thick' and 'thin' in corporate responsibility discourses, in: Fetzer, J., Baumann Montecinos, J. (eds.), Freiheit Würde Nachhaltigkeit. European Business Ethics. Forum Wirtschaftsethik, Jahresschrift des DNWE 2014, 22, Berlin: Deutsches Netzwerk Wirtschaftsethik EBEN Deutschland e.V, 41-42.
- Möhrer, M., Pillath, M., Simmank, F. & Suurendonk, M. (2015): Transculturalism and leadership excellence. Evaluation of the transcultural profiler. Retrieved December 22, 2016 from http://www.transculturalcaravan.org/ wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Möhrer Suurendonk\_Transculturalism-and-Leadership-Excellence.pdf.
- Point, S. & Singh, V. (2003): Defining and Dimensionalising Diversity: Evidence from Corporate Websites across Europe, in: European Management Journal, 21(6): 750-761.

- Transcultural Caravan (2016): Identifying what transcultural leaders are and how to shape them. Retrieved December 22, 2016 from http://www.transcultural-caravan.org/projects/identifying-what-transcultural-leaders-are-and-how-to-shape-them/.
- Trompenaars, F. & Hampden-Turner, C. (2012): Riding the Waves of Culture Understanding Diversity in Global Business, London: Nicholas Brealey Publishing.
- Walzer, M. (1996): Thick and thin: Moral argument at home and abroad, Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame.
- Welsch, W. (1999): Transculturality The puzzling form of cultures today. in: Featherstone, M. & Lash, S. (eds.): Spaces of culture: City, nation, world, London: SAGE, 194-213.
- Wieland, J. (2004): Handbuch Wertemanagement, Hamburg: Murmann Akademie.
- Wieland, J. (2010a): Global Economic Ethic as Transcultural Management, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. M. & Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto global economic ethic – Consequences and challenges for global businesses, München: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 208-222.
- Wieland, J. (2010b): How can we manage values? Practical guidelines, in: Küng, H., Leisinger, K. M. & Wieland, J. (eds.), Manifesto global economic ethic – Consequences and challenges for global businesses, München: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 223-280.
- Wieland, J. (2014): Governance ethics: Global value creation, economic organization and normativity, Cham: Springer International.
- Wieland, J. (2016): Transculturality and economic governance, in: Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (eds.), Transculturality – Leadership, management and governance, Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag, 12-32.
- Wieland, J. & Leisinger, K. M. (2016): Transculturality Leadership, management and governance. Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.

# University Education in Transcultural Competence

The Example of the Global Studies Projects at Zeppelin University

Josef Wieland and Julika Baumann Montecinos

The research program of Relational Economics and particularly the development of a concept of transcultural leadership is not only an ambitious conceptual agenda, but also offers the opportunity to apply and test these concepts within the framework of teaching and project formats at university. If students and their lecturers become involved in such formats of transcultural learning, then – that is the assumption, at least – this opens up the possibility of achieving new dimensions in acquiring competence and in managing the realities of globalization and global value creation. This claim is behind the Global Studies Projects, which are conducted in various different ways at the Leadership Excellence Institute of Zeppelin University and which follow this university's concept of liberal arts, namely one that focuses on the ambition to educate students to become generalists with comprehensive and interdisciplinary competence.

In addition to the important findings with regard to the applicability of the theoretical construct and the transfer to practice, such projects also provide feedback on the further development of the concept itself. A recursive loop of learning between theory and practice is created – with the understanding of transculturality as a polycontextual, polycontextural and polylingual phenomenon of relation-building serving as a central thread. On the basis of some concrete examples from the work of the Leadership Excellence Institute Zeppelin (LEIZ), this chapter aims to explain the suggestion of a further development in teaching in the sense of an integrated strategy of Global Studies Projects and towards the vision of a university as a truly global learning arena.

#### 1. Transcultural Leadership in a Relational Economy

In the theory of Relational Economics questions of global value creation and cooperation play an important role and are integrated into this research agenda in the form of the concept of transcultural leadership. Without the capacity for transcultural leadership, according to the basic thesis, the globalization of economy and society for mutual benefit cannot succeed. Such an understanding of leadership focuses on commonalities between cultures, which are strengthened and created through collaborative experiences and learning processes, and which serve as productive resources to facilitate beneficial interaction across cultural boundaries. The description and exploration of transcultural learning processes and leadership models as well as the corresponding transcultural competencies and governance structures are therefore an important part of LEIZ's research and teaching activities. Students and staff alike have the opportunity to deal with questions of transcultural leadership on an organizational or individual level, to sharpen their own inter- and transcultural competencies and to experience the multi-faceted possibilities of transcultural cooperation in a global context by means of case studies. The interdisciplinary orientation of the LEIZ plays an important role in this respect and enables fulfilment of its claim to understand transculturality as a method in the sense of a concept of Global Studies Projects. This intention to conduct interdisciplinary research on issues of governance and relation-building in times of global value creation, with transculturality serving as a subject of knowledge and, at the same time, as a method, and to thus provide impulses for the economy, politics and society, is realized within various project formats, which are briefly described below and which are all conducted under the umbrella of the so-called "Transcultural Caravan".

#### 2. Transcultural Caravan

The Transcultural Caravan is a platform that brings together both young and experienced researchers and representatives from practice from all over the world and supports them in exchanging and further developing, as well as connecting their ideas on global issues. As a website (www.trans cultural-caravan.org), it offers a lively hub with project presentations and calls, thematic contributions, event announcements, a blog and a lab, which is constantly evolving, and invites interested parties to participate actively. Students of Zeppelin University, students from other universities as well as representatives from practice thus have the opportunity to take part in the work on research questions in global contexts and within the framework of international research groups. This not only extends the scope of the research results, but also, and above all, broadens the horizons of the participants, particularly those of the students. This approach of transcultural and transdisciplinary project work aims to develop conventional research and teaching concepts further and to strengthen their global orientation. By way of example, two formats of the Transcultural Caravan will be presented: the Transcultural Leadership Summit and the Transcultural Student Research Groups.

#### 3. Transcultural Leadership Summit

The Transcultural Leadership Summit is an annual conference organized by students. Here, questions of transcultural leadership are discussed with international experts from academia and practice in keynote addresses, workshops and panel discussions each year with a new regional or countryspecific focus. To date, the summits have brought together guests from China (2016), Sub-Saharan Africa (2017) and Brazil (2018) and enabled them to network with the students, alumni and partners from industry and practice. At this event, the topic of transculturality is applied to cooperation potential in various areas such as urbanization, entrepreneurship, digitalization and integrity management. What is crucial here is the approach of learning from the representatives of the respective countries, who are regarded as experts for their local realities – which lies at the core of a transcultural attitude and is supposed to particularly and consistently manifest itself at the Transcultural Leadership Summit as a learning platform.

The organization of this expert conference, with around 200 participants, is implemented with a great deal of personal responsibility and commitment by a team of about 20 students. The students not only take on the organization of the event, but also the content design of the conference. They research and contact the speakers, plan and design workshops, invite participants and put together an appropriate social program. This gives them the opportunity to spend a period of about one year dealing with internationally-oriented research topics and performing practical leadership and team work, as well as taking on responsibility under the guidance of the LEIZ. The organization team is also prepared for the Summit by means of lectures and workshops, enabling them to gain insight into various areas and applications of the theory of transcultural leadership through in-house and external courses. In summary, the Transcultural Leadership Summit can be understood not only as an event for crosscultural exchange, but also as a holistic didactic concept for members of the student community and beyond.

#### 4. Transcultural Student Research Groups

An important component of the approach pursued within the framework of the Transcultural Caravan is to conduct not only theory-based surveys of transcultural phenomena in the global context, but also practice-oriented research that opens up new perspectives for both the researchers and the subject of research. Correspondingly, the Transcultural Leadership Summits have resulted in research projects in which Transcultural Student Research Groups work on globally relevant topics.

Following the 2016 Summit on China, a Transcultural Student Research Group came up with the research question "Transculturality or Hybridity? The Case of Hong Kong" and has since been researching Hong Kong's transcultural and hybrid relationships and practices in the fields of politics, economics, the arts, media, migration and behavioural ethics. The individual areas are further elaborated by students as part of their socalled Humboldt research projects or Bachelors or Masters theses, and are supervised by professors from appropriate Departments. Thus, this research group brings together students and professors from various study programs. The project lead within this research group is conducted by an Erasmus Mundus student from Hong Kong, who participated in the 2016 Transcultural Leadership Summit and developed his research idea with students and the LEIZ team. The research group itself is thus a transcultural construct made up of members of various nationalities and disciplines. As a milestone of their project, the research group spent a one-week research visit in Hong Kong to meet representatives of local organizations and universities. The results of the individual research projects are then prepared as part of a book publication and are merged with a view to addressing the common overarching research question. As a result of this transcultural experiment, this book does not become a conglomeration of individual contributions, but rather, like a mosaic, it provides an overall, common, picture.

Following on from the 2017 Summit, with the focus on the Sub-Saharan region, a research group was established in cooperation with the Ugandan Hope Development Initiative, whose founder and CEO was a speaker at the Summit. This interdisciplinary and transcultural research group conducts research bearing the title "Transculturality and Community. A case study on the Hope Development Initiative in Uganda", focusing on business, social entrepreneurship, politics & governance, civil society, culture & identity, digital transformation, leadership and arts & culture. For this purpose, a project cooperation with the Makerere University in Kampala, Uganda, was set up in order to facilitate exchange between German and Ugandan students on the particular topics. Accordingly, during the German students' 10-day stay in Uganda, a joint symposium took place at Makerere University and some students and employees from Makerere University accompanied the research group during their stay in the rural areas. As part of the final book publication, young researchers from Germany and Uganda will contribute to finding a common answer to the research question and thus integrating their diverse perspectives into a common result.

Another dimension of transcultural exchange was offered in a joint symposium uniting both transcultural research groups. At this symposium, both groups – on Hong Kong and Uganda – presented their findings, shared their experiences, and discussed the format and potential of such research groups with an audience of professors and practitioners from various disciplines.

Based on these experiences, and following the 2018 Transcultural Leadership Summit on Brazil, another Transcultural Research Group is being developed to address the topic of "Relational Leadership – Case Studies from Brazil". For this purpose, a network of diverse cooperation partners is being set up, which plans to cooperate with various universities in Sao Paulo, Rio de Janeiro and Porto Alegre as well as with representatives from business and NGOs whose projects serve as case studies. Again, the idea is that transculturality shapes both the journey and the destination of this research endeavour.

# 5. Transculturality as a method

Based on these two examples – the Transcultural Leadership Summit and the Transcultural Student Research Groups – these elaborations aim to clarify the approach and to not only process transculturality in terms of content, but also to understand it as a method with which traditional teaching and research concepts can be further developed. Such a transcultural research approach, using the formats described, aims to make a contribution to appropriately describing global relationships and phenomena in the economy, politics and culture. The increasing complexity and relevance of these in times of global interconnectedness, value creation and urbanization, and the fact that, for globally active organizations, sustainable success depends particularly on the ability to recognize and develop transcultural cooperation opportunities, seems to support the importance of this agenda.

## 6. Triad of teaching, research and networking

The projects mentioned above form a triad of teaching, research and networking. On the one hand, current research results from the projects are incorporated into the teaching of LEIZ lecturers, and, on the other hand, the work of the students participating in the projects is always supported by curricular courses, meaning that they receive the theoretical foundations to be able to realize their research and project work. In the research itself, a strong focus is placed on interdisciplinary and transcultural cooperation, since, according to the underlying view, transcultural phenomena can only be grasped from a transcultural perspective. The networking of global partners from business, civil society organizations and academia with students and staff plays an equally important role. By means of this triad, LEIZ strives to continue to develop and establish itself as a dynamic ambassador of interdisciplinary and globally-oriented research. The concept of Global Studies Projects, which seeks to be understood as a further development of a traditional internationalization strategy, is based on the idea of focusing and promoting not only academic achievement, but also interdisciplinary student research projects and globally oriented teaching formats. In addition to the internationalization of the curriculum itself. there is also a broader internationalization in terms of opportunities and reach of student research and project work. Correspondingly, the students are always involved and not only have the opportunity to learn and develop theories and assumptions on globally relevant issues, but also to apply them practically and to reflect on them. Transculturality always lies at the heart of this endeavour – be it as a research question or as a method. The Transcultural Caravan and its projects want to offer such a vision of a university as a truly global arena. Like-minded researchers and practitioners from all over the world are cordially invited to join this learning journey.

The concept of Transcultural Leadership is gaining increasing attention among academics and in practice. In the context of the complex economical and societal developments that we face in today's world, managing the relationing of different perspectives and enabling the required learning processes calls for competencies that go beyond traditional leadership concepts. Effective transcultural leadership is about responding to the challenges that globalisation and global value creation bring – and about accessing the potentials of cross-cultural cooperation.

Against this backdrop, this volume presents the current state of research on the concept of Transcultural Leadership and the corresponding competence models. It combines innovative theoretical and conceptual approaches with topical empirical analyses, and thereby offers a sound foundation for reflections on what it means to be a successful leader in today's and tomorrow's globalising environments.